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PRAGMATIC = STABLE = INNOVATIVE

“Pragmatic, Stable, Innovative” are the philosophy for the sustainable development
of the Group in order to provide fruitful return for shareholders.

Pragmatic: The Group is operated under “seeking truth from facts, advancing with
the times, seeing pragmatic, planning prudently” principles;

Stable: We continue to invest in industrial sector, following the approach of
“accumulating small steps and gathering small streams”, in order to maintain
financial stability and persevere in moving forward;

Innovative: We constantly try out new ideas and applications by innovating and
improving techniques, products, services and processes in order to create new
value for customers.
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Corporate Information

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HMT11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

9th Floor

Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road
Tsuen Wan
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Hong Kong

WEBSITE
www.karrie.com
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YAM Chung Shing (Chairman)
Mr. HO Cheuk Ming

Dr. LAU Kin Wah

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. TANG Wing Fai

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council
Ordinance

8th Floor Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER
WINSTON & STRAWN
6th Floor

Henley Building

5 Queen's Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank
The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
China Construction Bank (Asia)
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4/F., North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor
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Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Key Information for Shareholders

TERRESR

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2023
Financial Year End
31 March 2023

Announcement of 2022/23 results
28 June 2023

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2022/23 Annual General Meeting
23 August 2023

2022/23 Annual General Meeting
30 August 2023

Last day to register for 2022/23
Final Dividends
4 September 2023

2022/23 Final Dividend expected
Payment Date
21 September 2023

SHARE CAPITAL
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Authorised (HK$) ETEGETT)
Issued (HK$) EETBT)

% 2%
As at
i

31 March 2023 30 June 2023
—E-= —E-=F
=A=+-—H NA=1H
400,000,000 400,000,000
202,145,920 202,145,920
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As at 31 March 2023
(Closing Price: HK$0.91)
HK$1,839,527,872

As at 30 June 2023
(Closing Price: HK$0.74)
HK$1,495,879,808

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
Main Board
1050

2,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of Karrie International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”):

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Lam Nok Wun, Isabella
Senior Corporate Communications Manager

Karrie International Holdings Limited
9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411-0913
Fax: (852) 2415-1608
Email: ir@karrie.com
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Corporate Calendar

TERAREH®

SEEFEBARNDARARFGBEA LMW BB & ER
sk 8] -

The group has received the “Best Technical Support Award” from the
New Product Introduction and Material Technology Department of
ZTE Corporation.

SEEFRELSLRERRRBALANE202D2BERREFEE IR
BFE+RRALBEE] UXBEEER=ABERDHETIRRE
i BABREMERAIREITR -
The group was honored with the “Outstanding Environmental
Enterprise” and “5-Year+ Environmental Pioneer” at the 2022 BOCHK
8R Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards. These accolades
August commend the group’s commitment to implementing environmental
measures in the Pearl River Delta region, contributing to the reduction
of environmental pollution in the area.

SEEESRER2EE R EeHRIF+ [EFH
REBEINESHEDRINKE  URGEEHEELERRES RIKR
[ o

The group has been recognized by the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority with the “Best All-round MPF Employer,” “Good
MPF Employer 5 Years+,” “Electronic Contribution Award,” and "MPF
Support Award.” These awards highlight the group’s dedication and
commitment to ensuring their employees' retirement security.”

SEEEAT NAECXBREREIABEARITHFEBEXERF
AETRERBEREAFIZNA  UARBEER N ES L MEH
B o

The group has been awarded the “10 Years+ Partner Employer
Award” and the “Retention of Existing Employees” Certificate
commendation by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business. These honors recognize the group’s commitment to
promoting social harmony and integration.

SEBARERBTAIXRESINNIRBELOANE —TE0BE
9R #] RRUIERRATABADIAE TRALKRSEEBAR

September g BEECEHEEAEABMALEERAGEE BT - AlE

FZHEgEE-

The group has once again been honored with the “Love Care

Award” from the Industry Cares Recognition Scheme organized by

the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Themed “Walk through the

pandemic with mutual inclusion and encouragement,” this recognition

applauds the group’s integration into the new normal, actively

incorporating the concept of corporate social responsibility into its

operational strategies and management measures, thereby creating

more social value.
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Corporate Calendar

TERAREHR

EEELNEERERD BIMR  URDEEUREERTEESR
B R IRE202209 2 #5 ©

The group has received a letter of appreciation from The Community
Chest, acknowledging our support for the Community Chest East Asia
Charity Golf Tournament 2022.
SEETAER SR EBEF ML REIRE] -

The group has been awarded the 23rd "Outstanding Corporate Caring
Awards” by the Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council.
SEEEEHCRBRERKAEEZEIRTAS BERBEE
EHHERTEMIELOER -

The group has once again been recognized for its contributions to
energy conservation, being awarded the “Energy Saving Certificate”
by the Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification.
SENNTEAFRNREGBTAHNESE@IRNE =T =EFEH
HRARFREOFI SR URRENEPENRARRRALERS
CPRIBRB)PEIDRAE -

Our 40th-anniversary special edition has been honored with the
“Gold Award for Annual Report Printing” at the 33rd Hong Kong Print
Awards, organized by the Graphic Arts Association of Hong Kong.

Furthermore, it also received the "9th China Print Awards”.
SEERBRER - F-EIZNELETSETR] AFE2HEA
MEtEtERR R FBERB2023]-

In the aftermath of the pandemic, the group has resumed its annual
“Tree Planting Day.” This year, we are participating in the “Hong Kong
Tree Planting Day 2023,” organized by Wofoo Social Enterprises.

ZEE A EE TR ISO14001F % -

The production base in Thailand has successfully completed the ISO
14001 audit.
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Financial Highlights
MBEME

Revenue HK$ million Profit attributable to equity shareholders HK$ million
BWABEET ERFEARGENERET
4,013 3,861 o
3,473 -
77
2651 0% R ‘ “
. 279 386
226
3,075 - -
i B 5 | l I
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
- Continuing operations
FRIEERY
. Discontinued operations
BEILEERE
Basic earnings per share HK cents Dividends per share HK cents
BREAEF AL BRI B
272 11.5
23 9.0 -
19.1 8.0
55
12.
: I6 I I
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
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Financial Highlights

Turnover percentage by Business Turnover percentage by Geographical Location
REBEINEEETDE (based on the country in which the final

Continuing operations

1 Metal and Plastic Business
he¥ERBER

destination of shipment is located or services are
provided)

REREBEINEXETS R
(BRESRNEENEIBBREFTEERD &)

Electronics Manufacturing Services Business

EFHEERTER M japan Hong Kong Mainland China
Discontinued operations AR BB RE P
BRIEEEY Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China)

. Real Estate Business TN (PRIBEAR - BB RFEAH)
FHERY ¥ North America [ Western Europe
JEEM e
- 23%
2023 2022 2023  39% 2022  44%
20/0 30/0
30%
29%
6% 5%
2023 2022¢ % Changes

“B-ZFE -—Z--%: BPELH
HKS million BEETT
Continuing operations RELEER
Revenue WA 3,082 3,075 -
Gross profit 7 337 438 -23%
Operating profit BeRA 21 303 -30%
Profit for the year from continuing operations ~ RE & & %75 2 F 2 & 7l 182 254 -28%
Profit for the year from discontinued operations KB 2 & |F & ¥ 2 F 2 & 204 295 -31%
Profit attributable to equity shareholders BasBAREEHN 386 549 -30%
Total assets BEBE 2,551 5,066 -50%
Shareholders’ equity e £a 937 1,697 -45%
In Million aER
Number of Shares EnE ¢! 2,021 2,021 -
Per Share Data BRER
HK cents BN
Basic earnings ERM 19.1 27.2 -30%
Diluted earnings BERan 19.1 27.2 -30%
Total cash dividends per Share FRERSHRE 5.5 9.5 -42%
Net asset value per Share BREEFE 46 84 -45%
Financial Ratios Bt
Gross profit margin (%)* 2 IR E M (%)* 10.9 14.2 -23%
Net profit margin (%)* 8 B4 1| (%)* 5.9 8.3 229%
Current ratio mE 1.0 13 -23%
Quick ratio R X 0.6 1.0 -40%
Net gearing ratio (%) FEBELE %) 54 18 +200%
Interest coverage* RS 9.3 409 77%
Dividend payout (%)" K B 5L R (%) 28.8 349 17%
Revenue to net bank borrowings* WA BORRATIE B b 6.3 1.1 -43%
Non-current assets to total equity (%) ERBEERERBENLE (%) 123.0 77.2 +59%
‘ Restated * Include continuing operations only " Not include final dividend proposed from KRP
4 2 &7 * REEREBEREED , TEEZARERRERPKRE
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Financial Highlights

DEFINITIONS

Basic earnings
per Share

Diluted earnings
per Share

Net asset value
per Share

Gross profit
margin (%)

Net profit
margin (%)

Current ratio

Quick ratio

Net gearing
ratio (%)

Interest coverage

Dividend
payout (%)

Revenue to net
bank borrowings

Non-current assets
to total equity (%)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Weighted average number of Shares

Profit attributable to equity shareholders

Diluted weighted average number of Shares

Net assets

Number of Shares as at year end

Gross profit from continuing operations

Revenue from continuing operations

Profit for the year from continuing operations

Revenue from continuing operations

Current assets

Current liabilities

Current assets less inventories

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings and leased liabilities less cash and bank
deposits, restricted deposits and pledged deposits

Total equity

Earnings before interest expenses, tax, depreciation
and amortisation from continuing operations

Interest expenses from continuing operations

Dividend per Share

Earnings per Share

Revenue from continuing operations

Bank borrowings less cash and bank deposits,
restricted deposits and pledged deposits

Non-current assets

Total equity

x 100%

x 100%

x 100%

E &
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Far
==
o
o
S
B
=

BREERE

BHREM%)

BIRAN )

AP

P x

FEE
&%

TRB % %)

WARFRT
EELE

ERBPLEE
ERBELE%)

10 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B = IR B R 2 7

BERAARELN

BEBAARGEN

mEFIBRE

BEMETIRE

EERE

REFBEALEEHLEN

FERE

REREREEH U

REFELLER L EREN

REBEALEHIIMA

RYEE

RBRE

RYEERFE

7%

7

m

E
o
mn

RYEE

N

BREREERERRSRE
RBHERRERER

REBELEEHLAKHE
Xt BB ERERAER

ERAE

REFERLEH MM

j

Har
==
=5
S

REFELLEB U

g

Bk

A

BOEEHAL RETER
REHERRERER

FRPEE

BRAE

x 100%

x 100%

x 100%



For the year ended 31 March 2023,

the Group was

principally engaged in:

M

Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”):
mechanical engineering solutions,
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including

providing
manufacturing

moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.;

Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.; and

Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential real
estate project investment and development. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Real Estate
business segment was disposed of and successfully
applied separate listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. The results of this segment have been
classified as discontinued operations of the Group.

Business Review
I.  Results
(@) Following the spin-off and separate listing of

real estate business on the Stock Exchange
during the year ended 31 March 2023,
the financial results under this business
review does not include those of real estate
business.

B

2T -_=F=ZHA=1+—HIt K&

BEXTENE:

(

ReEEEH(ELBB) 24
BWIRERTR BiERHE
CBEBRHE TBRFEEN
RAAREEEZEA AR
BEMERS:

BRg

TFEERTEK(BIRI)
BN EUS KBRS
WoR R G AT R

F: R

FHERS: EWME - EEFM
EBERRENEBER NBE_T
“=F=R=t—RHILFE Bt

EXERI>TIHREELHKINERE
BT EIREABE Y FT o 505

ZEBESEAAEE ORI
mEET -

—) EBEE

. ¥&75 MW
@ BE-_ZT-_=F=AH
=t+—HIFE  BHE
E NN
FrEmig - REFE 2 ¥
BOELTBIERMSE

BZRE -
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(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the
revenue of the Group from continuing
operations was HK$3,081,697,000, staying
flat compared to the corresponding period
last year (for the year ended 31 March 2022:
HK$3,075,013,000). Profit attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to HK$182,318,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2022: HK$254,273,000),
which decreased by approximately 28%
compared to the corresponding period last
year. Against the backdrop of sluggish global
economy and due to the adverse factors
such as rising raw material prices, rising
interest rates, inflation hike and dampen
consumption, even with strict control over
operating expenses, it was still difficult to
offset the increase in costs, resulting in a
decline in both the Group’s gross profit and
profit.

The revenue of M&P for the year ended
31 March 2023 was HK$1,918,774,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2022:
HK$1,920,032,000). The revenue of M&P
was generally stable this year.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

(b)

HE-_T_-_=%=AH
=t+—HLEFE  K&KEH
FECEEB Z2BAR
3,081,697,0005% 7t (8 &
— - _F=ZA=+—
HIFFE :3,075,013,000
BT BREFREFEF -
MARBIE=FEARE
i & F &182,318,000
BrEz—_ZT - -

—A=+—HLEHFE:
254,273,000 JT) & %
FRIR AT H28% » H
HEHRLEEIASER R
BHEE EFR ~ FIEEFH
BIRABMBEEELRRK
BER=ZHR - AF &
BiEHEE L D#
VAR S5 A AR £ R 1R R
T EEEEMN Ks N K
Eﬁd o

heZBREBE-_T_=
F=ZA=+—HILFE
2 W A %1,918,774,000
BrHnEzE—_ZT ==
—A=Z+t—HLEFE:
1,920,032,0007 7T) - &
TBEBEBWARKE
ERBFERNEBERE -

Vs



The revenue of EMS for the year ended 31
March 2023 increased by approximately
1% to HK$1,162,923,000 when compared
with the corresponding period last year
(for the year ended 31 March 2022:
HK$1,154,981,000). The revenue of EMS
was fairly stable this year.

In year 2022/23, the Group faced a very
challenging external environment. Stringent
epidemic prevention and control measures
hindered the flow of people, cross-regional
logistics and transportation and international
shipping, which increased transportation
and logistics costs and impacted the global
industrial supply chains. On the other
hand, the Russo-Ukrainian War exacerbated
inflation, and energy and commodity prices
fluctuated significantly during the vyear,
making us inevitably face rising raw material
and electricity costs, further compressing
our profit margins. In addition, the persistent
trade disputes between the United States
and China affected the export performance
of China. These factors put pressure to the
slow economic recovery.

In particular, since the second half of the
fiscal year, the consumption patterns and
investments of customers have tended to be
conservative. In addition, the epidemic has
prolonged the operating system replacement
cycle of server customers, resulting in a
slowdown in sales as the year reached the
end of the replacement cycle. However, in
spite of such severe challenges, the Group
remained proactive in the past year, striving
to resolve various difficulties, maintaining
our core competencies and minimizing
external impacts.

BEFRINEBE-ZT==
F=ZA=+—HLFE
ZWAREFRE EFA
T #91% %21,162,923,000
BLnEHE_ZT - =

—AZ+t—HLEFE:
1,154,981,000 JT) &
FRIEBRARKSF
ERBEHMEFRE -

—E-- /C=FEE &
| T ¥ 75w Bk 8% A9 0 3D
IRIE o BRIE AR B I
HEEMAR - BE@Y
TIE R M BIRR A E 2
1N E & AKA  H
EHREXHEEBRY
.3 —FmE: K5
FHEREREERE  BE
BRAREmERER
ANIERE - FKMEE
e R RMEAME D
B AN HY) BT 2 R A
HE—BWEBE B
PEZEZUHNFHEY
EhEEOKRE - HER
EHEBEEHEEER
B IIRE S o

BRI RN R EFRE
BimE PH BB R K
EBmARsT  MEER
e R R R P ERIE
ABEERBFE  BEHA
FEEARRERZ &
HERE A - N
1# B R BRIk B PEEL
EEEBEN—FHN
%%f%ﬁ%f@ﬁgﬂ'ﬁ(ﬂ
R BN - BFix
DEFE  GINEDREE
EHIE -
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The Group is committed to implementing
lean production and continuously utilizing
intelligent production technologies. At
present, we have successfully utilized more
than 900 robotic arms to collaborate in
various production processes. Meanwhile,
we also have nearly 70 patents registered
for automation. With the gradual adoption
of many innovative processes, our intelligent
production is constantly improving,
which has resulted in more efficient
production, cost reduction and quality
improvement, further enhancing the Group's
competitiveness.

Our Dongguan production base, the B6
“Craftsmanship Building” built under the
concept of environmental protection,
gradually began operation. It will become
the main multi-purpose production
complex of the Company. Equipped with
heavy-duty facilities, assembly workshops,
central warehouses and office buildings,
it will provide a sound foundation for
the diversified development needs of the
Group.

(f)

(8)

AEBBNEERSE
ETHERBSEEE
Ko BRI ®&PIE R
900% A # B £ & @
EERBMETHIE R
B R #EAE70ER
BtEFAEMED -
BEERMELSHAZE
Bl T8 BELLEE
H=mxE e  ZAPIMEE
BeEBESH - BEHE
BERAFREARE  #
— SRR EENRF
BEh o

MREEEEREM - N
REBMSHEZNB6I LK
REIBEERAER -
REHEXAEETE
WirEEERNE KB
BREME - HEER -
FRBERPAKNES
RETENEERE
RREEZTIENERT
SKITFNEREER o
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Newly built “Craftsmanship Building” gradually began operation
MENIEARBEEBRARA
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In October 2022, the Company completed
the exercise of warrants to increase its
shareholdings in T. Krungthai Industries
Public Company Ltd. (“TKT”), a listed
company in Thailand, to 38.99%. Through
TKT’s extensive business network and
resources in Thailand, the Group is able to
accelerate its entry into the automotive parts
market. At the same time, the Group has
enhanced TKT’s production management
capabilities through its own rich automation
experience to strengthen the synergy of the
Group’s production base in Thailand and
to seek new development opportunities.
In addition, to further optimize the
allocation of global production capacity,
the Group has established its first overseas
production plant at Amata City Chonburi
Industrial Estate in Thailand. The plant has
completed the transportation and equipment
installation as planned and is equipped
with automated robots. It is expected
to commence production in the second
half of 2023. The Group believes that
this production base will provide greater
flexibility for the Group to meet customers’
production needs and help capture potential
customer collaboration opportunities.

R—ZT-__FF+AR
N A TE K 1T 8 R A R
BRERE LT AA
T. Krungthai Industries
Public Company Ltd.
(ITKTH ®W K& # =
38.99% ° B BTKT X %+
BHEEmXfmikE
IR AN 5 B RE 50 0 R
ANREZHHETS o [
R AEEBEBESEE
BB - RITTKT
WEEEERD B
AEBEEFHRLEERM
B 15 [B) 24 FE - 3 = KT
EERESE - U BT
E—-—FLEBIERRERR
B AEBAERENIEE
& 2T % E (Amata
City Chonburi Industrial
Estate)a% 32 7 & & & 9N &
ERE - BEDIRE
TREBMBHELTE
TEhEBHCESE A
BT =FF¥FE
BIRE - AEEMEZ
HEipeeWEESEE LW
REPHEERT K £
BEREEEPNAIFE

o= o
=]

Thailand factory has been officially launched

ZEREC E A
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In order to coordinate with the long-term
development of the Group, all departments
have adopted the model of “full utilization
of talents” in recruitment, selection
and employment to strengthen talent
development and achieve higher efficiency
and effectiveness. Meanwhile, we optimize
the performance management system and
enhance the management of the functions
of each employee, continuously improve
their work performance, and assess the
talents needed by the Group. In addition,
the Group also strengthens training so
that employees can better understand the
Group’s development strategy, corporate
culture and organizational model, and can
learn and develop continuously, give full
play to their strengths, thereby enriching the
quality of the Group's talent pool.

Faced with the challenges of increasing
inventory, operating costs and financial
costs, the Group endeavoured to improve its
internal management system. In addition to
cost control, the Group also strengthened its
supply chain management, strived to reduce
inventory, optimize production and cycle
procurement, and maintained good cash
flow for long to maintain a healthy financial
level and improve risk resilience.

On 23 March 2023, the Group successfully
spun off KRP Development Holdings Limited
for separate listing on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange (the “Spin-off”). The
successful Spin-off will help enhance the
overall operational and financial capabilities
of the business, further strengthen the
Group’s cooperative relationship with
existing customers, and enable the Group
to concentrate resources on strengthening
the core business of the industry and
expand and diversify its industrial business
direction.
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Conclusion

Under the multiple pressures of ongoing international
disputes, global inflation, supply chain bottlenecks,
economic headwinds, cooling consumer demand and
Sino-US trade frictions, the Group has taken proactive
measures to address the challenges ahead with flexibility
and prudence.

With our production plant in Thailand gradually entering
the operational phase, our multi-purpose production
complex in Mainland China, the Craftsmanship Building,
entering the advanced stage of investment, and the active
development of new products and customers on the way,
we must adopt an operating philosophy of “Pragmatic,
Stable, Innovative” to ensure the Group’s continued
prosperity.

We are committed to automating production,
efficiency to reduce costs, while maintaining the delivery

improving

of quality services and products. We continue to strengthen
our investment portfolios, consolidate existing customer
relationships, and explore new partners to increase our
market share, all of which are the concrete realization of
our philosophy of “seeking truth from facts, advancing with
the times, being pragmatic, planning prudently” in order to
provide maximum benefits to shareholders.

We will continue to invest in the industrial sector at a
steady and determined pace, and firmly believe that
“accumulating small steps”
addition, we will keep financing channels smooth and

will lead us forward. In

maintain financial stability. In this volatile and fluctuating
business environment, we will demonstrate rock-solid
stability and be able to seize market opportunities using
both offensive and defensive strategies.
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For us, innovation is the search for new ideas or

technological novelties, improvements and innovations,
which are essential elements for sustainable business
development.
applications by innovating and developing techniques,
products, services and processes, which in turn enhance

our production efficiency, increase product differentiation,

We constantly try out new ideas and

with a view to improving the competitiveness of our
products and services, meeting market demand and
creating new values for customers. At the same time,
we can better understand and fulfill the needs of our

customers.

(I Dividend Policy
In the results announcement for the first quarter of
year 2006/07, the Board announced the adoption of
a new dividend policy, which outlines the factors
that should be taken into account in determining
the amount of dividend for distribution,
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company, cash flow and investment budgets. After
careful consideration of the aforementioned factors,

such as

and for the purpose of maintaining the track record
of consecutive annual payment of dividends since the
listing, the Board has recommended the payment of
a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share to all the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 6 September 2023.

(1) Geographical Distribution
The Group has adopted a diversified approach
in product delivery and does not rely on one
single market. Details of the Group’s geographical
distribution are set out in the paragraph headed
“Segment Reporting” in Note 5 to this annual report.
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(V) Prospects

Despite the multiple external factors this year that
have put certain pressure on our profits, we believe
that this is only a short-term adjustment response.
With the interest rate hike cycle coming to an end
and the easing of inflation pressure, combined with
the Group’s stringent internal cost control, we expect
to be able to effectively reduce operating costs and
expect profits to gradually recover.

In terms of the server industry, servers have long been
in line with the development of internet big data and
artificial intelligence (“Al”). In addition, as 2023 is
regarded as the breakout year for generative Al, we
expect that the increase in related investment in Al
models and generative tools will drive the demand for
servers. To this end, the Group will also actively seek
related server orders. As the Group’s server customers
enter the upgrade cycle of new operating system in
the second half of 2023, this will bring stable income
for the 2023/24 financial year and the following years.

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve our
internal production cost efficiency, diversify our
production bases and products, enhance our business
in Mainland China and Southeast Asia, consolidate
our existing customer relationships and actively
develop new customers to increase our market share.

(1) We will continue to strengthen the
implementation of value engineering analysis
to improve operational efficiency, continue
to streamline production processes, including
enhancing automation capabilities for assembly
and new products, optimizing mould techniques,
deepening thermal engineering solutions, and
improving manufacturing execution systems
(“MES”) to improve production efficiency and
product quality.
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The operation of the production base in Thailand
gradually completes the Group’s presence in
Southeast Asia. With the strategic adjustment and
optimization of our business development teams
in Mainland China and Taiwan, we will be able
to effectively expand the Group’s customer base,
cover more world-renowned brands and provide
more comprehensive services. In terms of
product development, we are actively exploring
fields such as automotive parts, electric vehicle
charging equipment, Al data centres, medical
peripheral products, and personal consumption
and care products, with a view to further
enriching our product line and increasing the

profit margins of our products.

The Thailand plant has successfully completed
the installation of automated machines and is
fully operational with professional technical staff.
With the recognition of our production layout by
customers, some products have been scheduled
to start production in July 2023 and are expected
to be shipped in September 2023; and visits to
the Thailand plant have been gradually arranged
for other customers. Combined with our synergy
with TKT, the Group is expected to be able to
meet the needs of our existing customers in a
flexible manner, while providing us with more
support in developing new customers.

The construction of the comprehensive
production complex in the Mainland China has
been completed and the production departments
will move in gradually. We expect this to lead
to a higher degree of vertical integration. In
addition, all warehouses will be centralized in
the new building, thereby speeding up the flow
of goods and reducing our reliance on leased
warehouses, further reducing our rental expenses
and making operations more cost-effective.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ERER 2 7

ZEAEEMBTANEE &
%lﬁ%ﬁﬁm%%L/E
o fit & B M E B A i
ﬁ%%?ﬁ%l%Lﬁ%
A BEE e EMIEXR
SENEFPEE BEEZ
EHMEmE TREER
ZEERS  EmFAZELIAE - ﬁ(
MESRABLIETEHE -

Eﬂi}fea S Al%ﬂfﬁqﬂ/w
BEREEMUARBAAHBE

HEREMTRE - LWEE
EE-—FSEEEMR ]S
R B R

FZEMEC T BB L2
2K BXRMABERES
EREmE Loﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BFEERBORA - BOE
maﬁﬂﬁf7f_¢tﬂﬁ
WMAEE BFAR-_T-_=FAN
ALE: RFEEEZHTR
BEPIZEMELEESRE -
%é%ﬁﬁﬂqmmﬂﬂﬁ
BHEBEAEEN R
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁi [7] 5 /3 7
BHEPRRHESZE -

AR A EERENEZRD
MEBSERK - B £ E BT Z
FE A HAMIAEE K e K
FRRENEEES ° 1IN
FIEMRBSEREHRARE - 1t
(DB /Wb =R B2 B\

HEENKE £—-FRE
Mt HBE2EFE AKX
ZANp Gl



Maintaining a prudent and cautious strategy is
a core principle of our Group’s development.
We are fully committed to maintaining a healthy
financial position, accelerating return on capital
investments and maintaining adequate cash
flow. By the end of 2022, we have successfully
improved the problem of increased inventories
caused by the epidemic and logistics issues and
restored it to a healthy level.

Quality control is the key to fulfil customers’
needs. We will continue to enhance the
capabilities of our engineering team and refine
our quality control process, in order to maintain
and improve the high quality of products and

customer satisfaction.

We will establish a talent pool and provide
specialized training for talents so that they can
develop flexibly and provide quality ground for
the sustainable development of the Group.

We will implement localization of spare parts
to obtain parts of equal quality at a lower price,
reduce inventory and transportation costs, and
increase production efficiency.

Regardless of the plants in the Mainland China
and Thailand or the R&D centre in Taiwan, it
is necessary to enhance R&D to upgrade new
technologies and techniques in order to maintain
the competitiveness of the Group and achieve a
win-win situation with customers.

Adhering to the philosophy of “Pragmatic, Stable,

Innovative”
impossible”,

and the concept of “nothing is
the Group has been operating in a way

of maintaining profits and paying dividends for years.

By observing these principles and keeping foregoing

ahead, we will be able to overcome challenges,

embrace future opportunities and achieve greater

success.
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Chairman’s Statement

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Borrowings

Following the spin-off and separate listing of Real Estate
Business, net interest-bearing borrowings* as at 31 March
2023 were approximately HK$502,664,000 and the net
interest-bearing borrowings ratio (being the proportion
of total net interest-bearing borrowings over total equity)
was 54% (as at 31 March 2022: net interest-bearing
borrowings were approximately HK$297,712,000 and net
interest-bearing borrowings ratio was 18%). The effective
interest rates of the Group’s bank borrowings at the balance
sheet date are ranged from HIBOR+1.15% to HIBOR+2.3%.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company and the Group’s
subsidiaries provide cross guarantee for certain banking
facilities and borrowings (as at 31 March 2022: property
under development, equity interests of certain group
companies, and/or guaranteed by the Group). The financial

position of the Group remains healthy.

‘ Net interest-bearing borrowings represents bank borrowings
and lease liabilities less cash and bank deposits, restricted
deposits and pledged deposits.

Non-current Assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio

The non-current assets to total equity ratio as at 31 March
2023 maintained at the healthy level of 123% (as at 31
March 2022: 77%), which represents most of the Group’s
non-current assets, such as plant and machineries are using
its stable total equity as a support.

Capital Expenditure (“CAPEX”)

The initial estimate of the CAPEX budget for the financial
year 2023/24 is approximately HK$139,889,000. The
CAPEX was mainly used for construction of factory,
acquiring machinery and equipment and computer system.
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Resources Available

Currently, the total interest-bearing bank borrowings
are approximately HK$652,372,000. The Group is
confident that with the cash in hand and bank deposits of
approximately HK$159,445,000 and the unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$662,250,000,
to meet its current operational and capital expenditure

it is able

requirements and to make strategic investments when
opportunities arise.

Exchange Rate Exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in HKD, USD and RMB. Foreign currency
risk arises from commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s
functional currency, which in turn exerts pressure on
the Group’s production cost. To mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuation of RMB on its business, the
Group will actively communicate with its customers in
order to adjust the selling prices of its products and may
use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against
foreign currency risk (if and when necessary).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2023,
contingent liabilities.

the Group had no significant

We are glad that the “tea-break with investors (institutional
or individual)” has been successfully held for many years.
The Group adheres to the principles of “openness, fairness
and equality” and believes that all investors should have
the same right to get access to the Company’s information.
With these principles in mind and considering that the tea-
break remains to be an effective and efficient way for the
Company to communicate with its investors, the Company
will continue to organise tea-break with individual
investors. The next tea-break is scheduled on 12 August
2023 from 12:00 to 14:00 at Nina Hotel Chinese Restaurant
(Ru), 7/F., Nina Hotel Tsuen Wan West, 8 Yeung Uk Road,

Tsuen Wan.
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Interested investors are invited to visit the Company’s
website at www.karrie.com for more details. Application
will commence on 17 July 2023, application form can
be downloaded from the Company’s website or obtained
by calling 2411-0913 during office hours. Only investors
whose applications are confirmed can join the function.
Investors are encouraged to grasp this opportunity to
communicate directly with the management of the
Company.

The Group had approximately 3,600 employees on average
(an average of 3,700 employees in the corresponding
period last year) during the year. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group has rarely encountered
major difficulties in recruiting employees.

Employee remuneration packages are determined in
accordance with prevailing market standards and the
employee’s performance and experience. The Group
will also grant bonuses to employees with outstanding
performance based on its own audited business
performance and the appraisal and reward system.
Other employee benefits include medical insurance
and mandatory provident fund. Directors’ emoluments
are determined by the Board with reference to their
experience, performance and duties as well as the
prevailing market conditions.

In addition, to cope with domestic development in
Mainland China and the actual need for talent-retaining,
the Group establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage
and finance potential elites settled down locally in buying a
flat as a means to retain talents who may otherwise be lost
in the competitive labour market.

Performance Based Incentives

The Group adopted performance based bonus system
and objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will now receive more bonus
than before the new system was implemented. The
Group has also adopted a share option scheme as a share
incentive scheme to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions which the eligible participants have made
or will make to the Group or invested entity. Please refer
to the section headed "Share Option Scheme" for further
details.
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The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK1.5 cents per share (2021/22 final dividend: HK4.0 cents
per share), to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 6 September 2023.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per
share (2021/22 interim dividend: HK4.5 cents per share and
a special dividend of HK1.0 cent per share), total dividend
paid/payable for this year amounted to HK5.5 cents per
share (2021/22: HK9.5 cents per share). The final dividend
will be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) of the Company to be held on 30 August 2023.

The Company has established an audit committee
currently made up of one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose duties include
resolving issues in relation to audit such as reviewing and
supervising the Company’s financial reporting process and
internal control systems. The audit committee and the
management have reviewed the accounting principles and
major policies adopted by the Group and have discussed
the auditing, internal control and financial reporting in
the current year with the external auditors. The audit
committee has reviewed the consolidated annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

| would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

APPENDIX 1

7R SR BB E B B B SR R R B A i FU30% 31 A E A F IR B
All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per Share
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Dividend and Dividend Policy:

P B B BB BRER

An unbroken 27 years’ record of dividend payment
A EFUARIR B R B
The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend

Interim Final  Special
Interim Final ~ Subtotal ~ Special ~ Special  Subtotal Total Dividend Payout Ratio
R A 15
g R Mt BERE BEIRE RENG Bt BB kB E
(excluding)* (Including)*

(FBEEN)* (BEEAR):
1996/97 Nil & 5.40 5.40 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.40 24%  NATRER
1997/98 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 13% NATER
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 4.00 58%  N/ATiEF
1999/00 2.20 2.20 440 Nil & Nil & Nil & 440 77%  NAT@ER
2000/01 1.10 3.80 490 Nil & 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 5.90 10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10 30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00 19.00 Nil & 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 20.00 87%  NAT@ER
2004/05 8.50 12.50 21.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 21.00 58%  N/A RN
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil & 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 11.50 38%  NAREA
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil & Nil & Nil & 0.75 27%  NATER
2008/09 Nil & 1.50 1.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.50 39%  NAREA
2009/10 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 45%  N/AREFA
2010/11 Nil & 1.10 1.10 Nil & Nil & Nil & 110 N%  NATEMA
2011/12 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 38%  NAREA
2012/13 Nil & 1.20 1.20 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.20 61% NATER
2013/14 Nil & 1.00 1.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 1.00 58%  N/A RN
2014/15 0.50 1.80 2.30 Nil & 1.00 1.00 3.30 61% 87%
2015/16 0.75 2.75 3.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 3.50 59%  N/A RN
2016/17 1.30 4.20 5.50 Nil & 1.00 1.00 6.50 65% 77%
2017/18 1.60 475 6.35 2.55 Nil & 2.55 8.90 69% 97%
2018/19 3.00 5.00 8.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 8.00 72%  NAREA
2019/20 4.00 5.00 9.00 Nil & Nil & Nil & 9.00 71%  NATER
2020/21 4,00 7.00 11.00 0.50 Nil & 0.50 11.50 49% 52%
2021/22 4.50 4.00 8.50 1.00 Nil & 1.00 9.50 31% 35%
2022/23 4.00 1.50 5.50 Nil & Nil & Nil & 5.50 29% NATER
Remarks: * Excluding special dividend *Including special dividend
W * NEEERIKE B IR B BR B
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Chairman’s Statement

APPENDIX 2 8% —
Inventory & Debtor Turnover
FEREWREEY
No. of days —J— Inventory Turnover 17 &85 £
AE —l— Debtor Turnover [ 4 8 i & £

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

(No. of days) (A %) 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Inventory Turnover

5 & A & 5 56 55 81 56 99 78
Debtor Turnover
Jr& Uk B 4 2 5P 50 38 38 69 55 53

Inventory turnover = (Base on year end inventory value/Cost of revenue) x 365 days

FEREH=-(NFREEHEBAKAK) xX365H

Debtor turnover = (Base on year end Trade and bills receivable/Revenue) x 365 days

FEUREBEN=-AFRESREBRBUKIRR WA) x365H
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EERE

APPENDIX 3

B 82 =

Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin
BERENRAF

—— Gross Profit Margin 2 EF] (%)
—Jl— Net Profit Margin (2B 40 (%)

1718 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22% 22/23*
(%) 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23
Gross Profit Margin
EREN 14.5 16.6 18.2 27.2 14.2% 10.9*
Net Profit Margin
2 PR A A 7.5 8.4 8.6 12.8 8.3* 5.9%
HK$(million)
(B3 ET)
Revenue
A 2,920 2,651 2,902 3,473 3,075* 3,082*
Profit for the year
F 2T 182 221 250 445 549 386
* Include continuing operations only

O RBERELEERR
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APPENDIX 4

Industrial
Businesses
CAPEX
THEBET
BERE
HK$'000
FAET
300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000

50,000 "

0

Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

F #% 79

Industrial Businesses CAPEX
TEEBETEERE

Operating
profit for
Industrial
Businesses
TEE
"L m A
HK$'000
FHET
300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000

~~ 100,000

~* 50,000

0

18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24*

(HK$’000)
(F &) 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24*
Industrial Businesses
CAPEX 61,415 113,822 79,418 220,318 136,381 139,889
THEXBETEEKRE ’ ’ ’ ’ ’ ’

= N
Operating Profit for ot

P . . 208,065 242,947 302,993 310,256 210,785 applicable
Industrial Businesses i B
THEEBLE R
* Budget
* BE
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The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provision
(the “Code Provisions”) of the CG Code; save for the
deviation from Code Provisions B.2.2 and C.2.1 of the
CG Code. This report describes our Group’s corporate
governance practices and explains the said deviations from
the CG Code.

Code Provision B.2.2 of CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to one-third but not greater than one-
third shall retire from office provided that notwithstanding
anything in the Company’s Bye-laws, the Chairman
of the Directors and/or the Managing Director of the
Company shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject
to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and
would then be eligible for re-election. The Chairman and/
or the Managing Director of the Group will consider to
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years in line with Code Provision B.2.2
of the CG Code. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure good
corporate governance of the Company.

REREZBARABRR(TRR] #EzE M
RAGCEEBEEMBEN  ARFKEHM
BAR(AEE]) —HEAFRBTETR
BEChEER-

RBE-_ZT-_=F=A=+—HItFE
(REEDAN AEEECEBRIBEM
VTHREEB ARG BERARES
EmBATERRA DS Nz %
ERERTA(REERTIDRE
2 R B K 8 =F B A <7 A& SC([<F BI
XD(BRTREECZEE AT ZTFAE
MB.22KC215N) AR EEFHFMAE
Ezo¥ERER THELEER
FRIZRBIERARRERHRCEE AT
WITA o

EEFRTAZTAIRXB22RES
ZEZ(BREEEIHZES)EED
B=FmERE K-

REBEARR AR - EAREE—fER
REFREL =02 2ZEREEZ
ER(RMWMEABLF==2F&
A& ZBOEAZR=02—2HEB)A
WERE EARAEEFGEIER K
EERKEIN AR ATRERTIN
EEFTBEFRAEEFABBTEAETR
Ao goh > EREHERMEZEZE
FARESEMREINEBEANTRET
ERRBEFARERL  EREABEEE
E o R AEEEXFER REFLEL
BRE B -FERARERET  mA
BEEERTAZTRMENB.22 - H
- ARRIRBERNE MG - AR
RARNRRIFEEEAR -
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Moreover, Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company does not segregate the roles of its
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (“Mr. Ho") currently holds both positions.

Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has substantial
experience in the manufacturing industry, as well as in the
property development and cultural related business. At
the same time, Mr. Ho has the appropriate management
skills and business acumen that are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the Chief Executive Officer. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer in the same person would provide
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
the Group to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and executing business
plans. Hence, the Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer and both roles should continue to be performed
by Mr. Ho. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured by the operation of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with a sufficient number thereof independent
non-executive Directors.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

BEsh - REREIRSTRIZSFRMESC.2.158
EREDTFERTRERNAER - LT
EH—ARBRE ARALERD T
FETBEHNAE  (ME@EEE (R
S 4 1) B Al R AE 2% W E B AL

MEERREENBIMA  REEXR
FERXCEEAEXAREELR
R - AL ABEEITREHMEZ
BEEERDTDEREEBEE 2 RGN
EESHE B ARRETEZFET
BRENAEe /S NEBEREHBAR—
HHEE  YABAKEEAYLER
EWHREERHRELRBITEB
2 AHEZTERABARDEFENT
BBz AE  WHASEEREEETE
MEAG ZEREFEHAECRIEER
BEEEMOATHAK BEZSHRN
ABRBYFATES WESSMH
B BREFEEFBAEREN R
REHE DM -

ARRIGEB IR EER  LWEE
BKFZEEER
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1.

The Board of Directors

1.1

1.2

1.3

As at 31 March 2023, the Board consisted
of nine Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer),
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia, Mr. Zhao
Kai and Mr. Chan Raymond as executive
Directors; Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (Deputy
Chairman) and Mr. Ho Kai Man as non-
executive Directors and Mr. Fong Hoi Shing,
Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin Wah
as the independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has the collective responsibility
for the leadership and promotion of the
success of the Group’s business by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs.

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.
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The Board had met five times for the Year
and considered, reviewed and approved the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
March 2022, quarterly and interim results of
the Group for the Year.

The attendance records of Board meetings
and general meetings held during the Year
are set out below:

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fa] k2 38 5 A
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR & gk /)N 8
Mr. Zhao Kai el A
Mr. Chan Raymond RBEX KL
Non-executive Directors HHITESE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] &2 B 55 A4
Mr. Ho Kai Man fa] B XX 5& &
Independent BUHHITEE
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing WiNER i
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHEE
Dr. Lau Kin Wah ZREFH+

A list of Directors and their role and
function was posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

EFEERAFERNEE
TRARE®  YEZE -
ZERRILEEBREEC
TE-_—_F=ZA=+—HZ
EFEEBERREAFEZ
TERPHES -

NTRAEEESFE S
ERBERAENHFELRL

ﬁ\,\< B

Attendance of individual Directors

at Board meetings and general

meetings during the Year

FEEEEERRRAEER

BRESHELER

No. of board  No. of general

meetings meetings

attended/held  attended/held

Exg BRAE

HERE H R B

EE P8 P8

5/5 11

5/5 11

5/5 11

5/5 11

5/5 11

5/5 11

5/5 1/1

5/5 11

5/5 11

EXREREACKE

B T8 R AR A A] R B R

P uh -
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee, a
nomination committee and a remuneration
committee. Detailed descriptions of each
of these committees are set out below.
All of these committees adopt, as far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements of the Board in relation to
the scheduling and proceeding of meetings,
notice of meetings and inclusion of agenda
items, records and availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written
terms of reference setting out its duties,
responsibilities, powers and functions which
include the following:

e developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior
management;

e reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e developing reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report in its
Annual Report.
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2 Board Composition

2.1

2.2

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises
nine Directors: four executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive Director,
is the younger brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Mr. Ho Kai Man, a non-executive Director,
is the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company and the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming, a non-executive Director and deputy
chairman of the Company.

The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
production and quality control techniques,
supply chain management, industry
knowledge and marketing strategies. Details
of the experience and qualifications of
Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report.

3 Board Diversity
The Company has adopted a board diversity
policy, which sets out the purpose and

principles regarding board diversity for the
purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board

as for as practicable. Directors’ appointment

will be based on merit and candidates will

be considered against measurable objectives,

taking into account the Company’s business and
development.

2.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board
and was of the opinion that the Board is
well balanced and diversified, and with the
appropriate structure, size and necessary
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives required for the business of the
Group. The Board also reviewed and evaluated
the board diversity policy.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises at least 1 female Director. The Board
considers that the gender diversity in respect
of the Board is satisfactory and will continue to
maintain a diverse Board.

As at 31 March 2023, the ratio of women to men
in the workforce (excluding Directors) was 35:65.
For details of gender distribution, please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2023.

On 25 March 2019, the Board adopted a
separate Nomination Policy, which provides
the key selection criteria and principles of the
Board in making decisions in the appointment
and reappointment of directors and succession
planning of directors, to emphasise our
commitment on transparent nomination process.
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The Board comprises of nine members including
one female Director. The Company shall
continue to adopt measures encouraging gender
diversification in the Board. The Company shall
maintain at least one female Director within
three years. The Nomination Committee shall
review the situation of gender diversity from
time to time so as to reach the target of gender
diversity in the Board. In recognition of the
importance of gender diversity, the Company has
taken and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity in the Board so as to ensure
appropriate gender diversity is achieved.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of

Directors

4.1 At each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office
by rotation. The Directors, since their last
election or appointment who have the
longest in office, shall retire and be eligible
for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to the
Bye-laws of the Company, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group
shall not, when holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year. To comply
with Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the
AGM at least once every three years.

4.2 As at 31 March 2023, the independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a fixed
term not exceeding three years and Mr. Ho
Cheuk Ming and Mr. Ho Kai Man (non-
executive Directors) are appointed without
fixed terms. All non-executive Directors are
subject to the requirements of retirement by
rotation and re-election by Shareholders at
the AGM in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws.
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4.3 The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has put in force appropriate
insurance coverage on directors’ and officers’
liabilities arising from the group’s business.
The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the Company Secretary
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.
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For the Year, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional
development activities either by attending
training courses, seminars, conferences and
forums or by reading materials relevant to the
Group’s business and Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Each of them has provided a
record of training they received for the Year
to the Company. A directors’ training course
was held on 17 February 2023 concerning
Listing Rules Enforcement Briefing, Listing Rules
Enforcement Updates, Listed Issuer Regulatory
Communications and Related Cases. The
training each Director received for the Year is
summarized as below:

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai ] e 388 55 A
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia fR & k)N 8
Mr. Zhao Kai HEl kA
Mr. Chan Raymond PR 3% SR 4
Non-executive Directors HHITESE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] 2 B 5t 4
Mr. Ho Kai Man Al RS % A
Independent BUIHITESE
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7B A
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHSTE
Dr. Lau Kin Wah fEEF L
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The Chairman should be responsible for ensuring
that directors receive adequate, clear, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner.

The Chairman should:

e ensure that the board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of openness and debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer should be
responsible for managing the Group’s business
including the implementation of strategy and
initiatives with the support of executive Directors
and senior management and within those
authorities delegated by the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the number of independent non-executive
Directors of the Company represents no less than
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

If any re-election of an independent non-
executive director who has served the board for
more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.

Independent View Mechanism

The Company adopted the director’s nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”). The
nomination process of Directors, including
Independent Non-executive Directors, is
included in the Nomination Policy.

The Board should include at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors. At least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company has served less than 9 years
on the Board. At least one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The
Company must appoint Independent Non-
executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board. The Company shall appoint a
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive
Directors to meet the minimum number required
above within three months after failing to meet
the requirement(s).
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The Board committees should comprise
a majority of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at
the time of their appointments, and in a timely
manner for any changes, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.
The identity of the public companies or
organisations should also be disclosed.

When selecting Independent Non-executive
Directors, the candidates’ availability should
be considered as sitting on a Board involves a
significant time commitment. Independent Non-
executive Directors must dedicate time to reading
materials prior to Board meetings in order to
make the hours spent in meetings effective. They
also have to learn to understand the Company’s
complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The Nomination Committee should be aware of
the factors which may affect an individual’s time
commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors should have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary to ensure that
Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules
and regulations, are followed.

The Board was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the Independent view
Mechanism for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEE
1.  Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

1.1

1.2

The RC meets at least once a year. It is
chaired by Mr. Yam Chung Shing and
comprises two other members, namely Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming and Dr. Lau Kin Wah. All
RC members, with the exception of Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive Director),
are independent non-executive Directors.
The quorum necessary for the transaction
of business by the RC is two. The terms
of reference of RC shall be updated from
time to time to comply with the new
requirements set out in the CG Code
and were posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of RC are as
follows:

e to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

e to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

e to conform to any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable law;

e to determine the remuneration, terms
of service contract and incentive
scheme of the executive Directors and
the senior management; and

e to review and/or approve matters
relating to share scheme under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.
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1.3 The RC met once during the Year and
reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the
remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management staff. It also assessed the
performance of the Directors and evaluated
the remuneration policy. The attendance
record of the meeting of RC during the Year
is set out below:

1.3 FMZEEeRNAFER
BII—REGERE N
EREBESE A%
EOFHMBERESM
SREREBZEM T
THGEEEENRER
FEFHEE  FHE
BeRAFEEZ 2T
fE R8T

No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE,
EERY
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE
(Chairman of RC) (FTWZEE&F/E) 1/1
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] 5288 5% A4 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah B EE L 1/1
Remuneration of Directors and Senior EERSNEE ABEH

Management

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration
and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the Year is set out

B IE L8 BIFY 81678 T 1%
REHESEHeAEE&S
FMEB CE—HFBER
NERAE 256 WK
B 5E28 o

RIE DX E R 5T RIZ 57 A&
XE15 - REE - REFH AR
HovmBRERABTME

below: SN
Number of
persons
Remuneration bands (HK$) 4R B (BT A
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 1
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001% 2,000,000 2
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2. Audit Committee (“AC”)

2.1

2.2

The AC’s membership, with the exception
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive
Director), comprised the independent non-
executive Directors as at 31 March 2023:

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

(Chairman of AC)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
Mr. Yam Chung Shing
Dr. Lau Kin Wah

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.

The terms of reference had been adopted
for the operations of the AC. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee were
posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the
AC include:

e to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

e to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to resignation or
termination;

e to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

e to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control which involves
regular review in various corporate
structures and business process;
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to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

to discuss the risk management

and internal control systems
with management to ensure that
management has performed its duties

to have effective systems.

2.3 The AC met two times during the Year and

reviewed the interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 September
2022 and the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2022. The AC
had also reviewed the Group’s financial
reporting system, internal control system,
risk management system and associated
procedures to ensure their adequacy and
effectiveness. The Company Secretary of
the Company keeps all minutes of the AC.
The attendance record of the meeting of AC
during the Year is set out below:
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No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE
SENRHE

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 7Bt
(Chairman of AC) (FEZEET/E) 2/2
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fa] & B 5 A& 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEMEE 2/2
Dr. Lau Kin Wah FlpEmt 2/2
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3. Nomination Committee

3.1

3.2

The nomination committee was established
in January 2022, which comprises two
independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau
Kin Wah and one non-executive Director
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming. Mr. Yam Chung Shing,
the independent non-executive director was
appointed as the chairman of nomination
committee.

The duties of the nomination committee are
as follows:

e To review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

e To identify, and assess the suitability
and qualification of, candidates to
become Board members and select or
make recommendation to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

e To assess the independence of INEDs;
and

e To make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief
executive of the Company.
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3.3 The Board has adopted the nomination
policy, which set out the selection criteria
in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director. Such criteria include
but not limit to:

e Reputation and integrity;

e Accomplishment, experience and
reputation in the relevant industries/
sectors;

e Commitment in respect of sufficient
time, interest and attention to the
Company’s business;

e Diversity in all aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and
experience;

e The ability to assist and support
management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s
success;

e Compliance with the criteria of
independence as prescribed under
Rule 3.10A and 3.13 of the Listing Rules
for the appointment of an independent
non-executive director; and

e Any other relevant factors as may be

determined by the Board from time to
time.
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3.4

3.5
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The nomination procedures are as follows:

e The Chairman of the board shall
nominate suitable candidates to the
Board and therefore shall convene a
meeting, and invite Board members,
for consideration by the Board.
The Board members may also
nominate candidates for the Board’s
consideration.

e In the context of appointment of any
candidate to the Board, the Board shall
undertake adequate due diligence in
respect of such individual and make
approval.

e In the context of re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the
Board shall consider for the candidates
to stand for re-election at a general
meeting.

e Please refer to the “Procedures for
a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is
available on the Company’s website,
for procedures for Shareholders’
nomination of any proposed candidate
for election as a director.

e The Board shall have the final decision
on all matters relating to candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting.

The nomination committee will review the
board diversity policy of the Company, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and
discuss may revisions that may be required
and recommended any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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C.

50

3.6 The nomination committee meets at
least once a year. The quorum necessary
for the transaction of business by the
nomination committee is two. During the
Year, nomination committee met one time.
The attendance record of the meeting of
nomination committee during the year is set
out below:

336 BFEEL—RBHRREA
ZEg REBEZEER
BEBZEEABEM
A REE  RELZEE
BITT—REE - BERZ
BEeRAFEgHE W
fEEE &R UT -

No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE

BBRY™

Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHMEE 1/1
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming ] £ RS A& 1/1
Dr. Lau Kin Wah ZliEdt 11

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

C. EFETESFXS

1.1

1.2
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D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
1.  Financial Reporting

1.1

1.2

1.3

The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

The management provides explanation and
information to the Board as to enable the
Board to make informed assessments of the
financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual, interim
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.
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Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
system of internal controls and is committed
to managing business risks and maintaining
sound and effective internal control systems to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department
under the supervision of the Board and the
Audit Committee, has reviewed and reported
on the adequacy of effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of
the Group, covering financial, operational,
compliance and risk management control
functions annually. Based on the results of the
review, the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are still effective and adequate.

The Board adopted the risk management
policy and internal risk management audit
plan, including structure and system of risk
management of the Group. Internal Audit
Department together with the Audit Committee
will review the adequacy of the effectiveness of
the risk management at least once a year.

The Board’s annual review had considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group's objectives.
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The Internal Audit Department performs regular
audit reviews and report of the risk and key
controls of the Group to the Board and the
Audit Committee. The responsible Department
Heads will be notified of the control deficiencies
noted for rectification. For the Year, the
Internal Audit Department mainly conducted
operational management audit over process
of manufacturing, procurement management,
logistics management, import and export customs
activities, consumable material management as
well as project tendering and bidding, budgeting,
on-site certification, testing and acceptance
materials and equipments in real estate business
etc and other items with higher risk index. The
audit results have been presented to the senior
management, the Audit Committee and the
Board.

For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09 and
13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group
has taken various procedures and measures,
including arousing the awareness to preserve
confidentiality of inside information within the
Group, signing of confidentiality agreement,
sending blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions notifications to the Directors and
relevant employees regularly, disseminating
information to specified persons on a need-to-
know basis and observing the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012
stringently.
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3.

Risk Management 3. mEb
I.  Risk Management System —
The Company established an enterprise
risk management system for ensuring the
appropriate control and governance on
the principal risks that are exposed to the
Group, which includes:

e specifying the concept of risk
management, and determining the
scope of risk management.

e specifying the risk reporting process
and establishing risk governance
framework to identify and assess the
possible impact on the Group.

e establishing risk governance control
points for establishing relevant
countermeasures against the main
control matters involving risks.

e establishing monitoring plan in terms
of priority, conducting monitoring and
review twice a year.

e in face of Epidemic, the Group quickly
activated the emergency response
mechanism for the Epidemic, fully
utilized epidemic prevention resource
resources, worked not the Epidemic
emergency work plan, set up the
Epidemic prevention working group
and issued a series of administrative
measures including the “Administrative
Requirements on Epidemic Prevention
Discipline”. The Group adheres to
properly manage both prevention and
control of the Epidemic and regularly
operation and production.
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Risk Management Framework T EREEER

The Board is playing the role as an overseer, EEghEEENAE

and the Audit Committee is responsible for mEZZESREAR
risk governance, report the effectiveness of ER MEFEZERK
the risk system of the Group to the Board SENRRRSTHAE K
and the actual risk executor is the person t BERRBRRTER
in charge of each department. The Board EHMPABEA - EFEFIE
assigns the representative of Executive EeRERERNEED
Committee the responsibility of being in ez egxasg-
charge of implementing the risk measures. N5 E B EDE AT AT
The internal audit department of the Group BEgREREEE
will conduct an independent annual review At 8198 3 B R F H) R
on the risk management system of the RERRABIELEZ

Group according to the audit plan on risk THEFSRIMSE -

management, and submit the report to the

Board.

Risk Identification = EkE5

The Group identifies risk through a mixture AEBRBE EMIANE
of top-down and bottom-up approaches, Tifn E#R A 77 3K
thereby conducting analysis and appraisal AR R - e T AT R B
on risk, and identifying the source, type and DHEFE - LR E
index of risk. @ AR R B B2 2R Rl A&

it

For top-down approach, the representatives BEME  BEZEREK
of Executive Committee and Risk Rk EEMANESH
Management Department have to conduct FE S HE 1T L B 58 Al

risk identification through questionnaires.

For bottom-up approach, the person-in- BTmE - ABREaE AR
charge of the risk will collect the risks from EBBPT R B A 1T BRI
each department, complete the risk register R AT AR
under the assistance of risk executor, and THRREBERLZM  IRR
submit to risk management department or b E RN FHR S
report to respective management personnel. EEIREAE -
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IV. Risk Assessment

The risk is classified into two levels, namely
intrinsic risk and residual risk. The risk
assessment calculates the risk index on
these two levels according to the established
methods in respect of the possible impact
of each risk on the Group. It controls the
sum of all risk indices on residual risk
within the risk limit pre-set by the Group
through taking control action and mitigation
measures.

V. Risk Handling

The sum of risk indices shall at no time
exceed the cap of risk preference of the
Group. The control measures shall be
taken to conduct risk governance on
any risk with high risk index in a timely
manner. The governance aims at reducing
the possibility of occurrence or mitigating
the impact of risk (and may not be fully
eliminated). Each of the proposed risk
management/countermeasure is assigned
to a person in charge with an estimated
date of completion, so as to enable the
person-in-charge of risk to monitor the
process of management easier to ensure risk
countermeasures have come into force.

4. Auditors’ remuneration
During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor HK$3,600,000 for
audit services of the Group and for non-audit
related services approximately HK$428,000,
representing mainly taxation services and other
non-audit service fees.
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey to Shareholders
pertinent information in a clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis and to take into
consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views
are communicated to the Board comprehensively.

The Company adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy and will review it on
a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders
through the publication of annual reports, interim
reports, circulars, results announcements and
releases. All communications to Shareholders
are also available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.

We had provided sufficient notice for Shareholders
at all general meetings. The AGM provides a useful
platform for Shareholders to exchange views with
the Board. The Chairman of the Board and the
Board members will make an effort to attend to
answer Shareholders’ questions. External auditor
is also available at the annual general meeting to
address shareholders’ queries about the conduct of
the audit.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.
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F.

58

All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to bye-law 66 of the
Bye-laws.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed period stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company.

Communication of media, analysts and
investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and both institutional and
individual investors after the release of the
interim and final results by way of presentation,
luncheons, meetings or telephone conferences
etc. according to circumstances from time to
time in order to share the performances of the
Group during the Relevant period results and
to report the new development and strategy
of the Group’s business. There is also ample
opportunity for all parties to ask questions and to
communicate with each other. Furthermore, the
Group shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have
received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.

BERA & ERRRMBBAR
RRNET - REAF ML
Foolkr KX FEEREIE
KERBFAEG LHREE
HREFAKRR -

FF REEBRE

1.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

REQNM
EEEFAMEREEZAN
BB DEIREEEORR
SR EE A -

AREBED R LR E D
HEARREFELPH®RE
WHETFEERRER - FTAE
EWN IS ES = S N/NCTE
ub N Bk R P Uk o RR AN
REESPL AR B 2 M -
ARREEREERHERHE
HEERE -

HER 2WERREEZX
2=

Al

AEEFNRERBENE - EH
RPN 2 FEAEEMRE
FER o8 R EFE A
REEZETBE TKEZS
MUEHRE FTES 2=
KEFERFHEA DFEEE
REBBEZXERER &
BEBEBNRAER LR
B Wik e e T& R
ETIREMBE - 1IN &
EEERLERRRERE -
AREBLNFEENERIE -



Corporate Governance Report

Tea-Break with individual investors

Since the first quarter of 2004/05, the Group
has been arranging tea-break with individual
investors from time to time to build up an
interactive and direct communication channel.
This allows individual investors talking to the
management of the Group. Meanwhile, the
Group would give an update about the status
of the Group’s development and share of their
feelings toward the Group. The next tea-break
will be held on 12 August 2023. Interested
investors are invited to visit the Company's
website at www.karrie.com for more details.

Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public are welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy and its effectiveness for
the year ended 31 March 2023. The Company
has provided appropriate communication
channels to the Shareholders in accordance
with the Shareholders Communication Policy
and therefore the existing Shareholders
Communication Policy in appropriate to the
Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the requisition.

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.
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3. Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at the shareholders” meeting
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or not less than 100
shareholders may make requisition in writing to
the head office and principal place of business of
the Company:

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at our head office and principal place
of business or email to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs and assists the Board in functionary
effectively. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. During
the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
has amended the bye-laws, the details of which are
set out in the announcement dated 14 July 2022
and the circular dated 25 July 2022 of the Company.
The Shareholders have approved the amendments
to the Bye-laws at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 26 August 2022. The latest version
of the Company's Bye-laws is available for inspection
on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 77, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho had experience in factory management for
several decades and in running operations specialised in
manufacturing plastic, metal and electronic products. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategies and
objectives. He is also a director of New Sense Enterprises
Limited and Honford Investments Limited, a corporate
substantial shareholder of the Company, and the brother of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman, the husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is a
member of management team and the uncle of Mr. Ho Kai
Man, a non-executive Director of the Company.

BEX

HITES

AEBEE t+t+tm R—AR
FTRAEZERAQRFNEST T RA
NEERFRTHAE RAREE KB
A BRITBAEEETHERARAIZE
FoR—NANEFRIAERR - K
BEBTEIREEREZE 2B H
EFEmBEELR RASEEE
BEEXEBRAR - BRR/ARFEE
A B # New Sense Enterprises Limited
K Honford Investments Limited 2 5 -
NABREREE(RRRAIZIENITES
REFFIZARK MEBRL T (ERHE
BRA B 2 —) 2 K RIS A BT
FERRAZIEHITER)ZAR »

62 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7



Senior Management Profile

Mr. Ho was appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and was reappointed as a member of the
11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province in January 2007. He
was also awarded as the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan
City and Honorable Citizen of Yixing City. The solid
business knowledge and working experience gained
by Mr. Ho throughout the years are recognized by the
industries. He was awarded the Honorary Fellowship of the
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
October 2020. He was also the Honorary Vice-Chairman
of Hang Seng Management College — Foundation and
the Honorary Director of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial)
Members Association Foundation. Mr. Ho currently
participates in affairs of different social and commercial
associations, which include Former Guangdong Province
CPPCC Members Association, Overseas Friendship
Association of Dongguan, Former Dongguan City CPPCC
Members Association, The Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) CPPCC,
Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association,
Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association, World
Dongguan Entrepreneurs, China Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment, Dongguan City Association
of Enterprises with Foreign Investment, Dongguan
City Fenggang Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations, Hong Kong Fenggang
(Dongguan) Natives Association Limited, The Hong Kong
Chinese Importers’ & Exporter’s Association, Dongguan
Foundation for the Disabled and Dongguan City Fenggang
Industrial Development Association (3 5% 1 Bl i = 3 % &
feEe)
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Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 51,
as an executive Director in November 2010, and is the
General Manager — Human Resources and Administration
of the Group and responsible for the overall operation of

was appointed

human resources, administration and IT department of the
Group. Ms. Chan is one of the members of the Executive
Committee and Internal Audit Committee of the Group.
She is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from The City University of Hong
Kong majoring in Public Administration and Management.
She also holds a Master of Business Administration from
Wrexham Glyndwr University in the United Kingdom.
She joined the Group in 1996 and has over 20 years’
experience in administration and management.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 48, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in November 2012. He has been appointed
as the General Manager and the Convener of Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 April 2013,
responsible for overall manufacturing management
and operation of the Group. Mr. Zhao graduated from
Xihua University (formerly known as Sichuan Institute of
Technology) in the PRC with a Bachelor Degree in Foundry
Engineering. He had over 20 years’ experience in metal
plastic, mould engineering and project management and
more than 15 years’ experience in production management
and operation. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in December
2011.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 56, was appointed as an
executive Director in June 2016. He is also the Marketing
Executive General Manager and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
marketing and business development. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He joined the
Group in 1985 and has over 25 years’ experience in sales

and marketing.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. HO Cheuk Ming, aged 69, was re-designated as
a non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2011. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ho
Cheuk Ming was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company from October 1996 to 31 May 2007, and was a
Deputy Chairman and Chief Operation Officer as well as
the Convener of the Executive Committee of the Group.
He was re-designated as a non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 1 June 2007. He is responsible
for the overall supervision of the Group’s operation
business. He joined the Group in 1980 and has over 20
years’ experience in factory production. He is also the
brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who is one of the executive
Directors, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the brother-in-law of Ms. Ho Po Chu, who is
a member of the senior management team and father of Mr.
Ho Kai Man (one of the non-executive directors).

Mr. HO Kai Man, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
Director from 12 July 2012 to 31 October 2012 and was
re-designated as a non-executive Director in November
2012. He joined the Group in November 2005. He has
been appointed as the Assistant Corporate Planning
General Manager and Executive Committee member and
is responsible for handling internal and external business
and political contact, establishing of communication
platform, promoting energy-saving, environment protection
and cleaner production etc and maintaining the Group’s
sustainability. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Ho graduated from Auckland University
of Technology majoring in Computer Science. He had
engaged in the works of various departments of the Group
so that he has familiarized himself with the business
operation of the Group. He is the nephew of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and is the son of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, a non-executive
director and deputy chairman of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in December 2004.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and
management. He holds a master degree in professional
accounting, a postgraduate diploma in corporate
administration and a higher diploma in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an associate of the Chartered
Governance Institute and the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

Mr. YAM Chung Shing, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2015, is an Honorable President of Dongguan
City Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan, Standing Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Dongguan City and an Executive Vice President and
Secretary of Association of the Hong Kong Members
of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee. He
has invested and developed several projects. He has
extensive experience in business management and project
investment.

Dr. LAU Kin Wah, mH, jp, aged 63, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Lau has
rich and extensive experience in business operation and
management and is the founder, chairman and managing
director of Hanville Co. Ltd. He holds a Doctor of Business
Administration from Bulacan State University in Philippines
and becomes a prominent figure in watch and clock
industry. He graduated from the Lee Wai Lee Technical
Institute in the 1980s. He was presented with the 20th
Anniversary Award for Outstanding Graduate by the VTC
in 2002. Also, he was an awardee of the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong in 2004 and conferred the VTC
Honorary Fellowship in 2013. On 1 July 2013 he was
appointed a justice of the peace.
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Senior Management Profile

Dr. Lau is also a Vice-Convenor of The Employees
Retraining Board Industry Consultative Networks (Business
Services), a Chairman of Education Bureau Curriculum
Development Council Ad Hoc Committee on Applied
Learning Chinese (for non-Chinese speaking students),
a Member of Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong
Kong Watch & Clock Technology Centre Management
Committee, an Advisor of Hong Kong Brand Development
Council and a Specialist of The Hong Kong Council for
Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications
(HKCAAVQ).

MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 74, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Ho is one of the founding members
of the Group in 1980. She is mainly responsible for
supervising human resources and overall administration of
the Group. She is also the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who
is one of the executive Directors, the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company, and sister-in-law of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, who is a non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman.

Mr. LO Wai Kit, aged 53, is the Marketing General
Manager of the Group and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group, responsible for the Group’s
business development and product management. Mr. Lo
graduated from The Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Sociology. He had over 20
years’ experience in Sales & Marketing.

Mr. CHAN Wah Ying, aged 58, is the General Manager
of Thailand factory and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Group. He is also the director of
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Industrial Limited. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with
a higher certificate in Manufacturing Engineering. Mr.
Chan joined the Group in 1992 and had over 30 years’
experience in quality management, system integration and
rich experience in international certification related to
manufacturing.
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Report of the Directors

The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in

—  Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”):
mechanical engineering solutions,

providing
manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly including
moulds and the relevant plastic and metal parts
products for information and communication
technology industry, etc.;

- Electronic Manufacturing Services Business (“EMS”):
manufacturing and sales of magnetic tape data
storage, point-of-sale system, and other computer
peripherals, etc.; and

—  Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential real

estate project investment and development. During

the year ended 31 March 2023, the Real Estate
business segment was disposed of and successfully
applied separate listing on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange. The results of this segment have been

classified as discontinued operations of the Group.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business and an analysis using financial key performance
indicators, can be found in Chairman’s Statement on pages
11 to 29, in Report of the Directors in pages 68 to 100 and
Financial Highlights on pages 8 to 10 of this annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 30 to 61 of this annual report.
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The Group’s turnover by principal product business
segment and geographical locations for the Year are set out
in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended to pay a final dividend of
HK1.5cents per share (2021/22 final dividend: HK4.0 cents
per share), to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 6 September 2023.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per
share (2021/22 interim dividend: HK4.5 cents per share and
a special dividend of HK1.0 cent per share), total dividend
paid/payable for this year amounted to HK5.5 cents per
share (2021/22: HK9.5 cents per share). The final dividend
will be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) of the Company to be held on 30 August 2023.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 113 to 114
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves
of approximately HK$240,279,000 mainly representing the
contributed surplus and retained earnings were available
for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$815,000.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during
the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the
year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has realized the importance of good utilization
of resources long time ago and not to exploit the rights
of using resources for the next generation. The Group
adheres to the concept of our Chairman, Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, with heartfelt dedication in all details, and saves
resources for the next generation. As such, the Group’s
production adheres to the concept of reducing energy or
material consumption from the sources with the adoption
of various environmental friendly measures and addition of
energy-saving equipment. With the concept of green and
cleaner production implemented in practice, the Group
continues to formulate policies for green production and
energy-saving policies, while introducing different kinds of
environmentally friendly equipment to attain the objectives
of cleaner production and environmental protection and
to comply with relevant environmental regulations. It is of
paramount importance to have effective communication
and understanding between the Group and its stakeholders
including shareholders, partners, employees, suppliers,
regulators and the public in coming up with benchmarks
and regarding key issues.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report Guide contained in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Sustainability Report will be available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website at the same time
as the publication of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of noncompliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China
while the Company itself was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the PRC. The Group had
complied with all relevant laws and regulations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-

up approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk

analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories

and indicators of risks. The followings are the key part of

the risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

(M

72

Industrial Business:

(i)

(i)

Concentration of clients

The customers in industrial business of the
Group are mainly concentrated in global leading
technology corporations. The Group may be
unable to attract new customers if no new
product has been developed. The concentration
of customers and/or the concentration of
geographical location that exceeds an acceptable
level may increase the business risk and may
reduce the market share of the Group. The Group
may also be exposed to the risk of significant
reduction in profit in case a few important clients
are lost.

Supplies of raw materials

Since market fluctuations may lead to delay,
shortage and price fluctuation in raw materials
supply, these may heighten the Group’s risks in
maintaining timely delivery to customers and a
fall in profit.

FTEERRTEERER

AEEZRHBELEMNRBNM ERESR
77 2R R R o K T 1T R B o0 A 2
FEE AR ERRARIR - E B2 28 B AR
RIEH - AKBEDHA T EZRR K

THEEHARE:
(1 ITEXEK:
(i) BEFEHRES
AEBIERFPFEFBEEFR

(i)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

BERBEBREE  HARH
BHMEMREAR - FOREERS
HOEP  BEPHNEHEM/
KBV ENETEBBA
BERKE - HERMNEER
b - MR RE IR IR A EE T 50
He-WRABEIZEFPS

EHRANBERERDORER -
R PR

R 5K E ke B HRM A
HEER - RRNERLE -
femBNAEEREFER
MESABRE D E R



()

The Group has already adopted the following

corresponding measures to mitigate operational risks:

(i)

(i)

Concentration of clients:

The Group adopt practical measures of
“recruiting talents, innovating research and
development, diversifying products, extending
the production bases and market expansion” and
provide solutions to our customers so as to meet
the constant challenges.

Supplies of raw materials:

The Group will seek to stock up sufficient raw
materials in accordance with market conditions
and sales and production plan, in order to stay
clear of short-term fluctuation in market supply
and price.

The Group always values clients and suppliers as
long-term close partners. The Group will timely
communicate with upstream and downstream
suppliers over the market status of the raw
materials and will proactively search for solutions
to achieve a win-win business partnership.

Finance
Foreign currency risks arising from dealings with
customers and suppliers in foreign currencies are

discussed in the Chairman’s Statement of this annual
report. Other financial risks and uncertainties are set
out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

SHARE OPTION SCHEME R RE T &
A. The Terminated Share Option Scheme (the “Old R -BRILENEBREFE(ESSD

Scheme”)

The Old Scheme was adopted on 24 August 2012 EfgR-Z——F /A \A=-+WHA

and was expired on 24 August 2021. New Share EMMER_Z_—FNAAZ+H

Option Scheme of the Company was approved by B - AREIF B REEIE R

the shareholders of the Company and adopted on 24 “E-FAATHAZEARR

August 2021 (the “New Scheme”). Details of the Old AIRR SR P i N R ([ #rat &) -

Scheme are summarised herein below: Effglza@amEnrt:

(i) (@ The OIld Scheme is a share incentive (i) @ EFEH—ERMNHER
scheme and is established to recognise and FrEl - RUZBMEER
acknowledge the contributions which the BREFGLIHER
eligible participants have made or will make SEXBREERIELE
to the Group or invested entity (as defined BEEER2EAL (R
in Share Option Scheme). BRETEER) -

(b) The OId Scheme will provide the eligible by EFFEERMEERZH
participants with an opportunity to have a AETRERERREAE
personal stake in the Company with a view AR E  FEUAR
to motivating the eligible participants to Bha &2 m AL &E
utilise their performance and efficiency for il RIATIEMXER
the benefit of the Group or invested entity; REESBREER I
and attracting and retaining or otherwise HRER®E L AEHA
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the AAEHEFEEAMNRE
eligible participants whose contributions are RBENRANEBEHLIKRE
or will be beneficial to the long term growth f BREERNGER
of the Group or invested entity. DEATHBFANE

BE& -

(i) The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (il BEFSHBREBRET

(@ any director (whether executive, non- @ AEEHKLEEEMNT
executive or independent non-executive MEEETT  FEMITH
director), employee (whether full time or BYEMITES) EB
part time employee), consultant, customer, (i\ Bk B BAA
supplier, agent, partner, joint venture 2F-#HER - K
partner or advisers of or contractor to the EE /\T’E BH - -a2d
Group or invested entity; and ERH - BEREHNE

)53
74 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 FI B R 2 R B R 2 &



(b) any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.

(iii) The total number of shares that may be issued by

the Company if all options granted under the Old
Scheme have been exercised is 2,000,000, which
represents approximately 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2023.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company shall
not, in aggregate, exceed such number of Shares
equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time. No option may be granted under the Old
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company if it will result in the above-mentioned
30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Old Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the Old Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”),
unless Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Old Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit.
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Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of such new grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates under the Old Scheme
must be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is a grantee of the relevant
options).
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(c)  Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

based
on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.

(2) having an aggregate value,

then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

(vii) The period within which the options must be

exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

(viii) At the time of grant of the options, the Company

(ix)

may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The Old Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The Old Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.
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(x)

(xi)

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the Old Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

(xi)

ERANEEZEMNBRERAX
0B TIFRERBEREZ
RE REARTED -

FRBEER S FAREBRIEL
HER TAUERENRE
BERRESENRBERE -
BEABIRATHRSE

(@ BTN ZBRERLY
FH(ZALAREER)
FHHE B ®K MK
W mE

by EXBFEZBRERD
B HA A B fE = 5 B B
P38 B R P 5
BB FE R E K&

) MRMHEE -



Report of the Directors

(xii) Details of share option movements during the xii) BEEFERAFEZER
Year under the Old Scheme are as follows: EEEBFBWOT
Number
Number Nurber Number ~ of options Nurber
of options ~of options ~ of options [apsed/  of options
Exercise Closing Price Priceat  outstanding granted  exercised  cancelled  outstanding
Date of Price per  Exercise before date exercise date at 1 April during during during ~ at 31 March
Name Grant share  Period of grant  of options . 20%2 the year the year the year . 2023
RERE  RNERE mA-A REEE  WAEE  RAEE ZA=t-A
§h REAH A HATE ERT i AN/BE WA
#4 REAS GEER GRS ZE# BB BREHE BREHE EREHE BREXE EREZA
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) ('000) (000) ('000) ('000) (000)
(B7) (A7) (A7) (F) () () () ()
(i) Directors/Chief Executives
BERERNNAR
Mr. Zhao Kai 11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2015- 0420 - - - - - -
Halik 10108/2024
11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2017- 0420 - - - - - -
10/08/2024
20/04/2021 1,69 20/04/2021- 149 - 1,000 - - (1,000) -
19/04/2022
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia ~ 27/1012016 070 01/07/2017- 0.69 - - - - - -
REHRNME 26/102026
2711012016 070 01/07/2018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
2711012016 0.70 01/07/2019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
2010412021 1.69 20/04/2021- 149 - 1,000 - - (1,000) -
19/04/2022
Mr. Chan Raymond 271012016 0.70 01/07/2017- 0.69 - - - - - -
RAX L 261102026
2711012016 070 01/07/2018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
271012016 070 01/07/2019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
2010412021 1.69  20/04/2021- 149 - 1,000 - - (1,000) -
19/04/2022
Mr.YamChungShing 2711012016 0.70 01/07/2017- 0.69 - - - - - -
FESRE 26/10/2026
2711012016 070 01/07/2018- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
2711012016 0.70 01/07/2019- 0.69 - - - - - -
26/10/2026
Mr. Ho Kai Man 2010412021 1.69 20/04/2021- 149 - 150 - - (150) -
RS 1900412022
(i) Other Eligible Participants
RRARBEEE
Employeesﬁ,?i 11/08/2014 0419 01/08/2015- 0420 - - - - - -
10/08/2024
11/08/2014 0419 01/0812017- 0420 - - - - - -
10/08/2024
2711012016 0.70 01/07/2017- 0.69 - 180 - - - 180
26/10/2026
2711012016 070 01/07/2018- 0.69 143 530 - (150) - 380
26/10/2026
2711012016 0.70 01/07/2019- 0.69 - 1,440 - - - 1,440
26/10/2026
2010412021 1.69 20/04/2021- 149 - 11,400 - - (11,400) -
19/04/2022
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A professional actuarial firm has been engaged
in the year of 2014/15, 2016/17 and 2021/22 to
perform a valuation of the share options granted
under the share option scheme.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 2 (“HKFRS2”), the fair value of the share
option on the date grant should be amortised in
profit or loss as expenses over the period from
the date of grant until they are exercisable by the
grantee. The expense required to be reported for
share options granted from 1 April 2014 to 31
March 2023 would be estimated as follows:

Financial Year

HBEE

RIBEGE > —REXEME
RADBIN =T —W —AHF
E BN/ EFERZ
z _/_: SR FE T
$ Al EREEE -

BEESVHRELELE =
FIERTHREED2) -
BEREARHBHEOQFE
BREBHESNEN (A
REBZE®RARITEER
) BT EREEER
Br e BEAR-ZT—MNEMA—
HE-_ZT-_=f=-A=+—H
BREMBEREMEENI N
FEEAH AT

201415 2015/16  2016/17 ~ 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22  2022/23

(Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual) (Actual)  (Actual)  (Actual) Total
201415 2015/16  2016/17 ~ 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20  2020/21  2021/22  2022/23

(E®) (ER) (BR) (BR) (B®R) (EW) (ER) (EB) (BR) -

P&L expenses BaBxH
(HK$'000) (F&m) 1267 1,000 2560 2,908 1,186

230 - 3,768 - 12,940
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Employee share option expenses charged to the
consolidated profit or loss are determined with
the trinomial model valuation model based on
the following assumptions:

(1) The share options were granted on 11
August 2014:

Date of valuation 11 August 2014
Date of grant 11 August 2014
Option value HK$0.176-

HK$0.194
Market price at date of grant HK$0.405
Exercisable price HK$0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Life of options 10 years
Expected Volatility (120 52.84%

months)

Expected Dividend yield 2.47%
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(2) The share options were granted on 27

October 2016:

Date of valuation

Date of grant

Option value

Market price at date of grant

Exercisable price
Risk-free interest rate

Life of options

Expected Volatility (120
months)

Expected Dividend yield

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

27 October 2016

27 October 2016

HK$0.239-

HK$0.271

HK$0.70

HK$0.70
1.00%

10 years

51.27%

5.00%

RZE—RNF+A-++

Bz B8 A HE
HEAE —T—RET
AZ++H
BHAE —E-RET
AZ++H
RBEBE 02398 7-
0.2717% 7T
RELEAZ 0.707% 7T
mHEE
1TEE 0.707% 7T
2 3 B ) & 1.00%
RBEEN +F
F 5
8 HA K 18 51.27%
(120
@A)
BEHER 5.00%
B 8



3)

The share options were granted on 20 April

2021:

Date of valuation

Date of grant

Option value

Market price at date of grant

Exercisable price
Risk-free interest rate

Life of options

Expected Volatility (120
months)

Expected Dividend yield

20 April 2021

20 April 2021

HK$0.2509-

HK$0.2520

HK$1.69

HK$1.69
0.05%

1 year

44.58%

5.00%

Note: The vesting of the share options is subject to

the performance of the Group.
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There are several relevant measures that may
be considered to assess the financial impact
of the share option schemes, including the
expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards
(e.g., HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based
transactions is attributed over the period from
the original transaction date (i.e., grant date) to
the date when the recipient’s entitlement to the
payment has been fully realized (i.e., vested).

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility, adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Change in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The result of the trinomial model can be
materially affected by changes in these
assumptions so an option’s actual value may
differ from the estimated fair value of the options
due to limitations of the trinomial model.

In assessing the value of the share options
granted during the Year and the expense
of share-based transactions under HKFRS2
requirement, the trinomial option pricing model
has been used. The trinomial model is one of
the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of
share-based transactions.

The parameters of the trinomial model include
the risk free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and
trigger price multiple. The risk free rate has
made reference to the yield of exchange fund
notes as at the grant date. The dividend yield
makes reference to the dividend history and it is
assumed that the grantee will exercise the option
in accordance with their sub-optimal exercise

policy.
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The New Scheme

No share option has been granted under the New
Scheme since its adoption on 24 August 2021. Details
of the New Scheme are summarized as below: -

(if)

The New Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions which the
eligible participants have made or will make
to the Group or invested entity (as defined
in Share Option Scheme).

The New Scheme will provide the eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivating the eligible participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group or invested entity;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group or invested entity.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to:

(a)

any director (whether executive, non-
executive or independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or
part time employee), consultant, customer,
supplier, agent, partner, joint venture
partner or advisers of or contractor to the
Group or invested entity; and

any discretionary trust whose discretionary
objects include any director (whether
executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director), employee (whether
full time or part time employee), consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner, joint
venture partner or adviser of or contractor
to the Group or invested entity.
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(iii)

(iv)

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes for the time being of the Company shall
not, in aggregate, exceed such number of Shares
equaling to 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time. No option may be granted under the
New Scheme or any other share option scheme
of the Company if it will result in the above-
mentioned 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the New Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the New Scheme by the
Shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”),
unless Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the New Scheme or any other share option
scheme of the Company will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit.

(@ Unless approved by Shareholders in
a general meeting, no option may be
granted to any eligible participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted
or to be granted to such eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of such new grant.
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(b) Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or its subsidiaries or any
of their respective associates under the
New Scheme must be subject to the prior
approval of the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is a grantee of the
relevant options).

(c)  Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue, and

(2) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000.

then such further grant must be subject to
the approval by Shareholders at a general
meeting taken on a poll.

The period within which the options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10
years from the relevant date of grant.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company
may specify any minimum period(s) for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.
The New Scheme does not contain any such
minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the options, the
Company may specify any performance target(s)
which must be achieved before the options can
be exercised. The New Scheme does not contain
any performance targets.
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(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

A non-refundable remittance of HK$10 by way
of consideration for the grant of an option is
refunded to be paid by each grantee upon
acceptance of the opinion.

Subject to adjustments made in a situation
contemplated under the New Scheme, the
subscription price in respect of any option shall
be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@) the closing price of a share as shown in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant (which must be a
business day) in respect of such option;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the
relevant date of grant in respect of such
option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

The New Scheme remains in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of the
adoption of the New Scheme by resolutions
of the Company passed on 24 August 2021.
Accordingly, the remaining life of the New
Scheme is approximately 8 years.

The total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 201,613,920
Shares, representing approximately 9.97% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual

report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against

such rights under the laws of Bermuda.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares in the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
275 to 276 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-law provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors” and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the year.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATES COMPANIES

In October 2022, the Company completed the exercise of
warrants to further increase its shareholdings in TKT , a
listed company in Thailand, to 38.99% (the “Acquisition”).
For details, please refer the Company's announcement
dated 30 September 2022. As the completion of the
Acquisitions, TKT became an associate of the Group.

Save as the disclosed above, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associate
or joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY THE GROUP
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

Report of the Directors

B TR
ZAUNCT RS S WS ES R RN 47
MEAEMEBERR

TFEMBHRE
AEEBEREMBFEZREREE
HBEREERNANFRFE27552768 -

EEEYN

REER  NARMEREREBNIE
MEREBZEREHITRIAERT LM
AR TEFBEEAL -

BAEMRERX

ARABARIRE - %%ﬁT%ﬁ“ﬂﬁ
EESRE UHERTRGEEE
HAREIT AT ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ“*
A BRHBR BEEXE-

$“ﬂ€§ﬁ%§$ﬁ¢ﬁﬁ%m%ﬁ
FAZEENSREEABREERR

BWERHENBLARAREE QT

R-ZT - —F+AXRRFITRITERK
R E— B EE EMARTKTH

f&#E2£38.99% ([WEE ) - BB A
REIR-_E-__FNLA=ZFTHZRAE -
nﬁﬁzuézﬁﬁfé TKTERAEE 2B &R

;

I

EI

BEitsh  BE-_E-_=F=A=+—
HIEFER  ANEBWETMEBENEB
NE - BERASIEELEZEARK
BHESEE-

AEBFREEARE
RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H
RAEETREARKE -

P AREEY

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 £ 89



Report of the Directors

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not pledge any assets.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2023 are set out in Notes 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Chan Raymond

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ho Kai Man

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

Mr. Yam Chung Shing

Dr. Lau Kin Wah

Mr. Fong Hoi Shing, Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Dr. Lau Kin
Wah entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2022
subject to extension by mutual agreement and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company as and when required under the Bye-laws.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws
and paragraph B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Ms. Chan Ming
Mui, Silvia, Mr. Chan Raymond and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

EEHEA
RZB_=F=ZA=+—H AEEY
BEWEMEE -

B 8 2 7]
ARAEZMBRARZFHRE  ARMB
WRMEE9 o

BITEE
REBR-_ZTE-_=F=A=+—H2Zi#
TEEFBINRTERERM 23 -

BEEg
REEANBERERBH L £EZ
BEEWNT:

HITES

e B S & (£ /B R 7T AR EL)
EE=R N |

el kit

B XL

FHITES
o] SR % L (B )
] B3 5E A&

BYFHITES
WL
EEMEE
BfzERwt

TEWEE EEREERDEES
TERIRBP—FNEFTZMER 1K=
Z_F+_A-BER-EHREEL
HBRIMREEBRERERNBRBFAX
SrEREBEBEERIL -

WBARBERAMRNFES7IRME K £
AR 8% + 0 A &Y 1 26 B 8 7 RIB.2.2
B REGNE - REBEEE KA EH
FEERREBRITZRRBFRNE LR
BRI - FIBERXEESRAER LM
BEEEL -

90 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which any of the Group companies was
a party and in which a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, for the year
ended 31 March 2023, there were no such rights to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of Shares or debentures of
the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were any
such rights exercised by them. There was no arrangement
to which the Company and any of its subsidiaries is a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to
acquire such rights in any other corporation.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
that are not exempted from annual reporting requirement
under the Listing Rules. The related party transactions set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements are
fully exempted connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 March 2023

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO;
or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:

(A) Interests in the Company

EERBEETRAEZROER

R-ZZE-_=F=H=+-—H
ARRZEERESITHRABERRAF
RAEMEEEE (B A(EFRBAER
BT 2R B 1) 2 XV EB) 8Y ik 15 & 48
BRNDFHEENESRARE  MEZSE
Rk R @BIE(EFBGHI)EI521{E
AT T B MR 8E 5 (b) ik
(ETTRRIESHETESFRHINIREST
BIXIKEESFA)) B AR R R R FE B
ERXRGFBRAF (R 0T

(F) RAQF ZER

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

BREGMBR EERHUE
Personal Family Corporate/ Total % of issued
interests interests  Other interests interests  share capital
EEER Y
AR FEELR A AEE  BRESW
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fiedrs 278,712,000 110,350,000 1,077,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.56
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Ma—) (Fit 3t —) (B3=)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming EELEPE: 11,400,000 - 817,608,000 829,008,000 41,01
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(B3 =) (M=)
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia [ % /) 18 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 0.30
(Note 4)
(B 5 )
Mr. Zhao Kai ik 10,672,000 - - 10,672,000 0.53
(Note 5)
(Ftst )
Mr. Chan Raymond REXEE 3,922,000 - - 3,922,000 0.19
(Note 6)
(Bt 5E7%)
Mr. Yam Chung Shing ~ FEH %L 500,000 - - 500,000 0.02
(Note 7)
(Ftatt)
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Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

BREEIET EBRYE
Personal Family Corporate/ Total % of issued
interests interests  Other interests interests  share capital
EEEHY
BA%R FEERD REthEs A EE  BRASR
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing REREE 42,000 - - 42,000 0.00
(Note 8)
GEIY
Ms. Ho Po Chu MERZL 110,350,000 538,712,000 817,608,000 1,466,670,000 72.56
(Note 9) (Note 9) (Note 2)
GEY GEN (Rt &£ =)
Notes: B E

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consists of
278,712,000 Shares. He is deemed to be interested in
110,350,000 Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu,
as beneficial owner.

The 1,077,608,000 Shares comprised (i) 487,608,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); and (ii) 330,000,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”). New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (BVI)
Limited (“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, The
Ho Family Trust, and (iii) 260,000,000 Shares held by
The Wedding City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”),
90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to
be interested in the 817,608,000 Shares in (i) and (ii)
as founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 260,000,000
Shares in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu
and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming are the discretionary objects
of The Ho Family Trust and are thus deemed to be
interested in the 817,608,000 Shares held under The Ho
Family Trust. Therefore, the interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming in the
817,608,000 Shares duplicate with each other.
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AlEBEE 2@ ARERBIE
278,712,0000% I 17 o A1 42 1% 5¢ £
WRASBEEMRBRNER L IE
BE@mBEA AFA Z110,350,000
BB 1n o

1,077,608,000/% % 2 & #& (i) i
New Sense Enterprises Limited
(INew Sense]) 5 /& 2 487,608,000
fElRHm: (W =BEHNEHREREER
BAR(ZEBERMEDFEZ
330,000,0008% I 1p - H 21T
7K 287% J5 #H Honford Investments
Limited ([Honford Investments])
Em#A > New Sense X Honford
Investments B TMF (BVI) Limited
(ITMF)) € % % # {5 5 The Ho
Family Trustz 2E A2 BB AKX
(iVBYHAERAT([1BHHE])F
5 2.260,000,0000% A& 1 - H 217
A&7 2 90% R 10% 5> Bl B fa] te $28 5
ERMERZTERRER o MEE
% & {E B The Ho Family Trust 2 £
SN AR B % %817,608,000
P B A o 8 (i) B (i) R G 45 40 930
2.260,000,000 % f 7 2 #E 25 < {A]
EU LT RALFSLAE BThe Ho
Family TrustZ 2 X A - 8T
% B The Ho Family Trusti¥ B 2
817,608,000% fx 11 # B # 25 © i
gt - A A - BB T R
2B 5 £ R 52 £817,608,000% fR
MrEZREES -
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The personal interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming comprise
11,400,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
comprise 6,000,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Zhao Kai comprise
10,672,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Chan Raymond comprise
3,922,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Yam Chung Shing comprise
500,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Fong Hoi Shing comprise
42,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise
110,350,000 Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed
to be interested in (a) 278,712,000 Shares held and
260,000,000 Shares deemed to be held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 817,608,000 Shares referred to
in Note 2 above.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7
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B
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A% A% 17 48 A °

PR X o E Z A NS A
3,922,0000% J& 9 #2 AX °

fEE W % & 2 8 A%z 500,000
B% A% 17 48 AX, ©

F WA 2 A Az A 42,000 8%
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il 8 % &£ £ 2 @ A#zm A
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2023, none of Directors were interested
in any business apart from the Company’s business which
competed or was likely to complete, either directly or
indirectly with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than a
Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:
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EENBBERCES
R-ZT-=F=A=+—H HWEE=E
R AE _ETAR B8 101& AT fa] B B skl 42
HR AN R K E P B A B FE S A B
AR FZEMER (KRR ER
BRON R BRI -

AEBEZEABEREDNZTESE
Ewilk EEFERA/ARLERAE
FEAEBANEERE  ZREFH
CMERE - At EFEEEBE LN
RAFREZXBMEERNEE 2%
& o

FERR

R-ZB-=%f=A=+—H
ATALTBREEFERARFZ &S
TTBAB)RARE Bt K48 B8 A 0 &
BB RBARRER(EFHED)FE336
GFEFEzERMoER MRE

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

EREEIBAI2EBREE
Corporate/ Shareholding
Name of Shareholder Personal interests Other interests percentage
EEEER
REREZH 8 A= Hit iz EREDHL
New Sense 487,608,000 - 24.12%
(Note 1) (Fff 3= —)
Castfast Properties 5 12 /5 # & 330,000,000 - 16.33%
(Note 2) (Fff &£ =)
The Wedding City % %) 3 260,000,000 - 12.86%
(Note 3) (Fff & =)
Honford Investments — 330,000,000 16.33%
(Note 2) (Fff 3£ =)
TMF - 817,608,000 40.45%

(Note 4) (M 5= 1)
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Note:

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023,

The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.

260,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note
2 to the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Shares — (A) Interests in the Company” above.

TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New

Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

no

person, other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section

“Directors’

and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”

above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company that was required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.
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UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE 1R#E FHHEBAE1351BMIFEHZ2ES

13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES BHERN
Change of information of the Directors, which is required R4 EM#EBIZE13.51BMMIKA TR E 2
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing EEE L Z&HEHH W :

Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

Esns

Detail of Change
2EHFR

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
o] 2 38 5 HE

Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
R % k)

Mr. Zhao Kai

Mr. Ho Kai Man
AR S e &

Mr. Chan Raymond
RE X EE

annual salary increased from HK$4,784,400 to HK$4,814,400
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2022, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.
FHH4,784,4008 T INE4,814,4008 T(TREWEILL) B -F
“FEAAAR EVMHESFE2THETERR £ BE
KRERMMSBRAMEE -

annual salary increased from HK$926,496 to HK$956,496 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2022, which is determined
by the Board with reference to her experience, performance and duties
as well as the prevailing market conditions.
FHH1926,496/8 TLIL N £ 956,496 T (T EEMEIEL) B -T - —
FLA—BAER EFHAESES2ZTHEIERE & BELE
RIS HERAMEE -

annual salary increased from HK$1,283,952 to HK$1,307,892
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2022, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

F$r 1,283,952 LI INE1,307,82B L (TN RIEMEIEL) 8 —F
T CHFLA-RAN HEFMWHEFS2ZHEIERR £ BE
LRERMSIBRMETE °

annual salary increased from HK$480,000 to HK$504,000 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2022, which is determined
by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and duties
as well as the prevailing market conditions.

F % H0480,000/8 T J1 2 504,000 T (T RIEMEIEAL) BT~ —
FLA—BAER EFHAESES2ZHIHERE & BELE
RSB RAMEE -

annual salary increased from HK$1,068,000 to HK$1,098,000
(excluding discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2022, which is
determined by the Board with reference to his experience, performance
and duties as well as the prevailing market conditions.

% EH1,068,000/8 L1 AN E1,098,0008 T (M RIEMELL) - B - F
T CHFLA-RAN HEFMWHEFS2ZHEIERR £ BE
RERMSBRAMETE °
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual reports, the Company does
not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21
of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2023 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 48%
Five largest suppliers combined 68%
Sales
The largest customer 36%
Five largest customers combined 89%

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial
interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers noted
above.

BEEHHREB21RELH 2B E

BRAFRIPEFTEEI » AABWERBE
MHAEB2IERETRNEMB RS
£ o

FTEEREFREED
BE-_Z_-_=ZF=-A=+—HIFE"
AEEGEFEHENLAEPZEBERIHE
EANL R

BE

&AM ERE 48%
hRHER G 68%
&

SN 36%
A REPHL 89%

B Eaish - BREE - REMBREARA
EEMAEEARRABRAEIB%Z KX
R EFEREM AR EE T EHE
BhEPZHESR -
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DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Assuming that the final dividend is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the AGM, for the purposes
of ascertaining the entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 5 September 2023 to Wednesday, 6 September
2023 (both dates inclusive) during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 September
2023. It is expected that the final dividend will be payable
and issued to those entitled on or around Thursday, 21
September 2023.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM to be held on 30 August 2023, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
24 August 2023 to Wednesday, 30 August 2023 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 23 August 2023.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the section
of "Share Option Scheme" in this section, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs.
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

The Company has not changed the auditors of the
Company in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Cheuk Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Karrie International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 110 to 274,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(w).

The Key Audit Matter
BREITER

WREEE

EEELEENTE A S
RAYAMGEAVBRE 2B &
BB FEE WS FEREBSEH
BREAHBHRREASLEET

BRI EEITeYHELEHREHER
ZER -

U A 7 R B R
%ﬁ%é%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%&%ﬁwmz
2 AR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZBTNAEEZEE

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacture and sales of metal and plastic
products and electronic products.
EEET2NFRERHEDS RERBER - N
NEFEMD-

The revenue is recognised when the goods are
delivered to the customer’s designated location
which is considered to be the point in time when
the Group transfers the control over goods to the
customers.

WAEERmZXETPHEE2 W Bl E5EHK
EmZFIEEBREEPHER

102

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of
revenue recognition included the following:

[=] #Ffiqﬁkﬁg u/uZHT Fﬁﬁ/z% u+%§ErL/j:I+EJ//<T

—  obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design,
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

- TEEFHE E%EE%HSU\EEWZE%LW
HRIEH 2 REF B REFRZAMIME:

implementation and operating

- inspecting key customer contracts to
identify terms and conditions relating to
goods acceptance and assessing the Group's
revenue recognition policies with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

- A§?ﬁﬁi%ﬂ\}fé\%’w/{%&%/\,\%%Mﬁlﬁﬁ%
ZIERF RGN A RS RRITEERZ
Kt EEEZWARRBBEK:
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BEESER

BAREFSHE)
W A R (4F)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZBETNNEEZSEE

The Group’s sales contracts with customers,
which principally comprise of large-sized
international technology corporations, have a
variety of terms and conditions. Such terms may
affect the timing of the recognition of sales to
those customers. The Group evaluates the terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition.
BEEEEXP (T EERALBBEMERAR)FIL
ZHERHWRE —RINXHIER KGR - %F
GFRAUE e ERRAUELEPETHEZR
He BEEBRESHEAONAREEZEH
EREEEWARRBZBERM -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because each sales contract
may have different terms and conditions which
increases the risk of error in the recognition
of revenue and because it is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and could
be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.
EEERSBBLREFEERIRB ZIWAMRER
ZERISHERESFTE ASHEHEANAD
(R {6k SR B Ak £ - [RI T AT B 18 0 U A T 5% 86 AR 2 B
e R ARAR BEEEHP-HABERES
EIE ARERBARBRUAERBERHE -

— comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with goods
delivery documents and underlying sales
invoices to determine whether the revenue
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period; and

- WMEEBEFRIREARZIABRAR
ZEMPAHEERENMEMRIMN X REE
HEAKARSEBE ZFHATUBER &

- inspecting underlying documentation
for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year which were
considered to specific risk-based criteria.

- RETAFTERREEREBABHEZTF
B AS 8 HBXT -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2(1)(i).

The Key Audit Matter
ARESSE

BREETEEE)

FEMHE

R e FZ I 148 B 5 200)3)
= /:I7L/B? °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEETNMAEEZEE

The carrying value for inventories as at 31 March
2023 was $633 million, which represented 24.8%
of the Group’s total assets.
R-ZEBE_=F=A=+—8H"
{8 %633,000,0007C * 18 & K
24.8%

EEEFERE
EXEEEERE

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The Group maintains its
inventory levels based on customer orders and
forecast demand.
FERKAANEAZERFEHZBEEMR
B BERERBEEPAIENBHILEREE
BKF -

A significant proportion of the Group’s products
are manufactured to meet specific customer
requirements. There is a risk that inventories may
be stated at more than their net realisable value
if a customer experiences financial difficulty or
there is a demand issue with a customer’s product
that includes a component manufactured by the
Group.

EEENASIERRRMEAEBEFPZEXK
MEdE - MREFEBHBRE  AEPZEM
(s BEHREENATFESREE ]

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

BEENFERECETREFERUATSEEA:

- obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design and implementation
of the Group’s key internal controls over
the process for assessing provisions for
inventories;

- TERAFE EEEARAGEEREREG
ZREFZREBEARIES 2R NE R

- assessing whether the inventory items in the
inventory ageing report were categorised
in the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items therein with
supplier invoices and other underlying
documentation on a sample basis;

- BEBMELERRERRENHE AR
HEFERRBREAZLFERBEREAWE
BREE 2 RERIER:

FEKFENABBETERFET R R
G o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Valuation of inventories (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BEESER

BAREFSHE)
FEMEGE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEZBETNNEEZSEE

Management assesses the level of provisions for
inventories required at each reporting date after
considering inventory ageing and other relevant
factors. This assessment involves significant
management judgement.
BEBAEMAFEZERREEMBBAREZR  ©
SAEERTEFBREEEE KT - ZTES
B EAEIEE A -

We identified the valuation of inventories as
a key audit matter because the Group held
significant inventories at the reporting date and
because of the significant degree of management
judgement involved in evaluating the provisions
for inventories.

FEFEREINSEREAZTE AR BX
lﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁkgﬁ, CARERETFEER
RFERTERNEEREHE -

- selecting inventory items, on a sample

basis, at reporting date and comparing
their carrying value to their subsequent
selling prices as indicated in sales invoices
subsequent to the reporting date;

- WMEEEBRREAZFEEE  LBREKE
ERGEAREERE L 2EE:

- obtaining an understanding of the
Group’s inventory write-down policy and
assessing whether this policy appropriate
with reference to the Group’s current
circumstances and the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

- TR BEREZEEMRMEERR - AT
131:/(—1-& RKeERDABRARY ESEZERH
#RINGEHEJE%WEI,

- comparing slow-moving inventories items
with customers’ orders and assessing the
financial condition of key customers on a
sampling basis; and

- WMENEPAIEEBHFEHREETLER
AEFHEEBZBEPZHMBRA R

— assessing the historical accuracy of
management’s process for making provisions
for inventories by examining the utilisation or
release of the provisions for inventories made
at the end of the previous financial year
during the current financial year.

- BBsELSL—§ +¢V%$ﬁ 5 1B B
ZAFREZERARBEEBR  FEBEERE

EﬁﬁZﬁEﬁﬁ%ﬁ%E&ﬁ°
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

REMBHRERREAZBMBEUIN
=5

EXFHHEMERAE - HLEEEHE
HERNFERA 22 HMES - BETEIELER
EUMBERREESZT R BERE -

BEFHEAMBHRERZEALNRE
HEL  BSENITH&FHEMERR
REMPR 2 ERER -
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4

BEEBFHEAVB MK ZER
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EREMEERTEFEMBERRAE
EEEMARTHATHZBEAFHEEX
HEAEUFEFEERERRAZIF
e BERBFEHNTZIHE  WRES
RREBEERFEERMERRME &
EHREREZFE -GEETE BFAR

BEEA®HE -

ESHGEMBRRARZER

EXZFAERBEEESAMAERMG
ZAE B W mE L) REFB(R A ME
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

REBMRBT AU BRAEZE
iEs

EE7ER  REGAUBHREREREE
EAGFEERRFFRERmMER &
AR NBABERE  YHAR
RESERZZEMEE - TERK
BEREI1IF(RANER)FIGEZR
EOERERRERE o R B
E2HRETTREEMARZ - TEHT
MAREZAD  YEMEMALTEES
S EREREERME -

BERERFNKFZRE - BTRERE
RBCE BB ERDET 2R EX
—EABERRAGTERBERE - &
ARERALAT AR EXFE S ER AR B - IR A
EEMEMEBNERERAIETE
RAEMBRREAERBETBREA
TR 2 R E - BB R Z 8ARR IR AL A
WRIEE KX o

ERB(GEBEMNEADETEN 2B
B BEFERTEXRHE RETE

XEREE - EFN:

— B Bl AN F A B R HKRE Sk B RR T &

HREMBREAFEERNERR
Az B RERBITESRERF
NEHELRE  ARERRT R
MEEZENERR  FREFE
ZEPE o HNEGFAIBE SR BR
R - BEER - ERERA - 20
ERABSES 2 £ Bt K%
BRRFMER 2 ERHERR A
ZEBERAREERREHERME
B2 BREERRM 2 AR -

- TRREFEFHEBEZAIES - A

RtBEE 2EF R - BEEMILIE
o BEEBENIES Z2BRIEER
BAR-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT REMREBS GRSV BERRARIEZE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (&)
(CONTINUED)

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies -
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use -
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and -
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding -
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

TEEEMHRASHTRRZRE
MRIEHEF BT EBERE
BB -

HEERAKELLEEERL
fREMIELE® - RIBEMERZ
BARE BMERAFHEBREIR
SERNBEZERTEEN - (KM
AREEHY BERBZFEKLER
NEEXEERRE MREERR
FEEATEESE  AAELEER
BEHETRBERAEIERSE
MBmh 2 HERE  REEBZ
REIR  AEFREZRIFER
BHER BFZZREWEENZE
AR = B IEFFEBUS 2 B/AHEE - A
m RKRERESIFRAATEER &

& 40 MY
SETRERELE -

TESEVBRR 2BRINKRT
A EBERAT  BEEE ARk
REMBHREARETERRIZS M
FIH -

B EEERNEBREXHEDZ
MBERERTR  BEZ2F
B NBEHSEEM B HRRER
BER-BFRE EEEEZA
[ EBMAT  BFEREE
RAEAEZHEE -

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, MREMEBIEIN  EEHBEZZESE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of #BTETE|CHFFEE HHEZHE - EX
the audit and significant audit findings, including any HwF#HEF BREEZFNETFHHEA
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify — H A ZB 5§l 2 (E{JE K ERFE o

during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Man Ching.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2023

REMRETFEUBRRAEZE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BA7TI7R)

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

—E-=F —_E-
=A=+—H =RA=+—H
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5T Fr F T
ASSETS B5E
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment — #1% - BB K& & # 6 670,648 688,260
Investment properties KREME 7 281,865 332,961
Intangible assets BIVEE 8 3,287 4,840
Investments in associates REtENR 2 E 10 82,810 21,265
Other financial assets HterEE 13 13,067 29,216
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 12 91,842 43,077
Deferred tax assets IR IBE E 25(b) 8,951 189,991
oo 152470 0 1,309,610
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 14 633,168 778,366
Property development and MEERRE R KA
contract costs 15 - 1,268,088
Trade and bills receivable BOREBRKER 12 558,114 605,903
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfJ3X ~ & & & HAb
receivables JE W BR K 12 39,894 138,946
Amounts due from related fEW R E AR ER K
companies 34(b) 2,628 39,952
Current tax recoverable R B AT U [B] A% TE 25(a) 5,060 1,153
Pledged deposits ZRHEE 16 - 84,539
Restricted deposits X PR i 77 3K 17 - 397,961
Cash and bank deposits ] & RRITERK 17 159,445 441,548
1,398,309 3,756,456
Total assets EEHE 2,550,779 5,066,066
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBMRREK

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAB7TAI7R)

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

—E-=F —_E-
=A=+—H =A=+—H
Note $’000 $’000
B o Fr T
EQUITY P =
Capital and reserves ARAEBHEA
attributable to equity FE AL BR A K% 1% 48
shareholders of the Company
Share capital & 2 19 202,146 202,131
Other reserves H th & & 21 244,285 98,202
Retained earnings R 8 & A 21 490,331 1,396,219
Total equity EEAE 936,762 1,696,552
LIABILITIES =R+
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade payables B 5 ENERER 22 350,212 375,951
Accruals and other payables FE =T B A N HoAh & {5
AR & 22 481,179 1,143,981
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 422,372 738,434
Lease liabilities HEBRE 24 6,611 7,942
Amount due to an associate FETEE 2 N Al BR 10 3,895 1,532
Amounts due to related FET B E N A R 3K
companies 34(b) 3,848 3,664
Current tax payable AR ERFE AN AR 1B 25(@a) 109,583 607,122
1,377,700 2,878,626
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
meaMBARR R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BA7TI7R)

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

—EC-=HF —_E_-—
=A=+—H =A=+—H”
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5T Fr T
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 230,000 462,750
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 3,126 12,634
Provision for long service REIRTS & 2
payments 782 6,241
Deferred tax liabilities FEXEMIBEEE 25(b) 2,409 9,263
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 236,317 490,888
Total liabilities EEHEE 1,614,017 3,369,514
Total equity and liabilities BaRkBEEE 2,550,779 5,066,066
Net current assets RBEEFE 20,609 877,830
Total assets less current EEHERABERS
liabilities 1,173,079 2,187,440

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors W=-Z-=FXA-+/\HHEE2#t

on 28 June 2023. R E o
Ho Cheuk Fai Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
1 fe2 18 R & ok
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 122 to 274 form part of these financial ~ #122F 2748 7 i ¥ B AM % 2 —
statements. D o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #IZ— T - =F=A=+—HILFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2023 2022
—EBC-=HF g
(Restated)
(BEE7)
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 3 T T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREER
Revenue WA 26 3,081,697 3,075,013
Cost of revenue WA X AR 27 (2,744,532) (2,636,922)
Gross profit EF 337,165 438,091
Distribution and selling expenses SHEHEHEEEH 27 (31,205) (30,814)
General and administrative expenses — & R 1T & A 27 (71,572) (113,636)
Other net income/(loss) Hi g A/ (E518)
FEE 26 5,974 7,688
Net valuation (losses)/gains on REMELEES
investment properties B,/ WEF5HE 7 (29,577) 1,967
Operating profit  ®&&=s% 210,785 303,296
Finance income B s A 1,504 1,623
Finance costs B 7% Ak R (35,655) (9,876)
Finance cost,net MBRA-F® 29 G4151) (8,253)
Share of profits of associates i N
il 10 15,157 1,164
Profit before taxation B Bt B a F 191,791 296,207
Income tax Frig it 30 9,473) (41,934)
Profit for the year from KEFBERERE
continuing operations Z F & A 182,318 254,273
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BERIEEEET
Profit for the year from RECDRIEREE
discontinued operations B2 FE A 18 203,855 294,829
Profit for the year FERA 386,173 549,102
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZ — T - =F=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2023 2022
—EZ=F —F-—
(Restated)
(B&7F)
Note $000 $'000
P &£ T T
Profit attributable to equity ERREBFEA
shareholders of the Company FEAERBUT &
arises from: BZaA:
— Continuing operations — RFEKEEB 182,318 254,273
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREERK 203,855 294,829
386,173 549,102
Earnings per share from continuing ZEAREZFEA
operations and discontinued i REFER
operations attributable to equity EEBRELLE
shareholders of the Company REXBBR
i Fl
Basic earnings per share (HK cent) %% E 7% Fl
(78 Al) 31
— Continuing operations — FHRELEEE 9.0 12.6
— Discontinued operations — BRIERERT 10.1 14.6
19.1 27.2
Diluted earnings per share (HK cent) # &% & %R
(78 4l) 31
— Continuing operations — FEREER 9.0 12.6
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREXRE 10.1 14.6
19.1 27.2

The notes on pages 122 to 274 form part of these financial

statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity

shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for

the year are set out in note 32.
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THEAAZKBFFIAMFE32 -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z—F-_=F=A=+—HIL5E (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAFE7HI|7R)

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-=
(Restated)
(B&E5)
Note $000 $'000
B 3F Fr T
Profit for the year FERAN 386,173 549,102
Other comprehensive income for the FEHE 2 H
year: WA
Items that will not be reclassified to 1~ ﬁ%gfi S
profit or loss: wmZHEE -
Remeasurement of provision for RORBEERBZ
long service payments B E 6,038 2,934
Changes in fair value of other financial H b & gt & & 2
assets BEz& 21 6,592 2,256
Items that may be reclassified HiZrpEEF 7
subsequently to profit or loss: FHEnIHEE -
Exchange differences on translation of #5 %& & 55 7% B
financial statements of operations BHRMELZ
outside Hong Kong RBER 21 (98,714) 67,792
Changes in fair value of other Hth e RmMEERT
financial assets g .2 & 21 26 56
Release of the recycling fair value ALEEMERE
gain due to disposal of other IR 2 A E [
financial assets R EW R 21 (100) -
Other comprehensive income for FEHEHMR2E
the year WA (86,158) 73,038
Total comprehensive income for FEZEHRALR
the year 300,015 622,140
Total comprehensive income ERBEEFERA
attributable to equity shareholders FELRE T &
of the Company arises from HeZHBRAZ
Ll
— Continuing operations — BREREEE 141,182 290,870
— Discontinued operations — Emltﬁ‘« = 3 158,833 331,270
300,015 622,140

The notes on pages 122 to 274 form part of these financial ~ $122F 2748 7 M 5 /AR Bk 2 —
statements. o o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=—F-_=F=A=+—HIL5FE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 77| 7R)

Share Other Retained Total

capital reserves earnings equity

Rx  HtRE  REERN  RE4E
(Note 19) (Note 21)
(Wt&E19)  (MEE20)

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
fitst T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2021 as NEA2H-F=-F
previously reported mA-Hz&e 201,244 363,569 1,131,893 1,696,706
Profit for the year FREEN - - 549,102 549,102
Other comprehensive income E2ERA - 70,104 2,934 73,038
Total comprehensive income PAMANER - 70,104 552,036 622,140
Dividends paid in respect of BREFERS
the previous year 32(h) - - (141,259) (141,259)
Dividends paid in respect of BIRAFE R E
the current year 32(a) - - (110,952 (110,952)
Equity settled shared-based transactions  BABR 1332 2 & 5 - 3,768 - 3,768
Acquisition of subsidiaries under WELREHRERR
common control - (45,725) - (45,725)
Assumption of debt liabilities arising from REWBEEAAREN
the acquisition of a related company ~ RABERERER
Dongguan City Jiaxuntong Computer A7 ([EH &) 2 E
Products Limited (“)iaxuntong”) BAEE 21()(ii) - (331,533) - (331,533)
Appropriation of statutory surplus reserve /7 i & # & & % 51 - 32,526 (32,526) -
Repurchase of shares B4 21(c)(iv) - (3,011) - (3,011)
Cancellation of shares R 210W&) (188) 3,199 (3,011) -
Issuance of shares upon exercise of TRERERZTRG
share options 19(c) 1,075 5,343 - 6,418
Release upon lapse of share options 4 i& % % 8 e 78 - (38) 38 -
Balance at 31 March 2022 ZE--%ZB=t-H
2 & 202,131 98,202 1396219 1,696,552
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z—F-_=F=A=+—HIL5E (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAFE7HI|7R)

Share Other Retained Total

capital reserves earnings equity

Rx  HtRE  REERN  RE4E
(Note 19) (Note 21)
(Wt&E19)  (M&E21)

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
by & T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2022 “®--FfmA-A
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, G& 20031 98202 1396219 1,696,552
Changes in equity for the year ended EBZ=-F==F=R
31 March 2023: St-ALEERR
29
Profit for the year EERM - - 386,173 386,173
Other comprehensive income Eew2EBA - (92,196) 6,038 (86,158)
Total comprehensive income  REAARE - 192190 392211 300015
Dividends paid in respect of BERLEERE
the previous year 32(b) - - (80,852) (80,852)
Dividends paid in respect of BIRAFE RS
the current year 32(a) - - (80,852) (80,852)
Appropriation of statutory surplus reserve /7 it &2 £ f & # 51 - 18,636 (18,636) -
Issuance of shares upon exercise of TEBERERETRD
share options 19(c) 15 90 - 105
Transfer to retained profit upon disposal HEEMEHEEERZ
of financial asset fR B & 7 - (8,361) 8,361 -
Release upon lapse of share options R KR - (3,656) 3,656 -
Distribution in specie ENDk 18 - 231,570 (1,129,776) (898,206)
Balance at 31 March 2023 “R-=f=A=t-H
&8 202,146 244,285 490,331 936,762

The notes on pages 122 to 274 form part of these financial ~ #122F 2748 7 ff ¥ R ARM # ¥ % 2 —
statements. B e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z=—F-_=F=A=+—HIL5FE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZE 77| 7R)

2023 2022
—EZ=F —F-—
Note $’000 $'000
B Fr T
Cash flows from KEFEH2
operating activities RERE
Profit before taxation B % B & A1 693,371 971,582
Share of profit of associates EiGEEERRRF 10 (15,157) (1,164)
Depreciation and amortisation of WE - BELERE
property, plant and equipment 2B R 6 102,331 97,118
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEEZBIH 8 1,553 1,548
Equity settled share-based transactions JAf 225 20 - 3,768
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, — HEW% - KE &
plant and equipment RiEEE/
(e zs) 48 (1,158)
Reversal of written-down of obsolete [ & [ §H 77 & #f
and slow-moving inventories B 2 (3 5 14(b) (9,810) (396)
Recognition of loss allowance for trade & 5 & = # J&
and bills receivables WER R B R
ZHER 12 625 2,002
Reversal of loss allowance for trade & 5 & ¥ JE UL
and bills receivables RREBREREL
@ # 12 (232) -
Loss on disposal of other financial HEEM DR
assets BEZEE 26 576 -
Provision for long service payments & HA R & £ 4 826 290
Valuation losses/(gains) on investment 1% & %) % & B
properties e (a) 7 29,577 (1,967)
Loss recognised from derecognition of HUE # 52 H i & &l
other financial assets BEZHBE®ER 26 8,361 -
Interest expenses M EX 39,587 14,738
Interest income R B YA (8,443) (17,067)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss DM BE (W zs)
B8 (53,127) 38,073
Operating profit before working EEESRHAIZ
capital changes carried forward REZNEHE 790,086 1,107,367
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #IZ— T - =F=A=+—HILFE

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE-=
Note $’000 $'000
Bt 5 Fr T
Operating profit before working RAEEEERH
capital changes brought forward Al 2 &g A 790,086 1,107,367
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEZRL/
(38 40) 155,008 (386,898)
Decrease/(increase) in property MEZERKRER
development and contract costs RAZ @D/
(42 hn) 90,045 (116,167)
Decrease in trade and bills receivable & 5 & 2 # & U Bk
b - 45,095 50,711
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, B3 ~ & K&
deposits and other receivables Hfth et 8RR 2
w (48 1) 86,450 (54,958)
Increase in amount due to related JET B AR BRI
companies Z &N 420 180,097
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables & 5 &R 2
OB ),/ (21,400) 34,830
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and EETE RN EA
other payables FERTBR R 2
OB ) /4 (343,278) 286,161
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to & [ Bt & 2 7]
an associate R zEm/
Ol ) 2,363 (137)
Increase in amount due from related  J& 42 7 i A 7]
companies BRI (12,397) (428)
Net cash generated REEECFRS
from operations 792,392 1,100,578
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEEMEHR (35,906) (27,033)
PRC tax paid EANLEEET (227,498) (524,650)
Hong Kong tax refunded EREBENEMR 4 -
PRC tax refunded RIERE 92,017 -
Long service payments refunded/(paid) i& & /(2 17)
RERSG 2 15 (264)
Net cash generated from operating RKEFBELZ
activities FRE 621,024 548,631
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZ — T - =F=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE-=
Note $'000 $'000
Bt 5F Fr T
Cash flows from investing activities R EEFEZ
RERE
Payment for the purchase of property, BE % - K FE &
plant and equipment B & PANE: 6 (187,890) (254,110)
Payment for additions to investment FEREW X 2
properties BE 7 (137) (90)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - HE &
plant and equipment iz FR 323 1,183
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHEMEREE
financial assets Z g 6,117 -
Payment for acquisition of associate W ¥ Bt & AR 2
% (39,904) -
Payment for acquisition of intangible HEEEFEE 2
assets NE:N 8 - (38)
Interest received 2 & 8,122 16,690
Net cash used in investing activities & & EBFTAZ
FRE (213,369) (236,365)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE="ZT=-=F=A=+—HI-FE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7TA17R)

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-Z
Note $000 $'000
Bt 5 Fr T
Cash flows from financing activities BMEFTEHZ2H &
mE
Interest paid BT H B 17(b 43,130) (36,454)
Payment for the repurchase of shares [21 8 i% 17 2 14 5K 19(b) - (3,011)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ##R{TfEE ~
FT1§ & 17( 479,120 792,683
Repayment of bank borrowings EEEITEE 17(b) (1,016,935) (517,702)
Capital element of lease rental paid B[NEEHEE 2
NI 17(b) (7,544) (5,151)
Interest element of lease rental paid BN HEH T~
I S 2B 17 17(b) (814) (678)
Payment for acquisition of related WEERREA LR
parties, Jiaxuntong and Kar Info #38 K& Kar Info
International Property Limited (“Kar  International
Info International”) Property Limited
([Kar Info
International))
PANEA - (45,725)
Dividends paid 2k & E (161,705) (252,211)
Increase/(decrease) in pledged EWEZzENS
deposits ORL ) 79,041 (83,164)
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon 17 {5 i & # 1& 17
exercise of share options f&% 10 2 BT 15 3% 19(c) 105 6,418
Net cash outflow from distribution in E# 5k 2] &
specie TR 18 (397,297) -
Net cash used in financing activities &% &8 A2
FHRE (1,069,159) (144,995)
Net (decrease)/increase in cashand BRERBREZEY
cash equivalents ZFORL)
& in (661,504) 167,271
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNZRER
beginning of the year BRe%EYD 17 839,509 662,838
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEERSE 2
changes e (18,560) 9,400
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FEZHR &K
of the year REeEEY 17 159,445 839,509

The notes on pages 122 to 274 form part of these financial — ZE122F 2748 7 T BRI E MK 2 —
statements. S o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

1

122

GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in

- Metal and Plastic Business (“M&P”): providing
mechanical engineering solutions, manufacturing
and sales of metal and plastic parts, mainly
including moulds and the relevant plastic
and metal parts products for information and
communication technology industry, etc.;

—  Electronic Manufacturing Services Business
(“EMS”): manufacturing and sales of magnetic
tape data storage, point-of-sale system, and other
computer peripherals, etc.; and

- Real Estate Business: urban renewal, residential
real estate project investment and development.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Real Estate business segment was disposed and
successfully applied separate listing on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The results of
this business segment have been classified as
discontinued operations of the Group (note 18).

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October 1996. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 16 December
1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in unit of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LB ITTHIR)

2 EESHHEXE

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

(@
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

124

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
On 3 March 2023, in respect of the spin-off and
separate listing of KRP Development Holdings
Limited (“KRP”), a subsidiary of the Company,
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange by
way of introduction, the Board approved and
declared a conditional distribution in specie of all
the KRP’s shares to the Company’s shareholders.
The distribution in specie by the Company was
recognised at the carrying amount of the net
assets of KRP and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “KRP Group”) attributable to the
owners of the Company as the directors of the
Company considered that KRP was ultimately
under the control of the same parties before and
after the distribution. Following the distribution,
the Group held no interest in KRP Group and
KRP Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company. KRP Group is engaged in development
and sales of residential properties in the fast-
developing residential markets in Dongguan,
Huizhou and Foshan in the Greater Bay Area. On
23 March 2023 (the “Distribution Date”), all the
Company’s equity interests of KRP Group were
distributed to the owners of the Company. KRP
Group’s profit for the period from 1 April 2022
to 22 March 2023 was presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
and the comparative figures have been restated
accordingly. Details of the discontinued
operations are set out in Note 18.

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2023 comprise the Group
and its interest in associates. The measurement
basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, other financial assets and
employee benefit liabilities which have been
measured at fair value. Disposal group held for
sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEMBERAE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

126

(9]

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

e Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant
and Equipment: Proceeds Before Intended
Use

° Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets:
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed
below:

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from
deducting the proceeds from selling items
produced before that asset is available for use
from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and the
related costs should be included in profit and
loss. The amendments do not have a material
impact on these financial statements as the
Group does not sell items produced before
an item of property, plant and equipment is
available for use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEMBERAE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9]

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets:
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous, the
cost of fulfilling the contract includes both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts.

Previously, the Group included only incremental
costs when determining whether a contract was
onerous. In accordance with the transitional
provisions, the Group has applied the new
accounting policy to contracts for which it has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022,

and has concluded that none of them is onerous.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(0

(d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

128

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

2

EESRBERE)
d MEBRAARFERERE)

D RIEFHARA
ERSHEERAZHBARE
@ BARSEWREEFFU
FHEZ AT ERIMEEIN
RR - AESKAEBEEE LA
RREREAENEESRE
EERZANER - LEBA
EBAH  AEEREENURQ
B S OF PR RO 5 1 L ) R
B AR THEMNEEFE
ZIMBAGTEIFIE R -

FERERREAMBAR
RS ZY] o BARNERE
RBEARGEZD MK -
FEREREAEAREXEA
ZHEnm o RERE SR KR
cEEAEBEERARE
5l - A S FE AR B B R
RARERFE ARG FARR
BakzEBARBEZ—D
LIERE -

EAEERMB AR 2
BEE I ERREEGE A
HRBXHGAE NEEH#
m RS MRS
& 8B LARBRAE R
w2 EE BETERAERE
Ko HE R s Sk B 1R o



2

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k&5 7H &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal Group that is classified as
held for sale (see note 2(t))).

Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

2

EEg
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(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F #

FESN - ABITTIIR)
B (4)

B AR R IFERERS(E)

EAEBMKEWNBRAR 2 IE
%Uﬁé AR HEZHB AR Z
EEHERAR  EWSSE
TEEATE SHER - RKEWEB
NEEHEER - DR
BZRIMBARERSEEAR
FEER MZeBEBHESR
REMEESVNERZAT
B k(EB) I ERR
B RRIIRE 2 A (R MR
2(e)) °

RARR B AR R P2 R
BRRZIRE  BEUANBER
éJr B (B & 18 51 BR (R fE2(k)
i) BRIFRE DB RFER
fﬂi@%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
2 EE R (M EE2m))

BERQT

BE R REARENUYHHE
EEEELEEATE B
SEB G MEERK - BIE

BH R ARZEHEEEEZ

Fl

)ﬂﬂ&l
km&

129



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

130

(e)

Associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of
the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment,
and any direct investment into the associate that
forms part of the Group’s equity investment.
The Group determined the cost of investment
in associate in the step acquisition as the sum
of the original consideration paid for the initial
interest plus the consideration paid for any
additional interest. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and
any impairment loss relating to the investment
(see note 2(k)(ii)). At each reporting date, the
Group assesses whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group'’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEMBERAE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Associates (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest
is reduced to $nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investees, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

132

)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless it is determined that the
fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss and where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i) Investments other than equity
investments
Non-equity investment held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

—  Amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(w)(iv)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k&5 7H &

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i) Investments other than equity
investments (continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling), if
the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

2

134

)

(g)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(ii) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the other
financial assets revaluation reserve until
the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
other financial assets revaluation reserve
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, if
any, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets and land use rights) are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation or
amortisation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

[tems may be produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. The proceeds from selling any such
items and the related costs are recognised in
profit or loss.

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

136

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction-in-progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery, installation,
testing and other direct costs. No depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time
as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in below.

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. The annual rates used
for the calculation of depreciation are:

Over the lease term

Land use rights and
leasehold land

- Buildings 2% to 4%

—  Fixtures and leasehold 8% t0 33.33%
improvements

- Machinery 6.67% to 20%

—  Tools and equipment 20%

-~ Furniture and computer 15% to 33.33%
equipment

—  Properties leased for ~ Over the lease term

own use

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@i

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses

whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration. Control is conveyed where the

customer has both the right to direct the use of

the identified asset and to obtain substantially all

of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease

component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2
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@

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 EESHBEE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(w)(iii) and
2(k)(i)). Any difference between the initial
fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(i) HEEEE)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F #

EREBANE)

AREEERE 2N
NEBEBHEUREBEBAR
ABESH P AT B 2 B
BEHEEESFBR (R
FE200)() ~ 2w) (i) F2(k)
NZEREEESHAA
Rhkikez0m A FE
HEHE EFRNEEAR
RENBINEERNTK K
A AEEEKAR -

EHRBANEEE SR
AKBEENRELES)
HAKEBRREERT
BAFEMN 2 2B A T &
EE(E AR EMFE
AEBEREAEMITE

BE - THRILERE
EmELE /R &AH

ANEFHEREAME -
EEEABENIL TR E
N EH  HEREA
B 2 R A 48 R
BRMEREEEY
EEEDEREST A
SR -

139



Notes to the Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leased assets (continued)

2
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@

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group presents right-of-use
assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents lease liabilities
separately. The current portion of long-
term lease liabilities is determined as the
principal portion of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components,
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone

the Group allocates

selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(w)(iii).

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Operating rights acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation of intangible assets

is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis

over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are

reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

142

k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the
following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank deposits,
restricted deposits, trade and bills
receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(n)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including debt securities and equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling), are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present values of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

—  12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

2

144

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEEGTBEAE)

(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets k) CEFEREEZRE(E)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) THRIEBERENEEZ

and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx5HH

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument

a financial

assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractual due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2

146

(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to
the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEFBERAE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(w)(iv) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEEGTBEAE)
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and Impairment of assets k) CEFEREEZRE(E)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) THRIEBERENEEZ
and contract assets (continued) EEEBBE(EZ)
Write-off policy i 8H B3R

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii) Impairment of other assets (if)

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

-  intangible assets;

- goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash generating unit).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2

150

(CONTINUED)

k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

(ii)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or Group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use
(if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEEGSTHBEE)
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) CEFEREEZRE(E)
(continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and (i) PEABF AR E R IRE
impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim

financial reporting, in respect of the first six
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(i) ©

months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k)(ii)).

RPHEAZHMS R
EEREBEITEEE
& BRI OB - BIfE R
HPHERAMBREFE
loss, would have been recognised had the MREETREN G
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Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of other financial assets
are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller

period relates. Consequently, if the fair
value of another financial asset increases in
the remainder of the annual period, or in
any other period subsequently, the increase

is recognised in other comprehensive
income and not profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

2

152

M

Inventories and other contract costs

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value as follows:

(i) Manufacturing
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method and comprise all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEEFBERAE)
(CONTINUED)
()  Inventories and other contract costs (continued) ) BEEREGRRKE)
(ii) Property development (i) MEERE
Cost and net realisable values are PR AN A] B3R FE 2 E
determined as follows: ET
Property under development for sale - BEEREME
The cost of properties under FRERYMEZK
development for sale comprises N B HE B A RE R

specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of land, aggregate
cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Completed property held for resale

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group, cost is
determined by apportionment of
the total development costs for that
development project, attributable to
the unsold properties. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling
price less costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

The cost of completed properties
held for sale comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location
and condition.

When
carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is

inventories are sold, the

recognised.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2
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M

Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Property development (continued)

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is
recognised for the right to recover products
from customers sold with a right of return. It
is measured in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(w)(i).

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 2(l)(i) and
(i), property, plant and equipment (see note
2(h)) and intangible assets (see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained (for example, an incremental sales
commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods
or services in the future; and are expected
to be recovered. Costs that relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable
to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments
to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset

Impairment losses

exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet

services to which the asset relates,

been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is
set out in note 2(w).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(m) Trade and other receivables

2

156

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note
2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(w)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional
(see note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(w)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customers, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

When the contract includes a significant
financing component,
includes interest accrued under the effective

the contract balance
interest method (see note 2(w)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expenses is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(y)).

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

158

)]

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Retirement plan — Long service
payments

The contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are charged as an expense
in the year as the related services are
provided by employees.

2

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

EESHBERE)

(r

BERF

(i)

(if)

(iii)

BREZABRHZERN

BREFAZEFBRERH
RERBREERESR
R HERSHR
EREBERMHEZ RS
mEL 2 FREEHR
BHRBESFEBEED
- BEFZAZRR
REBRIMERR HEE
BEEAKREBESL -

RikEEHE

REBARETERM
HETE - RXETEIN AL
BARG - &HHBER
EEEHERHRT —
BUER - WMESILE
HNBERHEERNMABRE
EREMRNERAZ
BERBMHREH &K
KB EAELMETER
BE g — S K - H
R B B A B BE R R
RE®RNER Afex
8057 B £ 3R A B AT 2
Z BB PTIE 2 KM
e BNEFIRBE S
AR SRR KA SR
ERREE -

RIS - REBRBE

NEBEFERKREZ
H AR M B B B 1R AR
BeFERERNERERX
35 e



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEFBERAE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(r) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Retirement plan — Long service
payments (continued)

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in respect
of long service payments on cessation of
employment under certain circumstances is
the estimated discounted amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit
method, taking into account offsettable
accrued benefits related to the Group’s
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme
contributions.

The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method, discounted
to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. The
discount rate is the yield at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related
liability. The actuarial gains or losses are
credited or charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current
period.

Other compensations

Other directors’ and employees’
compensations are recorded as a liability
and charged to profit or loss when the
Group is contractually obliged or when
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and the associated
services are rendered by the employees.

r BEERANGE)

(iii)

(iv)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

160

(s

Share-based payments

The Company operated an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the
Company received services from employees
in return for the granting of equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance
conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the
entity over a specified time period); and

— excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting
period, the entity revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to the
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash received for the shares issued when the
options are exercised is credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEMEBERE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s

(®

Share-based payments (continued)

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to employees of a subsidiary
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in the subsidiary,
with a corresponding credit to share-based
compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued)
or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished from
the rest of the Group and which represents a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

162

(u)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

164

(u)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair values in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(g), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those
assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when
the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 EEEMEBERE)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

v)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities,
if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

(u)

(v)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

166

v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

2

EESHBERE)

(v)

(w)

EHERIAREEE)

fid A~ — £ B A N 5 B
TTEIESRERI AT 25 -
AZEEEBERIARAE
TURE - HEHREEN &
b Z T RE AR B RIBR SN o AT
EHERZETER —RA%Z
BARAREHELERIELEZ
BRATHEEEESDFE) ITF
REABBETARKE - LR
AN 2107 2 B BE M R DR
AR S

—_

WBE-HBEERTZED
HEMIHBEAGHES —THE
BAAERETHEEZRA
HMEERR BREBEE -
REEZSHRERNZE
w2 RMEE -

a

WA R E A
EREREARAEEEHRA
BEBBRET  HEEM - 17
AR S A & 7 A 4e EH
ANERAEE2EE  ~&H
# ez Was D A WA -

EEMZEGRERRER
B RBRASBERMAERE
BAERESBEERWA
TEERREF=ZTJTKRRZZ
B WATBREERIH
I ER - WMBRERE ST
o



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EESTHBEE)
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

w) WARHEMBAGE)

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the
effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of manufacturing goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is
recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Any
advance payments received from customers
prior to delivery of goods are recorded as
contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).

In the comparative period, revenue
from sales of manufacturing goods was
recognised when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products and the related risks and rewards
of ownership and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

2

168

(i)

(iii)

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the property
is accepted by the customer, or deemed
as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier, which is the point in
time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Deposits and instalments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position under
contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).

To the extent that the advance payments
from customers are regarded as providing
a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest accreted on
the contract liability under the effective
interest method during the period between
the payment date and the completion date
of legal assignment. The discount rate
applied is reflective of the rate in a separate
financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(y).

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx5HH

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (continued)
(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

2(k)(i).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expenses.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2

170

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the
year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)
(ii) Transactions and balances (continued)
The results of operations with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollar at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve.

On disposal of an operation with functional
currency other than Hong Kong dollars,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

2

172

(2)

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members
of the same Group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7

EEg

(2)

sHERE(E)

BEREAL

(a)

fBATAL - BIZAL
AT ZIMRERE
B 5 R E

(i) BHAAREEZES
1 =k HK [R] 422 il 4

(il BARAEEBEEKRY
25

(i) AR EERAEE

BRAAZEEER
MR ATFUE AL - 8
—EERARESHE

(i) EE%EﬁEIE
A—%BZKER
(BP&&RFE] - I‘ﬁ%
NSNS =N
AR UL AEE) -

iy " ERRARZ—E
RN A
TtEE—EEA
EETKERRZ
ERAlgEERE
mME—ERBAREH

KB ARF]) -

iy WEAEREHY AR —
BE=ZhH2A %D
%O

ivy " BERAFEF=FFE
BoEEEMm
F—EBAZFE=
HFEBREBZBZAN
E—JO



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(z) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(v)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
note 2(z)(a).

A person identified in note 2(z)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group'’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be

expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments,

and the amounts of

each segment item reported in the financial

statements,

are identified from the financial

information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the

purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
2 EEEMBERE)

2

3

174

SIG

NIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(aa)

(ab)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

Upon loss of control of a subsidiary through
distribution of shares in the subsidiary to
the shareholders of the Company where the
subsidiary is ultimately controlled by the same
parties both before and after the distribution, the
Group (a) derecognises the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at
the date when control is lost; and (b) measures
the distribution and the liability to distribute
non-cash assets as a dividend to its owners
at the carrying amount of the net assets to be
distributed.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF
(@)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

3 HBEREEREMIAQAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s
Finance and Accounting department (“Group
F&A”) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group F&A identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units. The Board is
responsible for overall risk management which
covers currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and cash
management.

The Group’s exposure to the aforesaid risks
and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(i) Currency risk

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong
and the Mainland China and most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in HK$, United States
dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Currency risk arises from commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations
that are denominated in a currency that
is not the entity’s functional currency. As
HK$ are pegged against US$, management
considers that the Group is mainly exposed
to foreign currency risk with respect to
Renminbi. Management will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will
take measures to minimise the currency
translation risk. The conversion rate of
Renminbi to foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
Government.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
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(@)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HBBEKBREEREMIAAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ HMBEBREZEGE)
(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) IR (E)
The following table details the currency MR AREE A EE
portfolio of the Group’s monetary assets/ ERIEGEUINEA
(liabilities) denominated in a currency EBAEMNCEBEE
other than the functional currency of the E/(afzasis -
entity to which they relate. For presentation RIERE  LEEZ
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are TR AR EHRENEIE
expressed in HKS$, translated using the spot K WEABTTHIR
rate at the end of the reporting period:
At 31 March 2023
—EZ=f=ZfA=+-H
HK$ UsS$ RMB Others
BT EH AR® Hitr
$/000 $'000 $/000 $/000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Trade and bills receivable 2% % Z & FE U B
and other receivables R CE A B R
BR — 496,266 1,142 18
Other financial assets HiemEE — 13,067 — —
Cash and bank deposits & R #1775 7 4,224 105,860 2,507 1,523
Amounts due from related &4 %38 12 7] R 5%
companies — — 705 —
Trade payables BHEMER — (238,611) (43,500) (154)
Accruals and other st B A R Eth fE
payables N — (19) — —
Amounts due to related  JE{T = A A BR 3K
companies — — 3,795) —
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 BMEERREEREMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ MERBERE)
Currency risk (continued) (i) SpERR(E)
At 31 March 2022
“TZZ%= A=+—H

HK$ US$ RMB Others

BT ey AR Hity

$000 $000 $'000 $'000

T T T T
Trade and bills receivable &5 & =15 e U iR
and other receivables M H AR

R - 572,876 1,441 10

Other financial assets HEemEE - 19,514 - 9,702

Cash and bank deposits & R #1775 % 4,229 96,110 2,133 1,507
Amounts due from related &Y E & A 5] BR

companies - - 636 -

Trade payables BHEMER - (252,708) (42,112) (68)
Accruals and other [ ERREME

payables ERR - (108,832) (133) -
Amounts due to related BB ERF KRR

companies - - (3,611) -

At 31 March 2023, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the RMB
with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year and retained
earnings would have decreased/increased
approximately $1,788,000 (2022:
$1,735,000 decreased/increased), mainly
as a result of the net foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of Renminbi-
denominated trade and other receivables,
cash and bank deposits, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings.
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group'’s
profit after tax (and retained earnings) and
other components of equity that would
arise assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rate of HK$ against the RMB had
occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk, including inter-company payables
and receivables with the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2022.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets/liabilities acquired at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and bank deposits which are
primarily issued at variable rates.
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3 HEEREEREMIAQAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)
(ii)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s interest-bearing assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting
period:

(%)
(@)

At 31 March 2023

MHEREEGE)

(i)

R 2% L B (42)

TR TR RS 1R A
EEBEAERAER
2B

At 31 March 2022

ZE-CZEZA=+-B ZE-ZF5=R=1-H

Effective Effective
interest interest
Note rate % $'000 rate % $'000
iz BERF = Tr EEAZ T
Fixed rate interest-bearing EEfREREE/
assets/(liabilities): (Bf):
Deposits with banks with 3~ =EARERZEH 2
months or less to maturity RITER
when placed 17 3.18% 31,314 0.42% 18,000
Key management insurance ~~ EEZERERRAY
contracts 13 2.01% 13,067 2.01% 19,514
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 5.24% 9,737) 513%  (20,576)
Variable rate interest-bearing  FEFIRHEEE/
assets/(liabilities): (Bf):
Pledged deposits EARR 16 — — 1.61% 84,539
Restricted deposits LR 7R 17 - — 1.63% 397,961
Cash at bank ROER 17 0.01% 127,143 0.01% 422,227
Bank borrowings RORE 23 5.04%  (652,372) 2.94% (1,201,184)

At 31 March 2023, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rate had

increased/decreased by 50 basis points, the

corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings and interest
income from bank deposits at variable rates
will result in a net decrease/increase in the
Group’s post-tax profit by approximately
$2,088,000/$2,711,000 (2022: decrease/
increase by $491,000/$2,560,000).
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained earnings) and other
components of equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates.
The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2022.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a
counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group and is managed on a Group
basis. The Group’s credit risk mainly arises
from financial assets and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding trade and other receivables.
For banks and financial institutions, only
independent parties with high credit rating
are accepted.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

HERBEEREMITALTE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. There is
a concentration of credit risk in respect of
trade and bills receivable as the Group’s
sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. At 31 March 2023, the trade and
bills receivable from five largest customers
accounted for approximately 85% (2022:
86%) of the total trade and bills receivable.

Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables

Credit risk in respect of other receivables,
the Group monitors the exposures
and manages them based on historical
settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecast of future
economic conditions.
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(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(iv)

Amounts due from related parties

Credit risk in respect of amounts due from
related parties are limited given that the
Group assesses and closely monitors their
financial conditions and the related parties
have sufficient reserves of resources to settle
the amount as they fall due. Therefore, the
ECL allowance is considered insignificant.

Cash and bank deposits (including restricted
deposits)

The credit risk on cash at banks (including
restricted deposits) is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies. Transactions in relation to
derivative financial instruments, if any, are
only carried out with financial institutions
of high reputation. The Group has policies
that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any one financial institution. Cash and
cash equivalent are normally placed with
major licensed banks. Management does
not expect any of these licensed banks or
financial institutions to fail to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities. The Group aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available at all times.
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3 UHEREEREMIAAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities classified into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period
to the contractual maturity date (without
consideration of covenant breach as
disclosed in note 23). The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows.

Balances due

(%)

(@)

BMERBEEE)
(iv) "EVE SRR (Z)

IATFINEDMAEE 2 &
BMEE  ZRERHRE
HRESRNIHBEATH
MADBEERAHIHAE
Bl (2 B M 5E 23 B 4
BZERRSE) - KPP
RESERANAME
ZHRERE - ARELIA
ZHEBWTEKR W+

within twelve months equal their carrying A& A w2 E Z o
balances as the impact of discounting is not HEEEERS
significant.
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AEATRRAER
Between  Between
Carrying  Less than 1and 2and 5
amount 1 year 2 years years Total
kAR IR-% -E@MF ZEIF aft
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r r r r
At 31 March 2023 R-B-ZF
ZR=t-H
Trade payables EOY T 350212 350,212 - - 350,212
Accruals and other payables BT & B 2 At e ¢
E 481,179 481,179 . - 41179
Amounts due to related ENBERRN
companies 3,848 3,848 - - 3,848
Amount due to an associate  JEfTEEE A RBR L 3,895 3,895 - - 3,895
Lease liabilities HES % 9,737 6,956 3,171 - 10,127
Bank borrowings RITEE
— without repayable on /Xﬁ&xﬂg &
demand clause e 466,000 186629 299,392 - 486,021
— with repayable on demand —~ MG EK(EE
clause Ex 186372 91996 53121 50984 196,101
1,501,243 1124715 355,684 50,984 1,531,383
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(@)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HMEEREERSMIAATE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (&)
Financial risk factors (continued) @ MERBERE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (ivy "BE SRR E)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARRFRB ML
Between Between
Carrying  Less than T and 2 and
amount 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
REE SR-F -EZmF ZEnF af
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
At 31 March 2022 RZZ__F
=ZR=t+-H
Trade payables BHRTEN 375,951 375,951 - - 375,951
Accruals and other payables BT & B R At e 4
R 1,143,981 1,143,981 - - 1,143,981
Amounts due to related FEREERRRN
companies 3,664 3,664 - - 3,664
Amount due to an associate  JEfTEEZ AR BRI 1,532 1,532 - - 1,532
Lease liabilities MEEE 20,576 8,800 7,926 5,346 22,072
Bank borrowings RITEE
— without repayable on -REREXER
demand clause 3 1,151,228 715,667 181,511 297,378 1,194,556
— with repayable on demand — M A2 EEE
clause G 49,956 24,014 6,192 1,281 31,487
2,746,888 2,273,609 195,629 304,005 2,773,243
Capital risk management by ELERBEE

(b)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue

as a going concern in order to provide returns
for equity shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to

reduce debt.
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3 UHEREEREMIAAFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Capital risk management (continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the
Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total bank borrowings and lease liabilities less
cash and bank deposits (including pledged and
restricted deposits). Total capital is calculated
as the total equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s strategy, which is unchanged from
prior year, is to maintain an acceptable net
gearing ratio. The net gearing ratios at 31 March
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(%)

(b)

EeRBRE IE(%“T’;)
HEREMAR 1 AEH
A 5$E1§tt?ﬁt?¥ﬁ§$
It B R % BROF 8 B B RR A 48
BEARGE ﬁrfﬂf%%ﬁt’jfﬁﬂ
fEERBENEBEEABREAR
KIETFER(BREHE R
HlFER) c MERRERAE
(A B AR KA -

REEZ RMETFE
%%E%T&EZ@ELt
KoRZBEZ=FRZFT=-_=
FZA=+—RAZFRITEE
AT

2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=

$’000 $'000

Fr Tt

Total bank borrowings RITIEERSE 652,372 1,201,184

Lease liabilities izl ‘*Eﬁ 9,737 20,576
Less: Cash and bank deposits e MIRTT

T (159,445) (441,548)

Restricted deposits X BR il 77 3K - (397,961)

Pledged deposits FHEFER - (84,539)

Net borrowings FEE 502,664 297,712

Total equity EmRE 936,762 1,696,552

Net gearing ratio FEEL X 54% 18%
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(9]

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision
for trade and bills receivable, other receivables
and trade and other payables are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The Group has a team headed by the Assistant
Accounting Director performing valuations for
the insurance contracts which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in fair
value measurement is prepared by the team at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial
Officer. Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the Chief Financial Officer is held
twice a year, to coincide with the reporting
dates.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3 HMEERKREERSMIAEQAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
(c) Fair value estimation (continued) (© 2DFEMEF(E)
The following table presents the Group’s financial R-_TE_=F=A=+—8"
assets that are measured at fair value on a AREBENUKLEEERQAFE
recurring basis at 31 March 2023: FAAEEWRCcEemMEENT:
2023 2022
—E-= —F - -
$000 $'000
Frx Tt
Assets: BE:
Level 1 F—
— Listed equity securities (note 13) — £ X # & %
(M 5E13) - 9,702
Level 3 F=I=
— Key management insurance — EBREEE
contracts (note 13) REE %
(Bff 7%13) 13,067 19,514
13,067 29,216

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included
in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in Level 3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 3
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(9]

Fair value estimation (continued)
Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

—  The fair value of structured foreign exchange
forward products is determined using
Monte Carlo simulation, taking into account
of observable market parameters such
as forward exchange rates, volatility and
interest rates at the reporting date.

- Other techniques, such as discounted cash
flow analysis including dividend growth
model, are used to determine fair value for
the remaining financial instruments.

There were no transfers of financial assets/
liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3

fair value hierarchy classifications.

Information about Level 3 fair value

HHERRBEEREMITIAQTE

(%)

(© 2DFEMGEE)
AUEESRITAZEEME
I RIEIECTE

- RB\ERIAZHISERE
ARHERE -

- EEMIIERHERZ
NEEFARHREIR
WEEE DEEA
BIR2MBL2E flm
RBEA 2 RHEER

8 R -

- HbrAly o fIanRh R R
iﬁ%%ﬁ'@%%%
BEENX BUEBER
HEMTAEZAFE-

%— F_HE-ERFEE

BoOBP AL BESREE

EﬁZL%

FHEFE=-"EQAFVEFEEHN

measurements

Significant

Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range  Weighted average

FABR
it B #1i7 EXYE gE ¥
Key management insurance Discounted cash Discount rate 2.0%-2.01% 2.01%
contracts flow model (2022: 2.0%-2.01%) (2022: 2.01%)
EZEEERRAN RRRTNE) BRE 2.0%-2.01% 2.01%
(ZE- % (Z2-—fF:
2.0%-2.01%) 2.01%)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of insurance contracts is
determined using the discounted cash flow
model. The duration of the cash flows and
the specific timing of inflows and outflows
are determined by conditions in accordance
with the terms of the respective insurance
contracts. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross redemption value and interest income
less surrender charges. The series of periodic
net income for the contracting periods is then
discounted. The fair value measurement is
negatively correlated to the discount rate. As at
31 March 2023, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase
in discount rate by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group’s other comprehensive
income by $1,855,000 (2022: $2,675,000).

The movement during the year in the balance

BREREERESMIAAFE

(%)

(© AFEMGEE)
REEHzAFETIERBR
BIAESRELZET - BHER
EZHRAERARRL Z
HFERBEDRESRBELNZ
BGCREET - THRERED
HErBBEEREAE KT EK
NRERER - A0HMZ—
EETFHFWRATIFAITE -
AT EFTEERIE R R AIR
HoRZE-=FE=RA=+—
H- &aHEE EME s
BETZ2ERT  BMRERD
/A% 5 38 00 AR
Bz BEfb 2 mEUA1,855,0007T
(=== =% :2,675,0007T) °

FNRSE=EATEE

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ZRESRE BT
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Key management insurance contracts EEZEE BRI
=3
Beginning of the year F1 19,514 18,956
Disposal k- (6,794) -
Interest income recognised in RIBEHERZHME
profit or loss WA 321 377
Exchange gain recognised in NIERERZER
profit or loss Y &= - 125
Fair value gain recognised in other FARAEMEZER
comprehensive income during ABERZRYE
the year Y &= 26 56
End of the year FE 13,067 19,514
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value estimation (continued)
There were no fair value losses or gains for the
years included in profit or loss for these assets
held at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the

factors,
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.

(@ Expected credit loss allowance for trade

receivables

The Group maintains a loss allowances of trade
receivables measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL of receivables stated at amortised
cost. The loss allowance is estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factor that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date. If there is a
change in the financial condition of the debtors,
actual write-offs would be higher or lower than
estimated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Write-down of inventories
Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s chief operating decision-maker
(“Management”) reviews the Group’s internal reports
periodically in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into
two (2022: three) major operating segments. They
are (i) metal and plastic business and (ii) electronic
manufacturing services business. Real estate business
was formerly a major operating segment until it
was distributed of during the year ended 31 March
2023, and its results for 2022 and up to the time of
distribution on 22 March 2023 are disclosed in note
18.

Management considers the business from both a
geographic and products and services perspective.
From a products and services perspective,
Management assesses the performance of metal and
plastic business, electronic manufacturing services
business and discontinued operations. In addition,
there is further evaluation on a geographic basis
(Japan, Hong Kong, Mainland China, Asia (excluding
Japan, Hong Kong and Mainland China), North
America and Western Europe). Management assesses
the performance of the operating segments based
on operating profit. Segment information provided
to Management for decision making is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the financial
statements.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is
not provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management and accordingly, no segment
assets or liabilities information is presented.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable
to those segments.
the operating profit generated from the reportable

Segment profit is defined as

segment before finance income, finance cost, share
of profits of associates and income tax expense with
inter segment profit being excluded.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, a reportable
and operating segment of the Group, namely “Real
Estate Business” has been classified as discontinued
operations, as the segment has been spun off as

detailed in Note 18.

The segment information reported below does not
include any amounts for the discontinued operations
(i.e. real estate business), which is described in more
detail in Note 18, and the comparative figures in the
segment information for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been represented.
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 S®WHEGE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2023 BHE_T_=F=A=t+—HI*F
are as follows: EzneEEWT:
2023
—g-=
Electronic
Metal and  manufacturing
Continuing operations FEEEXEE plastic business services business Total
ETE¥
T2EBER RIEH &
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr T
Segment revenue kil ON
Revenue from external customers RENBER ZIWA 1,918,774 1,162,923 3,081,697
Inter-segment revenue D EE A 34,540 - 34,540
Reportable segment revenue wED KA 1,953,314 1,162,923 3,116,237
Gross profit EH 298,176 38,989 337,165
Distribution and selling expenses and DR HEEF R —
general and administrative expenses & RITH & A (94,387) (8,390) (102,777)
Other net income Hi N F 58 5,602 372 5,974
Valuation loss on investment properties # & #) % {# {8 5 18 (29,577) - (29,577)
Segment profit 7 & A 179,814 30,971 210,785
Segment profit includes: FHENEE:

Depreciation and amortisation of nNE BMERREZ

property, plant and equipment TEREE 97,503 3,245 100,748
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEEZEBH 1,553 - 1,553
Reversal of write-down of obsolete and [ & & % $5 77 & #i Al

slow-moving inventories 2 o B (9,445) (365) (9,810)
Recognition of loss allowance for trade & 5 [ 5 1 & Yt Bk 5

and bills receivable BREGZRR 145 248 393
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 2B®mEE)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2022 BHE-_T-_F=A=+—HItHF
are as follows: EznIEHEWOT:

2022 (Restated)

“E-F(BEY)
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing
Continuing operations FEEERE plastic business ~ services business Total
BETEX
TeBBER RIEH &
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
Segment revenue kil ON
Revenue from external customers REMBEREZWA 1,920,032 1,154,981 3,075,013
Inter-segment revenue I ON 32,438 - 32,438
Reportable segment revenue WEDHEA 1,952,470 1,154,981 3,107,451
Gross profit EH 392,597 45,494 438,091
Distribution and selling expenses and DR HEEF R —
general and administrative expenses & R1TH & A (131,939) (12,511) (144,450)
Other net income =N T 7,143 545 7,688
Valuation gain on investment properties % & #) % { & I & 1,967 - 1,967
Segment profit 7 84 M 269,768 33,528 303,296
Segment profit includes: FWENEE:
Depreciation and amortisation of nNE BMERREZ
property, plant and equipment TEREH 93,623 2,564 96,187
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEE  HH 1,548 - 1,548
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) R E & % 8875 & H#UR
of obsolete and slow-moving /(WU 2 B#&)
inventories 1,197 (1,593) (396)
Recognition of loss allowance for trade & % [ = # & Ut BR 5%
and bills receivable BEEEIER 2,001 1 2,002
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5 2BHREE)
A reconciliation of segment profit to profit before 7 80 N B R B RDE A A
taxation is provided as follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E %
(Restated)
(BEF)
$’000 $'000
T T
Operating profit from continuing RE&FELEETBH 2
operations 42 g | 210,785 303,296
Finance income RN 1,504 1,623
Finance costs A 75 B 7R (35,655) (9,876)
Share of profits of associates JE 1k Bt & 2 &) i A 15,157 1,164
Profit before taxation from REBEREEBZ
continuing operations B 35 A1 o A 191,791 296,207

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and
investments in an associates (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of revenue is
based on the country in which the final destination
of shipment is located or services are provided and
properties are located. The geographical location
of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and the
location of the operations to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and investments in
associates.

TR () A E B 2 WA (i) A
SEME - BELREE KEY
¥ BREEERRBEQRRZKRE
(EEFRBEEDFMEHRZE
B o WL A BTTE i [@ 1R 15 S 4% - 38
B 3 AR 75 1R i R W PR
ROBE - BEERBEEMTH
BzED  WMAME -  BERKE
RIEMEDIRBZEERS 2
T mAEREERNLE
BRRIZEREDREBEEM DB E
BT E o
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5 DWEEGE)

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

The Group's revenue
(Continuing operations)

Specified
non-current assets

196

AEEZHA
BEREXER EEXRBDEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECZZH% —E-CE —EC-ZE “ECCF
(Restated)
(BE5)
$'000 §'000 $'000 §'000
Tr T r T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) FE(MED) 1,021,279 932,259 27,081 34,199
Japan B 61,064 126,929 - -
Mainland China FE R 717,603 838,775 908,081 970,016
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and Rl (T BFERA - &R
Mainland China) HEAN) 214,704 179,145 103,448 43,111
North America EEM 666,401 579,823 - -
Western Europe iz 400,646 418,082 - -
Sub-total INE 2,060,418 2,142,754 1,011,529 1,013,127
3,081,697 3,075,013 1,038,610 1,047,326
The Group’s customer base includes four (2022: AEBEOE( T —:=%)
three) customers with whom transactions have BREzRGEBRAEFBRAZ
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. For the year 0% BE-_T-_=F=-A=+—

ended 31 March 2023, the total revenue from sales
of merchandise in the metal and plastic business and
electronic manufacturing services business, including
sales to entities which are known to the Group to
be under common control with these customers,
amounted to approximately $2,684,206,000 (2022:
$2,428,227,000) and arose in all geographical
regions in which the businesses are active. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 3(a)(iii).

The Group’s sales are made primarily to a few key
customers. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the
revenue derived from five largest customers accounted
for approximately 89% (2022 (restated: 91%)) of the
Group's total revenue.
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B 75 ¥R R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 M¥E BMERZE
Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and
rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold land Buildings ownuse in-progress improvements  Machinery equipment  equipment Total
THERER RER BiR
HErH B AENEERA ERIE VES B® IEREE EliikE aft
§'000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000
fr T fr T fr T Tr fr T
Cost: Ba:
At1 April 2022 2
mA-H 3023 343,907 482 105,336 156,959 633,846 76,764 199758 1,511,623
Additions RE - - - 34,263 26,048 48,573 22,382 6,030 137,29
Disposals i - - - - (878) (5,253) (1,20) (216) (7,633)
Reclassification ER ] - - - - 61) 61 -
Exchange adjustments iR LS (1,469) (20,361) (1,260) (8,865) (6,886) (29,905) 4,813) (5,225) (78,784)
Distrbution in specie (Note 18)  E414 R ([ £18) (5,986) (26,970) (2,70) - (14,110) - (36) (7,766) (57,596)
AL 31 March 2023 i
ZA=t-A 07117 296,576 20,853 130,734 161,072 647,322 92,989 132,581 1,504,904

Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and HEFE:
impairment losses:

At1 April 2022 2

EA-A 11,440 98,589 5,590 - 71,021 478,929 44,657 113,137 823,363
Charge for the year ERAR 569 6,763 7,34 - 13,167 46,355 13,755 14,378 102,331
Written back on disposals tEZHE - - - - (878) (4,682) (1,288) (216) (7,264)
Exchange adjustments iR LS (482) (4,549) (266) - (3,033) (20,084) (2,753) 4,315) (35,501)
Distribution in specie (Note 18] £ %773 % (Fi £16) (3,173) (25,862) (611) - (13,544) - (56) (5,427) (48,673)
At31 March 2023 “ECcF

ZAZT-R 8,354 74,942 12,037 - 66,733 500,318 54,315 117,557 834,256
Net book value: FEFE:
At31 March 2023 “E0CE

ZA=t-H 14423 21,634 8,816 130,734 94,339 147,004 38,674 15,024 670,648
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
6  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6 ¥¥  BERR®E(E)

Land use Properties Fixtures and Furniture and

rights and leased for ~ Construction- leasehold Tools and computer
leasehold fand Buildings ownuse in-progress  improvements  Machinery  equipment  equipment Total

THERER KER Rk
BELH By HENZER  EEIR  MERe Bg  IARRE  THRR Ak
§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §000

i T i T T T T T T

Cost: RE:
AT Apil 2021 E-E
mA-A 25,077 331,634 11,172 8,643 121,182 550,546 63,546 127,607 1,239,689
Additions hE - - 21,771 94759 32,316 74,363 11,181 9,609 24399
Disposals ik - - (8,564) - (18) 7933) (228) (1,018) (17,761)
Reclassification EEipt - - - - - - (481) 441 -
Exchange adjustments RBRE 4955 12073 44 1,932 3479 16,670 2,746 2,999 45,696
At 31 March 2022 It St =
=h=t-8 30,232 343,907 U8 105,336 136,959 633,846 76,764 139758 151162
Accumulated depreciation, it E - BHR
amortisation and HEEE:
impairment losses:
At1 April 2021 Z3-F
mA-A 930 86,469 7,730 - 61,054 430,865 29,321 95,306 720,087
Charge for the year RN 591 702 6,19 - 8,13 44,496 14,306 16210 97,118
Written back on disposals At &2 H - - (8,564) - ) (7,933) (225) (1,03) (17,739)
Reclassification ER | - - - - - - (120 120 -
Bxchange adjustments FBRE 1527 4,968 234 - 1756 11,501 1375 2514 23,897
At 31 March 2022 St 3
Zh=t-8 11,440 98,589 5590 - 71,001 478929 44,657 113,137 823,363
Net book value: RERE:
At 31 March 2022 - Sl
zh=t-8 18,792 43318 19.31 105,336 85,936 154917 32,107 26,621 668,260
Depreciation expense of $90,736,000 (2022: ¥r & & # 85 B A 990,736,000
$89,701,000), $10,012,000 (2022: $6,486,000) and T(ZFE = = : 89,701,0007T)
$1,583,000 (2022: $931,000) has been charged to cost }%10,012,0000(= & — — #F:
of revenue, general and administrative expenses and 6,486,0007T) 1,583,0000(— =
discontinued operations, respectively. — Z % :931,0007T) 2 Bl A M A
A —MRITHERARBERIEK

BT -

198 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7



6

(@)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6

Right-of-use assets
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets at
their net book values are analysed as follows:

ME BMERREE)
@ FHAEEE

AEBEERBEEE R
REBREFESNWT

2023 2022
—EZ=HF =
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Leasehold land and buildings in REEFAZLHE
Hong Kong, held on leases St METFT
between 10 to 50 years (note (i) 102504 2
& (P =) 1,665 1,768
Land use rights and buildings in the 7 Bl H + i
PRC, held on leases between 10 {# BA# KiETF
to 50 years (note (ii)) 10E50F 8 2
& (KT £ (i) 234,392 262,342
236,057 264,110
Properties leased for own use HEMERERZH
carried at depreciated cost B2 p A (B 5
(note (iii)) (iii) 8,816 19,231
244,873 283,341
(i) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong (i) EEaEHELHEE
Kong held for own use FHEBA
The Group holds several buildings for its AEBRFEE TEBTIE

office and warehouses. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based
on rateable values set by the relevant
government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 6

6

200

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Land use right and buildings in the PRC
held for own use
The Group holds several buildings for
its factories. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including
the underlying land use rights. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

(iii) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use
other properties as its warehouses through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years with
no extension options. None of these leases
includes variable lease payments.

Buildings leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out an insignificant portion of
factories located in PRC under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
year. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments. Undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
the coming year is $nil (2022: $nil).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F=-=

$’000 $000
T T
Beginning of the year F ¥ 332,961 317,420
Additions /,J\E 137 90
Fair value (loss)/gain NFE(ER), W (29,577) 1,967
Exchange differences HpmER (21,656) 13,484
End of the year FE 281,865 332,961

The investment properties are under construction
and located in the PRC under lease terms of 40 years
expiring in August 2050 to January 205T.

Fair value measurement of properties

(@) Fair value hierarchy
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the fair
value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

RABZERTREVEIRIE
REBOTE(RZZRAZTFNAE
“Eh-F-ARH)zHEHMm
SR

NEZAFEFE
@ 2FEREHR
RZEZ=F=A=+—HK
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$E@&§W¥Z Y& 5t
EREBUFHREENSF
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

7

202

(@)

(b)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The valuation of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 March 2023 was conducted
by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory Limited,
an independent professional valuer, which has
among its staff members of Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. The investment properties were
valued on the basis that it would be developed
and completed in accordance with the Group’s
latest development proposals. The Chief Financial
Officer has discussion with the independent
professional valuer in the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting
date.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation (losses)/
gains on investment properties” on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

7

REWME(E)
ME2LATVEFEE)

(@)

(b)

NEBEEBHRKE)
R-_E-_=9=A=+—8"
REBEZREMERLE LR
¥THENTEBRERA
AlAE - EEEBERBAIE
MmEeres - REMEMHE
EASEETEREZE L
ERREE -EEHPHESE
FHREBETHER  BFY
HBEHRBEZEEN G R
HiTABRE LT HER -

REMEZRTERABTIR
FABmk L Z[WEWEMA
BE(BER) e F8 | —1amE

=7
s ©

FHEFE=-ZERLTEFEZ
a#

Valuation techniques ~ Unobservable inputs Range
i B 5 1 FABREZEE fhEt EE
Investment properties-land ~ Market comparison Adjustment factor on time, size and  -15%—-4%
in the PRC approach location of the properties (2022: -13%—=-3%)
REMZF-RHEz L THLBEA BE-DEEBRUEZABAE -15%—-4%
(ZE-—F:
13%—-3%)
Investment properties- Market comparison Adjustment factor on time, size and ~ -15%-4%
property under approach location of the properties (2022: -13%-
development in the PRC -3%)
BRENE-RABEzER WHLEA BE DEEBRRUECHABRE -15%-4%
ZES (ZEZZF:

-13%—-3%)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

7 REWHEE)

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement of properties (continued)

(b)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The fair value of land that in the PRC classified
as investment properties is determined using
the market comparison approach by making
reference to the comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market was adopted.
The adjustment factors used have been adjusted
for the size and location of the properties. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the adjustment factors on size and location of the
properties.

The fair value of property under development
in the PRC classified as investment properties is
determined using the residual method by making
reference to the comparable transactions or
asking cases as available in the relevant market
and it had taken into account the construction
costs that will be expended to complete the
development to reflect the quality of the
completed development. The adjustment factors
used have been adjusted for the size and location
of the properties. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the adjustment factors on
size and location of the properties.

ME2ATFEFEE)
by ERE=ZERAFEFEZ

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F #

a8 (E)
RFBESBER/REEMEZL
M2 AFETERT SR
EEE - WEREMRBEmISAE
BZALBIHERS - BRZ
HAERNZERVWEZEE R
EETHE RFEAE
HYEmMBENUE 2 BAER
=JHIEEARE -

RABESBERRENMEZE
BWEZRAFETERRG
REE  W2EHREMISAE
BzALLBHER S YW E
Bk RBERBHBIEENER
B - VAR BRE SR B 3 TR B
LEE -ERZHAEBRAERE
BYWERzEBERMUEETH
B -RFEFEEYEES
MuEZHERZKT)IEEH
B o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 ®EBIEEE
Computer
software
BB
$'000
7T
Cost: A
At 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 T _FUA-BR=FE
.. ==®=A=ft—BR 14,450
Accumulated amortisation: Ret#Ee:
At 1 April 2022 —T-_—#mMA—B (9,610)
Charge for the year (note 27) FEH (M E27) (1,553)
At 31 March 2023 —E-=F=ZA=+—H (11,163)
Net Book Value: BRMEFEE
At 31 March 2023 —E-=F=ZA=+—H 3,287
Cost: A
At 1 April 2021 —F-—FWHA—H 14,412
Addition NE 38
At31 March 2022~ ZF__F=A=t+—-H 14,450
Accumulated amortisation: Rt #Ee:
At 1 April 2021 —E_—FWMA—H (8,062)
Charge for the year (note 27) F = bR (P 5227) (1,548)
At 31 March 2022 —F__%=A=+—H (9,610)
Net Book Value: REFEE
At 31 March 2022 —E--_F=ZRA=+—H 4,840

HE-_ZT-_=F=-HA=+—8H1
FZ 1,553,000t @ (— T ==
% :1,548,0007T) BHER GBS
KPR RITHER -

Amortisation of $1,553,000 (2022: $1,548,000) was
included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

SUBSIDIARIES 9  HEATE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the RRARN_FE_=F=A=+—H
Company as at 31 March 2023 are: FTEMBRAIZEF -

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
i/ RILER
& EEREER IRXBREELA BRf/CHRA FERE
Karrie Industrial Company Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Sale of server casings, office Ordinary shares of 100%
company automation products, visual $1,000 Non-voting
accessories, plastic and metal parts, deferred shares of
metal stamping dies and plastic $5,000,000 (i)

injection moulds and provision of
management services, Hong Kong

EHNERARAR ERERREALT BERRENT BOEXEER-  EEKL000T 100%
YRAR ZBReRIN 2R BRERELR
REEAREBRARRAEER 5,000,000 ()

fe=tl]

%R
Karrie Technologies Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Manufacturing and sales of plastic Ordinary shares of 100%
company parts, sales of metal stamping $30,000,000

dies and plastic injection
moulds, provision of electronic
manufacturing services and
investment holdings, Hong Kong
FHRIMRERLA ERARALLT RERBEZRON 2BREER  TBR300000007 100%
Fr2RE RUETERAIR
BREEER &R

Karwin Engineering Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Design, manufacture and sale of Ordinary shares of $10 100%
company server casings, office automation Non-voting deferred
products and visual accessories; sale shares of $100 i)

of plastic and metal parts, metal
stamping dies, plastic injection
moulds and investment holdings,
Hong Kong
FERRIRARLA EEARALAT Rt HERBEARSNF BD EERwOT 100%
EXBERRIRAN HELE ERZRETRI00
LReBRf eERERARE 7Ll
RARRERR %R
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
9  SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 9 KMEITE)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued/ Interest
Name types of legal entity place of operation paid-up capital held
it/ RIBER
tH EERREN IERAREERA BE{T/BARE FERE
REEREREBLCRRAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital 100%
company automation products and metal §174,755,000 (i)
parts, the PRC
FEARRELT RERBENR WOEREERR  CHEZI755,0007 100%
SRR (i
REEREZEBLERRAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Manufacture of server casings, office Paid-up capital 100%
company automation products, visual $128,510,000 (i)
accessories, moulds and plastic
parts; provision of electronic
manufacturing services, the PRC
TEARALLT RERRENT RLENEER-  EHERI8510,0007 100%
PRAN BARZBHAREY ()]
BTEERIRE ¢
REFEETERERDT The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company $428,000,000 (iv)
FEARRIAT RAENE T8 B &£ 7426,000,0007 100%
(iv)
HESNABAERERRAT The PRC, limited liability  Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company US520,000,000 (v)
REERALAT BENX T8 B 55 7%20,000,000% 100%
W)
HEBREZARAT The PRC, limited liability ~ Property holding, the PRC Paid-up capital 100%
company US$16,000,000 (vi)
REARRELT BENX TE B HE716,000,000% 100%
Tovi)
Karwin Thai Advanced Technology Thailand, limited liability ~ Manufacturing and selling of server Paid-up capital 100%
Industrial Limited company casing and metal parts, Thailand THB224,225,000
REBEREMLLAF HERHEERRSENTR B857224,225,000 100%
ReBEH & Fik

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7



(i)

(iii)

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights,
are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled
to distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
$200,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
companies to holders of the ordinary shares.

REBEMZBE2BRS2ER QA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 19 May 2026.

REEMELERBRASEMR AT is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years up to 24 May 2026.

REREETFEXEBRAA is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 25 years up to 18 February 2030.

EHZMNEHERERZEEFR LA is a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 40 years up to 2 December 2049.

BEHEBFEXBMRAAF is a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in the PRC with an operating
period of 40 years up to 22 March 2051.

B B X R (4F)
B A

(i) EXEREERHOHITIFALAEEH
iR - WERNDEREE &
BHZRE - BRIFABATIEER
FHEEAERRREZEEER
200,000,000,0007T : & Bl 3% & i%
NEESZEMDIR °

iy HEBEHEEBEBBRASERAATD
—RPBKI 2 EREINEDE
HE¥WMEATHE  R-T-X
FRA+NALBER -

(i) RxBERZBBRASERAA
—RAPBEKIE2EHRENEDE
HEZEHMRA+TRE  R-T-X
FRHAZTMAER °

(ivy REREEFEXERQAAI RN
FEKZE2ERAIEDLE  HE
EBMBRA_THAF R-_FT=ZF
“AtTNRER -

BHEBAEREZEER AT
RHBEKLZEEHRBINE
¥ HEBXHRAN+TE  RZT
MAFE+—_A-HE®R °

v, EH
)_j_

i)y BEEFEEXEBRARATD —RF
BRI 2EHEBIINEDE  HEE
HRANTF R-ZTH—F=A
Z+ZHE® °
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B 75 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

10

208

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 10 REBEQARIZRE
2023 2022
—_E-=5F —E-=
$’000 $'000
F Tt
Share of net assets EREEFE
Beginning of the year F 9] 21,265 19,266
Associate acquired in Step D AW g R
Acquisition (note (ii)) (B = G ) 47,837 -
Share of profits of associates for AL NIl
the year 15,157 1,164
Share of remeasurement of defined {52 N RIERANRE
employee benefit recognised fh = EE R 2 RE B
through other comprehensive loss T 1&F| E# 5 £
of associate (66) -
Exchange difference HtmER (1,383) 835
End of the year FIK 82,810 21,265
Balances with an associate BB & NTE 2 &R
Amount due to an associate JiE {5 Bt = 0 | BR 3R (B
(note 34(b)) 5F34(b)) 3,895 1,532

The outstanding balances due to an associate are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,

and are denominated in RMB.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 10 REBEATZREE)
Particulars of the associates of the Group are as REEBE AR ZFMABERWT
follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

BRRELA
Place of establishment  Principal activities and Particulars of issued and ~ Group's effective ~ Held hy
Name of associate  and types of legal entity  place of operation paid up capital interest a subsidiary
RIBER

BENTER EEERER IERBREELY BEfT/BARK AEERE ) PNCE2

EREEHZARE  The PRC, limited liability  Research, sales of industrial ~ Ordinary shares of 30% 30%
RAERAFIRE  company robots and robot RMB10,000,000 (2022: 30%) (2022: 30%)
B]) (‘Cuifeng’) peripheral automation 2022: Ordinary shares

equipment, and of RMB10,000,000)
provision of automation
solution, the PRC
(note (i)
PEERALAT WA BEIXBEARE  EER 30% 30%
BARERDEE R AEE0000000T  (ZFZZF: (Z3=2%:
REEBILERAR  (CECFEBR 30%) 30%)
PE () A&H10,0000007)

T. Krungthai Industries  The Kingdom of Thailand,  Manufacturing plastic Ordinary shares of 38.99% 36.99%
Public Co,, Ltd limited liability products, and produce THB350,760,000 (2022:10%) (2022: 10%)
(“TKT") company moulds (note (ii)) (2022: Ordinary shares

of THB237,780,000)
RARRAMLLA REZBUARRERR  TEBRI0760000RK  3699% 38.99%
(Kt & i) ik Sk 53 .1 QR Gk Sk (232 2F:
237,780,000% ) 10%) 10%)
(i)  Cuifeng is a listed corporate entity on the National (i) BERPEARAMEZEAH )
Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC whose CERNDEBRRAGEE ARE
quoted market price is not available. ECE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

10

210

(if)

On 13 November 2020, the Group acquired 10%
of the ordinary shares of TKT with warrants (the
“Warrants”) to purchase ordinary shares of TKT. The
10% shareholdings were previously accounted as equity
investments at FVOCI (note 13). On 4 October 2022, the
Group exercised the Warrants to further acquire equity
interest of TKT (the “Step Acquisition”) and increase
its shareholding of TKT to 38.99%. As a result of the
Step Acquisition, TKT has become an associate of the
Group. The Group determined the cost of its investment
in such associate as $47,837,000, which is the sum of
the original consideration paid for the initial interest
plus the consideration paid for any additional interest
by exercising the Warrants. The excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of TKT's identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, which is
amounted to $15,622,000, is included as income in the
determination of the Group's share of the associate's
profit in the period in which the investment is acquired.
In addition, a difference of $8,361,000, resulting from
the change in measurement between the fair value of the
10% initial investment on the date of obtaining significant
influence over TKT and the original consideration paid
for the initial investment is recognised as a loss, included
in other net income (Note 26). The previously recognised
fair value change in other comprehensive income is also
recycled to retained profits upon the derecognition of the
financial assets measured at FVOCI.

TKT is a listed corporate entity on Stock Exchange of
Thailand whose quoted market price is available.

All of the above associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financia
statements.

10 REBEEQATRAZRE(E)

(if)

RZZEZZEF+—A+=0 &%
ELREEEF(ARESE] KB
TKT 10%E@A% - UEBETKTEE
A% o 3Z10% ML RIE R IE A FE
FFAEMEEIRA 2 RERE AR
(FF3E13) e RZZEZ—F+AMWEA -
AEBETERREIZE—DPWE
TKTRE ([ SR - I H %
TKT 2 AR L PI3E £ 38.99% © AR
DHWE  TKTERK B AEE 2B
BT o AEBEEHRZEEDR
Bl 2 & Bk K &47,837,0005T 0 A
BT EZFzomRENER
T{E R FEM AR EIN B
MZzREZEF - AEBMEGTKT
AHEMNEERGEZATEFE
HHEEK AR ZEH D /15,622,000
T EBEEASEBETWEREH
fel JE 17 B 28 R R m Bl 2 10 R S
HEAWA o o - E10% 95835
EEDMSHTKTERFEERZA
FEENBEE SN2 REEE
2 EB)FT B2 Z 588,361,000
RAKE - FEAE MU A FEE (K
F£26) c RETAHEMEEBAZA
FEZFTRLERRIEQAFE
AAEMEERAZ GREER
BEERFEF -

o

TKTRZ B FE %
MG RE -

RHMEE - LB

N
/|

bt 2B E QR DR ERER
RAMBHRERAR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of the associates

10 REBEQARZREGE)
BRESABRRZEMNEEFRR

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and CHMENTMBEERME - W
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated REMBmE C REEETHER -
financial statement are disclosed below: WEENT
TKT Cuifeng
2ig
31 December 31 March 31 March
2022 2023 2022
—E-= —Eg-= —_E -
+=A = =HA
=+—H =+—H =+—H
$’000 $’000 $'000
F T F F T
Gross amounts of BERNT 2R
the associates
Current assets mEE E 150,084 72,258 55,376
Non-current assets EMBEE 128,961 4,156 5,707
Current liabilities nBBE (131,578) (31,831) (12,582)
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE (11,593) (293) (719)
Net assets/equity BEFE TR 135,874 44,290 47,782
For the
period from
4 October
2022 to
31 December
2022 2023 2022
H-—ZE—-=
+A@EBZE
—E-=
+=A
=+t—B#Hn =—ZTZ=Ff Z—E-_Z
$000 $000 $'000
Fr F T
Revenue A 91,587 37,831 55,809
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EER)/
i A (897) (384) 3,886
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FEZEER)
income for the year YL N L (1,066) (384) 3,886
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Bt 7% AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

10 REBEQARZREGE)

10

212

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

TKT Cuifeng
2ig
31 December 31 March 31 March
2022 2023 2022
—E=-= —_E-= - —
+=HA =A =HA
=+—H =+—8 =+—H
$’000 $’000 $'000
T T T
Reconciled to the Group’s AHEARE
interests in the associate REFERTF 2
&=
Gross amounts of net assets of & A d 2
the associate FEERS 135,874 44,290 47,782
Fair value adjustments on Y B Fh B8 IR 2 ] 2
identifiable intangible assets ~ R\ & EQ
upon acquisition FAE - 30,245 32,349
Fair value adjustment on WHEPREIRZ
identifiable net assets upon AIRFEEE
acquisition N E B 25,816 - -
Capital injection by the Group 7<% B )T & - (13,800) (14,760)
161,690 60,735 65,371
Group’s effective interest REBEZBER
fE 38.99% 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of 7% £ & & {5 B &
the associate RAIEEFE 63,043 18,220 19,611
Goodwill kS - 4,037 4,144
Impairment losses recognised & {8 & 18 5 3 - (2,490) (2,490)
Carrying amount in the ISGRENPV I
consolidated financial FmEE
statements 63,043 19,767 21,265

* The equity interest in TKT was acquired on 4 October
2022. The statutory financial year for TKT is 31
December. The Group has recognised the share of
result of TKT for the period from 4 October 2022 to
31 December 2022. There have been no significant
events occurred to TKT from 31 December 2022 to the
Company's financial reporting date of 31 March 2023.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ER AR 2 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 11 REJN2Ez2E€®MIA

Financial assets measured

Financial assets measured at fair value through other

at amortised cost comprehensive income Total
SRHEERLYE
NEERATEEREE HARBZARA B
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“EC-=E —E-CF —EC-=E —E-CfF —E-=E “E5-CF
$'000 §'000 $'000 $/000 $/000 $'000
n r r r T T
Assets BE
Trade and bills receivables &5k 2 BN
(note 12) B () 558,114 605,903 - - 558,114 605,903
Prepayments, deposits and B3 B4R
other receivables (note 12)  Ef AN E
(F312) 131,736 182,023 - - 131,736 182,023
Other financial assets Kt eREE
(note 13) (i 5E13) - - 13,067 29,216 13,067 29,216
Pledged Deposits ERRR - 84,539 = - = 84,539
Cash and bank deposits and %8 R #1775 31
restricted deposit XRHER
(note 17) (Mﬁm 159,445 839,509 = - 159,445 839,509
Amounts due from related  EMEELEE
companies (note 34(h) (MTEM ) 2,628 39,952 - - 2,628 39,952
851,923 1,751,926 13,007 29,216 864,990 1,781,142
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
DEERATESHERE
2023 2022
—E-=F =
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Liabilities =R
Trade payables, accruals and other & 5 fEfTBRF - FEFH
payables (note 22) B A& H M ENERRK
(Fff 7£22) 831,391 1,519,932
Bank borrowings (note 23) RITEE (M 3E23) 652,372 1,201,184
Amount due to an associate FETEE & AR RN
(note 10) (F$5E10) 3,895 1,532
Amounts due to related companies &1 B & 2 7 BR 5k
(note 34(b)) (P 5E34(b)) 3,848 3,664
1,491,506 2,726,312
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BESREBERWERM BAAX - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES TREMERERRK
2023 2022
—E=-= g
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Trade and bills receivable B 5k E1BERERRK 560,793 608,194
Less: Loss allowance for trade and  Jg& : B 5 & 2 & fE W BR
bills receivable REEREE (2,679) (2,291)
558,114 605,903
Prepayments, deposits and other — FE{J 3K » & & K& EMbFE
receivables I BR K 131,736 182,023
689,850 787,926
Less: Other non-current assets B EMmIERBEE
(note) (B &) (91,842) (43,077)
598,008 744,849
Representing: Ra&k:
Trade and bills receivable, net of B 5N EE EKERFK
allowance MBr R E 558,114 605,903
Prepayments, deposits and other  FE{I3K » & & K& E M0 FE
receivables I BR 3K 39,894 138,946
598,008 744,849
Other non-current assets HM3Ems&E 91,842 43,077
Note: Other non-current assets represent deposits paid for the Mier: HMERDEERKBEYE .
purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible BEREERELEE BN
assets amounted to approximately $91,842,000 (2022: & & %A R,842,0007L (=
$43,077,000). T = —4F 1 43,077,0007T)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The Group generally grants credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days, except for four (2022: four) of the
customers who were granted credit periods over 90
days. An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable,

12

ESREBEWERR - BLER - &
tREMEWREKRRE)

BREAOG(ZZEZZF 0T
FzEHEBiB0BN - REB—#R
BYEPZHEA30HE90H - &
SR EBERRERIZEZHHE

based on invoice date, is as follows: H2HREBEDTOT

2023 2022
—E-Z=F - T

$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 538,647 562,688
91 to 180 days 91£180H 19,430 37,933
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 2,520 7,562
Over 360 days 3608 B4 + 196 11
560,793 608,194

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year. Any amounts not expected to be recovered
within one year are not included in current assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and
bills receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

B REBERPRR  BAR - &
TREMEBRER ZREERE
NFERLT -

%L R AR R TR B — AU
TRsEAHIeE - FAKE
AITBERERNRBHEEN -

AEEESRBRBERBER 2B
BRGBHEAENEATERZ
EHEEBRBRZER ZEBER
BERBEEETHE - ARAKE
CELEEBRERYARARAT
AEPHZBERAEAGTERE =S
2OFAERBHKEZBRERER
ErefE—YEIAKE ZTRE
FE -
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B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

12 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS, 12 BESREBERWERM BAX - &
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) EREMEBEBWRERE)
The following table provides information about the TRENRHEBEELAEBES R
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and SREWRRE SRR XEHE
bills receivable as at 31 March: EEER=A=1+—8:
2023
—®&=-=
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHEEER REAE BEEE
% $’000 $’000
Fr Tr
Current (not past due) ERI(R®H) 0.07 514,242 383
1 to 90 days past due # H1ZE90H 1.50 37,555 564
91 to 180 days past due #1 H1912180H 17.02 8,754 1,490
Over 180 days past due 1 BR180H LA E 100.00 242 242
560,793 2,679
2022
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T B s 1 & FRE#E EERE
% $'000 $'000
T T
Current (not past due) R (KRB HA) 0.00 515,930 -
1 to 90 days past due B E1ZE90H 0.98 82,871 809
91 to 180 days past due #1 B191£180H 11.64 8,953 1,042
Over 180 days past due B HR180H A £ 100.00 440 440
608,194 2,291
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience in the past. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables.

Movement in loss allowance account in respect of
trade and bills receivables is as follows:

12

BEEREERWRR AR &
EREMERERRE)

BHERRENBEZERER
BB o I F N REFHEARBRYE
RS BURHIm 2 EBEMRR - B
AR R0 AN SR (B S R U RR SRTR B R
HZEBERRBECEZEZR -

SOV ES NS
BEEHNT

2023 2022
—®8=-= —T- -

$000 $'000

T TIT

Beginning of the year F 9] 2,291 289

Recognition of allowance during £ A # 2 # 2

the year 625 2,002
Reversal of loss allowance NEFECDHRER

recognised in previous years gz 1o B (232) -

Exchange difference HER (5) -

End of the year FIK 2,679 2,291

The recognition of allowance for impaired receivables
is included in general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

HERMERKERBEBEZERD

BRENGEERART R RITH
ER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

12

218

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of trade and
bills receivable, deposits and other receivables stated
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The credit quality of the Group’s trade and bills
receivable, deposits and other receivables that
are past due but not impaired has been assessed
by reference to the historical information about
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties
do not have significant defaults in the past and
have sound financial position to their liabilities past
due. Therefore, the ECL allowance is considered
insignificant.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 = IR B IR 2 7
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BEEREBRWERNR - BAX &
EREMEBEWRRE)

B8 BB KRR E 2 B AR EE
THEHAEBERFEEARLE B
VUEPHRE - REBBEELR B
BRBHBAMNZSGEHELHRE
B AREEEXRYEEARE
BHEBBEDRE S 2EHKE -

RBERAR EERAR 2 RKRAR
RR LA BSRBEEREER R
TR EMEKERZREE - X
SEYEFBITAIERERZE
Hoan e
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 13 Htte@EE
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E- =
$’000 $000
Fr T
Financial assets measured at BRAVEFAREMEE
FVOCI (recycling) WA(RTE@)FEZ
TREEE
— Key management insurance - BEZEEERRS
contracts (unlisted investments) WOEEEMERE)
(note (i) (BT 5% ) 13,067 19,514
Equity securities designated at RIERESAAEMEE
FVOCI (non-recycling) WA (A EE)
— Equity securities listed outside ~ — & B LA SN 11 iR 4
Hong Kong (note (ii)) & 75 (P 7 (i) - 9,702
13,067 29,216
Notes: Bt 7 -
(i) At 31 March 2023, the insurance contracts represented (i) b”\_gifiiﬂi‘f’ B %R
life insurance plans with investment elements relating BANRAEEMATIRZEEEA
to two key management personnel of the Group. The BZEREBMNZ ANSRE - #F

total sum insured is US$5,440,000 (approximately
$42,432,000) (2022: US$7,081,000 (approximately
$55,232,000), with an annual minimum guaranteed return
of 4.0% to 4.25% for the first 1 years and 2.0% for the
years afterwards.

At 31 March 2023, if the Group terminated the insurance
contract, the account value, net of a surrender charge
of US$1,487,192 (approximately $11,600,000) (2022:
US$2,202,000 (approximately $17,176,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charge
decreases over time and is no longer required from the
19th year of contract conclusion onwards.

The listed equity securities outside Hong Kong are
shares in TKT, an automotive parts and components and
moulds manufacturer in Thailand. The Group designated
its investment in TKT at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the
investment is held for strategic purposes. No dividends
were received on this investment during the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: nil). On 4 October 2022, the
Group has acquired further interest in TKT and TKT has
become an associate of the Group (note 10(ii)).

¥ /55,440,000 7T (#4942,432,000
TTXZZE = =% :7,081 ooo%n(iﬁ
55,232,00070)) * B F R {ERE
RERBEF40%E425% K EEF
F2.0% °

R_ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8"
AEBRIEZRBRAY  RBRE

FHBRERRE AR AI487192F
70 (#911,600,00070) (= F = —F :

2,202,000 7T (4917,176,0007T)) &
HUREIFAEE o BRI EFE R
MALERZANETEETNLE
iTJﬂH&Hw

EENNILETREZESRT
Krungthai Industries Public Co., Ltd
([TKTD Z Befn > TKTT B R GE
MEEN  AMRRARGER - A
REBERBEZEE  A&EHIE
ETKTIRE A% AT EiTA K62
HEARAER) BE-_F_=
F=A=T—BFEAR LE(Z

Fo_FE)BRBEE - R=F

“—F+ANA - AEBE—HU

BTKTZH#H  TKTE K BARER

2 B & R aE (M sE10(0) °
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B 75 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA AN - LAEITHIR)
INVENTORIES

14

220

(a)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of

&

@ NESHMBRARARZIFEER

financial position comprise: ¥

2023 2022
—8=-= —F-—

$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Raw materials JR# H 149,583 190,176
Work-in-progress + 2K m 89,144 97,333
Finished goods 2K f 394,441 490,857
633,168 778,366

The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in “cost
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss (note 27) is as follows:

by FEZZHECHERIA/IHR

EBRmRER

BRARAMEA

A (K 3E27) A 2T -

2023 2022
—s=-= — -
$’000 $°000
Fr T
Continuing operations FREREXK
Reversal of write-down of obsolete [RE& K FH1F E
and slow-moving inventories WO 2 1| 8B (9,810) (396)
Carrying amount of inventories sold E&F & 2
REE 2,307,667 2,148,846
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)
15 PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT COSTS 15 YE¥REREBR A&

2023 2022
—EZ=F =
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Property under development FmERYE
for sale - 184,070
Completed property held for sale i ¥ % - 1,079,717
- 1,263,787
Contract costs & B KA - 4,301
- 1,268,088
(@) The analysis of carrying value of land held for @ FhAVEERLHWZ2EEE
property development for sale is as follows: DA
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
$7000 $'000
Fr TIT
Outside Hong Kong EEBIAIN
— Less than 50 years — PRETF - 112,593
(b) The analysis of the amount of properties b)) MEZeBHEERAIHRK
recognised as an expense and included in “cost EBEREEBRERRANA
of revenue” in the consolidated statement of AR DA AT
profit or loss is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= =
$’000 $000
Fr T
Carrying amount of properties B &Y% 2 RHEE
sold - 228,150
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT COSTS 15 YEREREABRAE(E)

15

16

222

(CONTINUED)

(c) Contract costs
Contract costs capitalised as at 31 March 2022
relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under construction at the reporting
date. Contract costs are recognised as part of
“selling expenses” in the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Contract
costs of $4,177,000 were recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2022. No
impairment was identified for the contract costs
as at 31 March 2022.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS 16
The Group has deposits pledged to secure the Group’s

bank borrowings of $nil (2022: $169,079,000), details

of which are set out in note 23.

The remittance of the pledged deposits placed with
banks in Mainland China are subject to relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B # R B R 2 7

(0

ER R A
ERNAR=-_ZT=_—_F=H
—t+—HEXNMLERKAZHE
S TMELLIESHE
BeEl  HEEEHERER
PRASBRREAIERE
BRAPZMEIILEERE ° &
B ARAEEEESEBA
ERABERGEABEERTP
HEBRABERBES—IBH -
BHE-_E-_—_F=H=+—H
FEA - FFABREZAERKA
A4,177,0007C c R=ZE = —4F
—A=1+—BYEARKANE
H B BRE -

EREX
AEEBEEHRGFERURELASE

B ERTEECE - —F:
169,079,0007T) * #F 18 & 1 MY 7%

23 °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED 17 BERBITERERZIRFERK
DEPOSITS
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: @ BHzLkHAFEMERE:
2023 2022
—E-= —E- =
$’000 $'000
T T
Cash at bank and in hand RITERRRS 128,131 423,548
Deposits with banks with 3 months =1 73k 5 %2 21| Hj
or less to maturity when placed 2 RITF K 31,314 18,000
Cash and bank deposits BRe RRITER 159,445 441,548
Restricted deposits (note (i)) PR i 77 3K
(B #E ) - 397,961
Cash and cash equivalents in the REEREME
consolidated cash flow statement E£H 2R & K
REeEED 159,445 839,509
Notes: Bt 3T -

(M

(ii)

In accordance with relevant government
requirements, certain property development
subsidiaries of the Group are required to set up
designated bank accounts with certain amount
of pre-sale proceeds for the construction of the
relevant properties. The restricted deposits in 2022
represent the pre-sale proceeds to secure the future
payments of the Group’s property development
projects from the discontinued real estate business.
Such restricted deposits will be released for the
payments for construction costs of the related
property development projects or upon completion
of the construction.

The remittance of bank balances of RMB21,035,000
(equivalent to $24,190,000) and RMB624,576,000
(equivalent to $768,228,000) as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 respectively placed with banks
in Mainland China are subject to relevant rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government.

(M

(if)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 £ &

REHREBRERATE A5EH
ETYERBEWNE QR AR
FHYVEERBEEMETE
THEETEEESHER -
ZEZZFIXBRAEGFERE
TEEMBRIE  UWERAE
EEERIAR 2 ARRMAK -
ZEXRH T REREZAE
MYERRBEZEENAR
NI RBR R TT R E R o

EXrR_ZTE-_=ZFK_F
T CHE=ZR=+—HHEAR
B At SR 1T 2 SR 1T 4 B
o R A AR #21,0350007T
(18 & 124,190,0007T) & A
R %624,576,0007C (8 & »
768,228,0007T) 78 38 5F A
B B T BT A8 5 2 S BE B I K
Bl K 35, Al o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED 17 BERBITEARIRHEER
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) (#&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b BMETBFELE2EERAD

224

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

TRAFLEEXRERE RS
BEEY BRASZLIER

TEY METDHEEZE
Fﬁﬁﬁ%;#ﬂiiﬁx
EXAGEEEARERERT
BEARELZIMELRS
mEZARE-

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITRE HESE GRS
(Note 23) (Note 24)
(K E23) (Kt £24)
$'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr
At 1 April 2022 —E-__FMA-H 1,201,184 20,576 1,221,760
Changes from financing MERSREZ
cash flows: 2%
Proceeds from new bank MBITEEZFER
borrowings 479,120 - 479,120
Repayment of bank borrowings B & {75 & (1,016,935) - (1,016,935)
Capital element of lease ENEEREEZ
rentals paid BRED - (7,544) (7,544)
Interest element of lease ENEERS L
rentals paid FEED - (814) (814)
Interest paid ERFE (43,130) - 43,130)
Total changes from financing cash BER &N E
fows o EBEE 68094y (8,358) _____(589,303)
Exchange adjustments REAE (10,997) (1,039) (12,036)
Other changes: Hit#5:
Interest expenses MBS 38,773 814 39,587
Capitalised borrowing costs BEAR{CEERR 4,357 - 4,357
Distribution in specie EN5D Ik
(note 18) (K 5£18) - (2,256) (2,256)
Total other changes HeEEam(E 43,130 (1,442) 41,688
At 31 March 2023 —BC=R
=p=+-H 652,372 9,737 662,109
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED 17 RERBITERRZIRHEFXK
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b BMETBFELE2EERAD
financing activities (continued) (#)
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITEE HEGRE A
(Note 23) (Note 24)
(F37E23) (Bt 5 24)
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tr
At 1 April 2021 —g--#NmA-H 917,466 3,735 921,201
Changes from financing MERERE
cash flows: ZEH:
Proceeds from new bank HIRITIEEZFBR
borrowings \ 792,683 - 792,683
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ EERITEE (517,702) - (517,702)
Capital element of lease ENEERS Y
rentals paid B D - (5,151) (5,151)
Interest element of finance lease BERNMAERE 2
rentals paid MEH D - (678) (678)
Interest paid BERAE (36,454) - (36,454)
Total changes from financing BMEREAEL
Cashlows LT R sy 589 22608
Exchange adjustments RMRE 8,737 221 8,958
Other changes: Hitt %5
Increase in lease liabilities HEGB2EMN - 21,771 21,771
Interest expenses MBS \ 14,060 678 14,738
Capitalised borrowing costs BRLEERR 22,394 - 22,394
Total other changes HebEEam(E 36,454 22,449 58,903
At 31 March 2022 —E_C
=A=+-H 1,201,184 20,576 1,221,760
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B 75 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

17 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED 17
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
leases comprise the following:

RBEeERBOERRSIREER

(&)

c HERESHRHAE
BEERSERERAZEE
ST

2023 2022
—_E-= -

$’000 $'000
i F L

Within operating cash flows REEXBHRS
MEZA 7,279 6,126

Within financing cash flows RBERTRE
Z A 7,704 5,829
14,983 11,955

18 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE 18 EYHIR

On the Distribution Date, in connection with the
spin-off of KRP, the Company’s then wholly-owned
subsidiary, on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange,
all the KRP shares to which the Company was entitled
immediately before the completion of the spin-off was
distributed to the then existing shareholders of the
Company. Following the completion of the spin-off,
the Company does not retain any interest in the issued
share capital of KRP and KRP is no longer a subsidiary
of the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

18  DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 18 BYDIK(E)
The net assets of KRP Group at Distribution Date were REEER S RKAZEEFEN
as follows: Ik
$°000
T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMERE 8,923
Deferred tax asset RIEFLIEE & 127,970
Inventories and other contract costs FEREMERKAR 1,131,649
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — JE{J R « & & F H th 8 Us AR 3K 13,939
Amount due from related companies & Uk 8 B A B BR 3K 12,883
Cash and bank deposits RWe MRITER 397,297
Accruals and other payables FEEtE B K& A FE S BR R (257,895)
Current tax payable 7N H A5 A IR (513,057)
Lease liabilities HEBAE (2,256)
Provision for long service payment RHARK S E®H (180)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBAE (21,067)
Net assets distributed PIREEFE 898,206
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BB RzBHENBECFEMF
in respect of the distribution: pikeelal i UK
$°000
T
Cash and cash equivalent of KRP Group as at RO KA REISEE 2B & K
the Distribution Date ReEEY 397,297
Net cash distributed in respect of distribution BEEY 7k 2 /FH & DIk
in specie 397,297

The consolidated results of KRP for the period from
1 April 2022 to the Distribution Date were presented
in the consolidated statements as discontinued
operations. The consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income distinguished
the discontinued operations from the continuing
operations, and the comparative figures have
been restated to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

FEBE-ZE-__FWA—HENEK
AR A X ERNERA VB HRE
FEJNABERIEREER - L4576
BakEMe2ERARFTHREE
KEXBRIHERIELEER
EREFEEFERFEZRE
B3
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

18 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 18
The summarised financial information of Group
presented below represents the amounts after the
intra-group elimination.

The results of the operations of KRP Group for the
period from 1 April 2022 to the Distribution Date
were as follows:

BWDIK(E)
T2 AEEMPFHEHEE - K
REEANMEELRSHE -

RElEER-_Z-_—_FMOMA—H=ZE
DIKBZEBEEEWT

Period from

1 April 2022 to Year ended
22 March 2023 31 March 2022
H-ZE—-C—
A—HZ
—_E—-= —E -4
=Z=H=+=ZH =ZRA=+—H
B IEFE
$'000 $'000
Fr F T
Revenue (note i) WA (B EED 778,992 938,421
Cost of revenue (note ii) W A B A (B 7 i) (204,280) (228,149)
Gross profit E F 574,712 710,272
Other income A 2,620 3,081
Distribution and selling expenses 7 5 2 35 & & H
(note ii) (M 3 iN) (15,755) (12,745)
General and administrative —REITHER
expenses (note ii) (B 5Eii) (63,004) (35,815)
Operating profit gegmA 498,573 664,793
Finance income B 5 W A 6,939 15,444
Finance costs B 75 B AR (3,932) (4,862)
Finance income, net (note iii) B A FE
(Bt 2 iii) 3,007 10,582
Profit before taxation RR B A% 501,580 675,375
Income tax (note iv) FiT 13 % (FY 5Eiv) (297,725) (380,546)
Profit for the period/year from REERIEREXK 2
discontinued operations R EERR 203,855 294,829
Attributable to: BEAL
Equity shareholders of the ARAREDFTAA
Company 203,855 294,829
Non-controlling interests I % A 25 - -
Profit from discontinued KECKRIEEEEBLS
operations i F 203,855 294,829
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

18 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 18 BEYMZDIK(E)
Notes: B 5 -
i.  Revenue from discontinued operations includes the i KREERIEREEBZWABEIN
following: T:
Period from
1 April 2022 to Year ended
22 March 2023 31 March 2022
—E=-=
A—HBZE
—E-=F —F=-=
=RA=1+=H =RA=+—H
B FFE
$’000 $000
T Tt
Recognised at a point in time under RBEE B P KR EER
HKFRS 15 155 BB
®R
Sales of properties MEHE 778,992 938,421
ii.  Expense by nature: i HUEESBEZER:
Period from
1 April 2022 to Year ended
22 March 2023 31 March 2022
H-E—-C
A—HB=ZE
—EZ=HF —F=-=
=A=+=H =A=+—A
HR IFFE
$°000 $7000
T Tt
Carrying amount of properties sold B & ¥ % 2 BREE 204,280 228,149
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% « B 5 K& E 2
equipment Eiin- 1,059 839
Depreciation of right-of-used asset ~ EFREEE 2T E 524 92
Employee benefit expenses (including EE@EAAL (BEEE
directors’ remuneration) B <) 15,792 12,243
Rental expenses of short-term leases 2 & & 762 573
Net exchange loss/(gain) EREE (W) F8E 8,259 (29)
Auditors’ remuneration % BB B & 1,303 414
Listing expenses FTHER 16,490 9,962
Marketing expense MZHEEE A 16,323 11,842
Other expenses (note) EH S (M aE) 18,247 12,624
283,039 276,709
Representing: K&
Cost of revenue NN 204,280 228,149
Distribution and selling expenses HERHEEER 15,755 12,745
General and administrative expenses — & & 1T & A 63,004 35,815
283,039 276,709
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

18 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED) 18 BYWDIK(E)
Notes: (continued) st : (48)
ii.  Expense by nature: (continued) i. RUESBEZEBER: (&)

Note: Other administrative expenses mainly include fisr: HM{THEREEBEMRA
office expenses, entertainments, other taxes and EHR - RBER - EMRIE
miscellaneous expenses, which individually are not RMEER EANERY
material to the Group. REBITERX °

iii.  Finance income, net: i, BISURA FER

Period from

1 April 2022 to Year ended
22 March 2023 31 March 2022
BH-ZE—-C
A—BZ
—E=-= =~
=RA=+=H =A=+—H
HR IEFE
$’000 $’000
Fr T+
Finance cost 81 15 Ak A
— Interest expense from financial — REBHEKAFEZS
liabilities measured at amortised BAEENETH
cost 8,176 19,744
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities — HH & B & 2§ 8 T ) 113 21
Less: interest expenses capitalised into J§ : fF h FEEMEFN B X
property under development for k=N
sale (4,357) (14,903)
3,932 4,862
Finance income BRI A
— Interest income from financial — REERAHECS
assets measured at amortised BEEMBWA
cost (6,939) (15,444)
Finance income, net BRI A - FER (3,007) (10,582)
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

18 DISTRIBUTION IN SPECIE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

iv. Income tax

18

Bk (E)
Bt : ()

iv. FTiEH
Period from

1 April 2022 to
22 March 2023

Year ended
31 March 2022

H-ZT_-—F
A—R=E
—E=-= —_EF-—
=ZA=+Z=H =ZRA=+—H
R IFEE
$’000 $000
Fr Tt
Current taxation 7S HA B 18
PRC taxes o B A IR
— Corporate Income Tax — EMEH 34,870 183,837
— Land Appreciation Tax — T IR EN 200,660 268,740
Deferred taxation IEJE Bi1E 62,195 (72,031)
297,725 380,546
v.  Cash flow information v. Renz2&EH
Period from
1 April 2022 to Year ended
22 March 2023 31 March 2022
H-E—-C=
A—R=E
—E-= —E-—F
=HA=+=H =A=+—H
BR IEFE
$/000 $'000
T Fi
Net cash inflow from KEFH RS FRA
operating activities 50,581 394,164
Net cash inflow from WEESHZHEESFN
investing activities 6,031 13,528
Net cash outflow from BEEESCEES FRE
financing activities (285,396) (417,247)
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SHARE CAPITAL 19 MR
2023 2022
—E-= —E-CE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BROEE AfE B &E HE
000 $000 ‘000 $'000
T Tr Tr Tr
Authorised: FEERAK:
Ordinary shares of ERREREE
HK10 cents each 10781l 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHMERK:
Ordinary shares of LRREREE
HK10 cents each: 10784 :
Beginning of the year F) 2,021,310 202,131 2,012,440 201,244
Issuance of shares under share AR BT R
option schemes 8n) 150 15 10,750 1,075
Cancellation of shares TR G - - (1,880) (188)
End of the year FE 2,021,460 202,146 2,021,310 202,131

@ #H=EZZZ=

ZFEZA=+—HILF

(@ During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company

has cancelled nil shares (2022: 1,880,000 shares) of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no share (2022:
$3,011,000) was repurchased on the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, share option
have been exercised to subscribe for 150,000 ordinary
shares (31 March 2022: 10,750,000) in the Company
at a consideration of $105,000 (2022: $6,418,000)
of which $15,000 (2022: $1,075,000) was credited
to share capital and the balance of $90,000 (2022:
$5,343,000) was credited to the share premium. $40,049
(2022: $2,434,000) has been transferred from share-
based compensation reserve to the share premium in
accordance with policy set out in note 2(s).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ZER AR 2 7

EA » ANQF) I T AR F A
(ZZ = —%:1,880,000/%) °

HE-_Z-_=F=RA=+—HIt#F
FER - I 8BRS BT 0 B AR B R
B (ZF = =4 :3,011,0007T) °

BHE_Z_-_=4=ZA=+—H
HEFERN BRECSETE
LA {E105,0000 (=& = = F:
6,418,0007T) & & 7 2 §1150,000
f& @R (== = =4 : 10,750,000
f%) » E 15,0000 (Z 2= =
1,075,00070) B 5 A Bk AN+ & %ﬁ
90,000 T (== = = : 5,343,000
OB T A KD & 8 o R &M &
(ST E - 40,049 (ZFE ==
F 1 2,434,00070) B B A B 19 S+
2HemHEERERMDEE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

20 SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on
24 August 2012 (the “Scheme”) under which it may
grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive directors of the Company) and other third
parties to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall at least be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant of the options, and (ii) an average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

On 11 August 2014, a total of 18,000,000 share
options (the “2014 Share Options”) were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group (including
an executive director of the Company) under the
Scheme. The 2014 Share Options entitle the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 18,000,000 new shares
of $0.10 each in the share capital of the Company.
Depending on the financial performance of the Group
and other conditions of the 2014 Share Options, not
more than 50% of the 2014 Share Options will be
vested on 1 August 2015 and not more than 50% of
the 2014 Share Options will be vested on 1 August
2017. The exercise price of the 2014 Share Options
is $0.419 per share, which represents the highest of
(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
of $0.405 per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.419 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company of $0.10 per share. All the 2014 Share
Options were accepted by the grantees.

20

i IR R
ARABIR—_ZE——FENA=-+WMA
KA—IEERERE - JRIEAR
EBCZEEBEARBZHNITE
BE)RF-ERHERENERE
KRR Z&H  EHERZUAARRF D
REeBTRAEECBERTE
BEAREMEITZRMN)30%BR -
ZEBRETEESBARRIZE
EEET  LORRFRHOHNER
BRTHZWHE: RHEEET
BRERABRZZAARRRMD
ZFHKHE -

—E-WFENA+—BXHAF
18,000,000 B #E (= F— B
BENDEETAEBELETEERZ
LEEBERARRZHITES) -
“E-EREETERAREE
REEA0.107T 2 A 2 RAE H
18,000,000 %7 A% © 1R 5 & B B 75 3
BREM T —OERERG - T
FBiB50% . —F —UIEREF N
T-HFNA—HHEEBE kT
B50% 2 —E—UEBREFSR_-E
—tFNA—BRES - —F—MN
BRETEEAER0419T - M
HWARBRONBERER TH 2K
MEFR405T: (N EEKTE
KREBMARIXSEARARRRMDZ
FH U T E & #0.4197T ¢ K (i) A
RARMH 2 BREEIOL =&
WREERE -FIEZZT—NER
EREAEABRAEZER -
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SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

On 27 October 2016, the Company granted a
total of 24,700,000 share options (the “2016 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2016 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 24,700,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2016 Share
Options is $0.70 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $0.70 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $0.656 per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company of $0.10 per share.
All the 2016 Share Options were accepted by the
grantees.

On 20 April 2021, the Company granted a total
of 15,000,000 share options (the “2021 Share
Options”) to certain qualified participants of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
under the Scheme. The 2021 Share Options entitle
the grantees to subscribe for a total of 15,000,000
new shares of $0.10 each in the share capital of
the Company. The exercise price of the 2021 Share
Options is $1.69 per share, which represents the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company of $1.69 per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares of the Company of $1.484 per share as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company of $0.10 per share.
All the 2021 Share Options were accepted by the
grantees.

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 1= IR B R A 7
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BREE)
—=E— /\i‘f‘ﬁ thEIK #E
£24,700,00017 BB HE (=2 — K

BREDERTASESR ?Géﬁ
B2 EEBREARAZIHITE
B T RNERERTERKA
w@%tﬂxﬁﬁﬁommz TZJ&
A4 $£24,700,000%7f% - —F — <
Eﬁﬂx%ﬁ@ﬁ‘:%tﬂxo.mm PA(G)
RARRORERER TH WM
BER.70T: (N EER THERE
HAl R 1I?<%E7-!K“ﬁ%fﬁ2%ﬂ
W T E & P%0.6567T : K (i) KA
&1 2 &R E{E0.107T _%Lﬂf
BAERE BT ERESE
AR AEWN -

—E-—FMA-+HARAHKE
15000000{‘5%%2%((_2: B
BREDEETAEBEETEERZ
SHAE(BERARRIZHNITES) -
TE-EREBRTARARES
RAEEF0I10TLZ AR 2 IRAS
15,000,00005T ¢ - — T = — B I
BITFEEBAEETRIEIT AR
ARMAREBRERTAZETES
BR1.697T: (NBEEE THEREBA
HABERXSGEARRBRD 2 FHKT
BER1.4847T : R (i) ANAFKH

ZEKREEION = ENK S E
B FTE T - —BREZHEK
RAER -



(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options @)

are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
20 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

20 BBREE)
B 2 &R A HFT

Exercise
price per  Number of Vesting
share options condition Expiry date
BRITE
B BREZE BT HABH
Options granted to BRERFES:
directors:
—on 11 August —RZE-—MEF $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
2014 NAt—H 5,000,000 options will
vest on T August 2015*
F%115,000,00000  —FZMF
BRESR_ZT-1F NA+H
NA—BEB*
—on 11 August —RZE-—MEF $0.419 5,000,000 Not more than 10 August 2024
2014 NAt—H 5,000,000 options will
vest on 1 August 2017*
T %115,000,00000  —FZMF
BREEN_Z—tF NAtTH
NA—BEB*
— on 27 October —RZE-RF $0.70 3,150,000 Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
2016 +A=++H
R-F—tF  —T-RHF
tA—-B%E T+tAZtRH
— on 27 October —RZE-RF $0.70 3,150,000 Vesting on 1 July 2018 26 October 2026
2016 +A=++H
R-ZF-\F —ZT-RHE
tA—-B%E T+tAZtRAH
— on 27 October —RZE-RF $0.70 4,200,000 Vesting on 1 July 2019 26 October 2026
2016 +A=++H
R-F-nE —F-RF
tA—-B%E T+tAZtRAH
— on 20 April —RZEZ—-F $1.69 3,150,000 Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
2021 MA=+H 2021
—E-—F —E-F
mA-tAEE  WATAA
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20 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 20 BBRRE(E)
(@) The terms and conditions of the Share Options (@ BREZEREEHDOT:
are as follows: (continued) (%)
Exercise
price per  Number of Vesting
share options condition Expiry date
BRITE
B BREHE BT HHBH
Options granted to  BRERFEIL:
employees:
—on 11 August —RZE-MEF $0.419 4,000,000  Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
2014 NA+—H 2015
R_ZE—1F —ZomF
NA—BEE NATH
—on 11 August —RZE-MEF $0.419 4,000,000  Vesting on 1 August 10 August 2024
2014 NA+—H 2017
R-F—tF —T-NF
NA—BBE NATH
—on27 October ~ —RZZT—RF $0.70 4,260,000 Vesting on 1 July 2017 26 October 2026
2016 +A=t++H
R-F—tF  —T-RF
tA-B%B TAZt+RAE
—on27 October ~ —RZZT—RF $0.70 4,260,000 Vesting on 1 July 201826 October 2026
2016 +A=t++H
RZF-\F —ZT-RF
tA-B%BE TAZt+RAE
—on27 October ~ —RZZT—RF $0.70 5,680,000 Vesting on 1 July 201926 October 2026
2016 +A=t++H
R-F-nFE —F-RF
tA-B%BE TAZt+RAE
— on 20 April —RZEZ—-F $1.69 11,850,000  Vesting on 20 April 19 April 2022
2021 mA=1H 2021
R-B—_—% —F-_F
MA-THSE mA+AHE
Total number of share [ 1 4 &1 57,700,000
options
*  The vesting of the Share Options granted to an * MARBRITEERT 2B
executive director of the Company is subject to the BiEZ BBEORNAEEZ
performance of the Group and other conditions. EE R HAD R
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20 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 20 MBRAEGE)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise BIREHE M INEFGITE
prices of share options are as follows: BT
2023 2022
—BC-= —E-F
Weighted Weighted
average  Number of average  Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
¥ ¥
TEE BREHE TEE BREHE
$000 $'000
T F
Outstanding at the beginning 74 4] 18 & 17 &
of the year $1.56 16,700 $0.59 12,600
Granted during the year REARRH - - $1.69 15,000
Exercised during the year ~ RERITE $0.70 (150) $0.60 (10,750)
Lapsed during the year N EFERRM $1.69 (14,550) $1.69 (150)
Outstanding at the end of ~ RFE R AT
the year $0.70 2,000 $1.56 16,700
Exercisable at the end of R EEATHE
the year $0.70 2,000 $1.56 16,700

The Share Options outstanding as of 31 March
2023 had an exercise price of $0.70 (2022: $0.70
or $1.69) per share and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 3.58 years (2022:
0.63 years). During the year ended 31 March
2023, 14,550,000 share options have lapsed
(2022: 150,000 share options have lapsed). The
value of vested options which lapsed during
the year was amounting to $3,656,000 and
was released directly to retained profits (2022:
$38,000).

R-_TE-_=F#=ZA=+—8"
WARITEE 2 BB 2 TR B
Bi0.70(ZE =2 : 0.70
7T 3¢1.697T) & AN #E F 5 17
FAEHFEHIS8F (T - =
F:0.63F)  BHE_ZT_=F
“A=+—HLEFER: B2
H14,550,000 (=& = —
150,000) 17 B AR AE R ZK o ARF
ERBREmEEREZEE
#43,656,0007T (ZF = — 4 -
38,0007T) * W HEF AR
i Al o
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20 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

238

(o)

Fair value of the Share Options and
assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference
to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the 2014 Share
Options and 2016 Share Options granted was
measured based on the Trinomial Model,
taking into account the terms and conditions

after

upon which the share options were granted.
The contractual life of the share option and
expectations of early exercise were incorporated
into the Trinomial Model. The significant
assumptions and inputs used in the valuation

model are as follows:

Fair value of and assumptions for 2014 share
options

Fair value at $0.176 to

measurement date $0.194
Share price $0.405
Exercise price $0.419
Risk-free interest rate 1.97%
Expected volatility 52.84%
Expected dividend yield 2.47%
Expected exercise multiple 2.2t02.8

Fair value of and assumptions for 2016 share
options

Fair value at $0.239 to

measurement date $0.271
Share price $0.70
Exercise $0.70
Risk-free interest rate 1.00%
Expected volatility 51.27%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 1.8 to 4.0

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B # R B R 2 7

20

BREE)

(o)

BREZAOFERMEEBRR

FT U B & 2 BUE Y F K (A oK
TEEBEREZRBE 2 AT
BEN2RABEEEREZA
FEFE - IREH -0
HRTZ@ ZE-RERERCET
—ERECAFEMGER
ARZEERERARLE 2
R REGRBEE =ZEXE
AHE - BRECEHFH
NIRRT ECEHEMA=
EARAA - HEERXFTFE
RAzE8 RBELREBBEWOT :

—E-NBREAFERE
B R R

RETEBZRFE $0.176E
$0.194
miZEE $0.405
ITEER $0.419
7 3 f R & 1.97%
TE HA R iR 52.84%
TEEI AR B g X 2.47%
TEHTEEH 22%2.38
—E-REREATEKME
R EE
REr2BHZ22FE $0.239%
$0.271
mEEAE $0.70
ITIEER $0.70
#2213 1.00%
T8 B R 18 51.27%
TEH IR Bl s & 5.00%
TEHIT (S 1.824.0
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20 MBRRRE(E)

20 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

(o)

(d)

Fair value of the Share Options and
assumptions (continued)

Fair value of and assumptions for 2021 share
options

Fair value at measurement date $0.2509 to

$0.2520
Share price $1.69
Exercise $1.69
Risk-free interest rate 0.05%
Expected volatility 44.58%
Expected dividend yield 5.00%
Expected exercise multiple 22t02.8

Risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of
the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes at the
grant date. Expected volatility is based on the
historical volatility (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining life of the share
options). Expected dividend vyield is based on
historical dividend trend of the Company and
expected future dividend policy determined by
management.

The vesting of the share options granted are
subject to the performance of the Group and
other conditions. Such non-market conditions
have not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the share options.
There are no market conditions associated with
the share options granted.

The Trinomial Model is subject to certain
fundamental limitations because of the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to the
assumptions and inputs to the model as well as
certain inherent limitations of the model itself.
Any changes in the above assumptions or inputs
may materially affect the fair value estimation.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of the
Share Options is $nil (2022: $3,768,000) (note
28(a)).

(o)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F #

BEREZAFERMEBRR
(&)
—EC-BRELTFERME
B R R

RErEHZ $0.2509%

NEE $0.2520
mZEE $1.69
ITEER $1.69
f = B FI) K 0.05%
T8 HA R 18 44.58%
TEH IR Bl e & 5.00%
TEHIT (& & 2.21t02.8

EERANEERERBINE
EeEraRbBzEaEER -
B ET IR IR AR 1 52 R 1R (R
15 1 P v 2 DN 4 T 23 R 5
REFE) - BHIREXRRZER
RAlZ B E L M E R
B YA AT R KA B BUR »

BhzBREZFBIORR
AEEz KB REMBGEST -
Itk I T 35 16k 1 7 ok e A AR IR
HERmAREERRQFEZE
E-RELAERLBRE
HEzTSEEAHR2E -

ZHEARB SR EERRH -
REBZ2HERBRABRREL
BB HEEN  ARETE
BEBRAARG ZBRME - LR
RABBEEETAECA LS
NFELFELEEATE -

HE-_ZT-_=%=F=+—8H
IEFE BERERCHERZE
AEREEER (T —_F:
3,768,0007T) (M £ 28(a)) °
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21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HittEERRE @A
(@ Group @ *&5H
Other reserves
AR
Other
financial
Statutory Capital ~ Share-based assets
Share  Treasury surplus Capital Merger  redemption ~ compensati luation ~ Translation ~ Total other  Retained
premium share  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve reserve  reseve  feserve  reserve  eamings
HheR
EE Er  ABRHXN  EEz if
RHEE  BER  BHRE EABE  ANEBE EERE HERE  EMARE  BERE  REEE  REBEA
§'000 §'000 §'000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 §'000
n n n n n i o n tr t t
Balance at 1 April 2022 CBCZERA-R
b2 ] 302,248 - 60,059 2,608 (360,213) 1941 4,248 1996 85,315 98,202 1,396,219
Proitforthe year EEEN - - - - - - - - - - 3617
Remeasurement of provision for & R 2E R
long service payment LEHiHE - - - - - - - - - - 6,038
Release upon lapse of share options % X M &
(note 20(b) (HiE200) - - - - - - (3,636) - - e 3686
Dividends paid in respect of the 2% FFE RS
previous year - - - - - - - - - - (80,852)
Dividends paid in respect of the ~ BRAFER S
current year - - - - - - - - - - (80,852)
Currency translaton differences ~ £HEEZE - - - - - - - - (98,714) (98,714) -
Fair value gain on other financial £ £ BEE
asefs (non-recycling) ATEZNE
(Fagm) - - - - - - - 6,592 - 6,592 -
Fair value gain on other financial ~ £fp4BEEATE
assefs (recycling) JHE([ER) - - - - - - - 2% - 2% -
Release of the recycling airvalue ~ BHEE#2BEE
gain due to disposal of other hEZTEAD
financial assets TRh& - - - - - - - (100) - (100) -
Transfer to retained profitupon ~~ HEEHEBEE
disposal of financial asset BRERTEN
(note 10 {i) (B 106) - - - - - - - (8361) - (8,361) 8,361
Appropriation of satutory suplus £ E BH EEA
reserve - - 18,636 - - - - - - 18,036 (18,636)
Issuance of share upon exercise of {7 R B {4
share options BfRkH 130 - - - - - (40) - - 90 -
Distribution in specie (note 18]~ N7k
(Hiz1g) (1,260) - (869) -omam - - - (l0668)  B1ET0(1,129,776)
Balance at 31 March 2023 ZBIZE
Z5=t-8
P21 ] 301,098 - - 2,608 (38,000) 194 552 153 (24,067) 244,285 490,331
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HtvREREREERNE)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Group (continued) @ *&EBE(E)
Other reserves
EEf
Other
financial
Statutory Capital ~ Share-based assels
Share  Treasury surplus Capital Merger  redemption ~ compensation ~revaluation  Translation ~ Total other  Retained
premium share reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve - eamings
Afpe@
EE Ex LRGXN BBz i
REE  BRR  BREE AABE  AKER  BREE 2 HERE BRER  AERE  BEEE  R3EA
§'000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §/000 §000 §/000 §/000 $/000 §/000

tn tn tn i n T i T T T tn

Balance at 1 April 2021 —Z--EMB-A
pa 1 294471 - 27,533 2,608 17,045 1,753 2,952 (316) 17,523 363,569 1,131,893

Proitfor the year ER AR - - - - - - - - - - M0
Remeasurement of provision for & ERH £ %2

long service payment Eifit8 - - - - - - - - - - 2934
Share-based payment PYUSCEL - - - - - - 3,768 - - 3,768 -
Release upon lapse of share options % % T /8

(note 200 (K 20) - - - - - - 39) - - 38) 3
Dividends paid in respect of the 2% FFE RS

previous year - - - - - - - - - - (141,259)
Dividends paid in respect of the ~ BRZAFER S

current year - - - - - - - - - - (110,952)
Curtency translation differences ~ §¥HEZR - - - - - - - - 67,792 67,792 -
Fair value gain on other financial £ £ B4 E

assets (non-recycling) ATEZRE

(FHEE) - - - - - - - 2,256 - 2256 -

Fair value gain on other financial A BEEATE

assels [recyclng) s (IEE) - - - - - - - 36 - 5 -
Fifect on acquisition of subsidiaries W% AR5 2118

under common control Paba

(note 21(ci) (K E21(00) - - - - W) - - - - W) -

Assumption of debt liabilites ~~ REUEZAHZ
arsing from the acquisition of ~ (EEASE

Jiaxuntong note 21(c/i) (B E21(c)) - - - - - - - - B -
Appropriation of tatutory EERREEER
surplus reserve - - 32,526 - - - - - - 32,526 (32,526)
Repurchase of shares (note 21(c/(v) EER (3
(Bit1cliv) - B - - - - - - - o -
Cancelltion of shares HERE (Hino
(note 21(civi&(v)) (iv)atv) - 3,01 - - - 188 - - - 3,199 (3,011)
Issuance of share upon exercise of 1762 B E %
share options BRHG 771 - - - - - (2434) - - 538 -
Balance at 31 March 2022 I3IIE
ZR=T-BY
% 302,248 - 60,059 2,608 (360,213) 1,941 4,48 1,99 85,315 98,202 1396219
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21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HttRERRE RN (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Company (b)y AAF
Other reserves
Htvfife
Other
financial
Capital Share-hased assets
Share  Treasury  redemption Contributed compensation ~ revaluation  Total Other ~ Retained
premium share reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve earnings
Ex WRAXH HtemEE -0 /
ROEE EFR BERE HARE  ZHEHE CEREE  BESE  RERA
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

fn fr frn fr fn fr fn fr

Balance at 1 April 2022 ZR-CERA-R
pA ] 302,248 - 1941 193,185 4,248 145 501,767 90,043

Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - 101147
Share based payment NROLH M - - - - - - - -
Release upon lapse of share 38 % M B[ fE

options (note 20(5) (K 200) - - - - (3,656) - (3,656) 3,636
Remeasurement of provision for SR %££E2

long service payment Eifit e - - - - - - - 554
Dividend paid in respect of the  2E £ £ &

previous year - - - - - - - (80,852)
Dividend paid in respectof ~ BEAEERE

current year - - - - - - - (80,852)

Fair value losses on other ~~ EHEBEE
financial assets (recycing) AT EZER
(TEm) - - - - - 9 9 -
Release of the recycling fair ~ FEEf£BE
value gain due to disposal of /7€ 2 &

other financial assets ATEYA - - - - - (100) (100) -
Issuance of share upon exercise 175 & /8 %
of share options BRh 130 - - - (40) - 90 -
Distribution in specie NSk (1,260) - - - - - (1,280 (896,926)
Balance at 31 March 203~ =B==%
Zh=t-8
A3 301,098 - 1941 193,185 552 36 496,812 47,094
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OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HitREERRBEF(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Company (continued) (b)y EQT(E)
Other reserves
EhBE
Other
financial
Capital Share-based assets
Share  Treasury  redemption  Contributed compensation revaluation  Total Other ~ Retained
premium share feserve surplus reserve feserve reserve eannings
i WRBEN EesmAE A%
RihaE EER  EDEE  B0EE  (HeHE (ERRE BEEE RERH
§1000 §000 §'000 §000 §1000 §000 §'000 §000

T T T T T T T T

Balance at 1 April 2021 “R--FRA-H
24 294471 - 175 193,185 2932 72 A3 M43
Profit for the year EEET - - - - - - - 97,517
Share based payment WRB%HGH - - - - 3,768 - 3,768 -
Release upon lapse of share /235 % M EF
options (note 20(5) (H 200 - - - - (38) - (8) 3
Remeasurement of provision for % S % ££&2
long service payment B8 - - - - - - - 252
Dividend paid in respect of the EJ& L FER &
previous year - - - - - - - (141259
Dividend paid in respectof ~ BEAEERE
current year - - - - - - - (110,952)
Fairvalue losses on other K2 BEE
financial assets (recycling) A TEZE#E
(7)) - - - - - ) 27 -
Repurchase of shares &R
(note 211cliv) (& 21c)i) - B,011) - - - - B,011) -
Cancellation of shares ik (W20
(note 21(c)(iv)&(v) (iv)&) - 3,01 168 - - - 3,199 (3,011)
Issuance of share upon exercise 17(% B E% B 17
of share options &t 7777 - - - (2,434 - 538 -
Balance at 31 March 2022~ =%
ZA=1-8
k8 302,248 - 1941 193185 4,48 W5 501767 90,043
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OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)

21

244

(b)

(0

Company (continued)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $240,279,000
(2022: $283,228,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary
share (2022: final dividend of HK4.0 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to $30,322,000 (2022:
$80,852,000) (note 32(a)). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of entities outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(x).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Z R B B # R B R 2 7
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R-TE-_=%F=/F=+—8"
AEOELARIEREEA
2 f# 5 48 %8 /240,279,000
JT(=— = = — £ :283,228,000
e MEHRE EFFE
BEREREREGRT AR
158 ZEZF  RERK
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

21 HitRERRERR(E)

21 OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Merger reserve

To rationalise the corporate structure in
preparation of the spin-off and separate
listing of KRP, KRP Group underwent a
group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation")
which involved the acquisition of
Jiaxuntong and Kar Info International. The
Reorganisation is a business combination
of entities under common control.
Merger reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid and the
net book values of the acquirees and debt
capitalisation during Reorganisation. The
merger reserve related to KRP Group was
released upon the spin-off of KRP. More
detailed can be found in the Company's
announcement dated 9 March 2022.

Other financial assets revaluation reserve
The other financial assets revaluation
reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of other financial
assets held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(f).

Treasury share

The Group repurchased a total of nil (2022:
1,880,000) of the Company’s shares during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The total
consideration paid to repurchase these
shares was $nil (2022: $3,011,000), which
has been deducted from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, nil shares (2022:
1,880,000) were cancelled. Accordingly,
the premium of $nil (2022: $3,011,000) paid
on the repurchase of shares was charged to
retained earnings.

(0 REZMEERBENGE)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F #
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21  OTHER RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 21 HtvfREREREERNGE)
(CONTINUED)
() Nature and purpose of reserves (continued) (0 REZHEERBWN(E)
(v) Capital redemption reserve (v) EXBORFE
During the year ended 31 March 2023, BHE-_ZT-_=%=A4
upon cancellation of nil shares, an amount =t—HIEFER - 8K
equivalent to the par value of the shares MWEH BERHERE
cancelled of $nil was transferred from share AEKROEEZREAR
capital to the capital redemption reserve. IR 72N 8 % 2 & 7K B [T
=
22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22 EBEZEMNEREM B EARHEHME
PAYABLES 4 8R4
2023 2022
—EZ=HF =
$/000 $'000
Fr T
Trade payables g R BRK 350,212 375,951
Accruals for short-term lease Bt HEE
expenses 2,053 4,315
Accruals for purchase of property, FEETHEEYZE - KE K
plant and equipment B 24,459 22,035
Salaries and staff welfare payable [Eff % & &k 8 T1&F| 169,514 207,971
Accruals for properties under B EZYE
development - 153,541
Other payables and accruals H & 1 BR R
JEFtE M 112,421 125,873
Receipts in advance (see note (a) T8 UK BR 5%
below) (RT3 E@) 172,732 630,246
481,179 1,143,981
831,391 1,519,932
The carrying amounts of trade payables, accruals and EHRERMNER Bt ER R HEME
other payables approximate their fair values. All trade MERZEEEEAFERRL -
payables and accruals as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 R_EB_=FR_FT__F=A
are expected to be settled within one year. =tT—HZMBEZERNER &
B AN E A RN BRRTE B —
FRNFN -
246 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 FI B R 2 R B R 2 =
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22 BSEMNERNR EFEARHEME
PAYABLES (CONTINUED) MR (&)
Trade payables ageing analysis, based on invoice date, EHRNEFREZAMFAEZR
is as follows: oMo
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —T_C
$’000 $'000
Fr T
0 to 90 days 0&90H 318,066 353,522
91 to 180 days 91£180H 28,540 20,600
181 to 360 days 1812 360H 2,501 1,285
Over 360 days 360H A k£ 1,105 544
350,212 375,951
(@) Receipts in advance @@ TR
Typical payment terms which impact on the BUKRERTECHERAENE
amount of contract liabilities recognised are as BB BENTERET :
follows:
- Manufacturing segment HEXD
When the Group receives a deposit before EAEEELEERDF
the production activity commences, this will BATW R IR - &8
give rise to contract liabilities at the start EAANRABKELERR

of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the project exceeds the amount of the
deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated
on a case by case basis with customers.

- Property development

The Group receives receipts in advance
from customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement. These receipts
in advance are recognised as contract
liabilities until the properties are completed
and legally assigned to/accepted by
customers.

B BRCHEREAW
AEBBESSE/L -
e eBREAEBR
HEPHE

3

AEBERRIEE &
TR SE W B P AR -
BLEBRERREAEE
EBEPEXEBRKZ
MEZHERBEMNEA

& °
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22 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 22 BSEMNENR EFERARHEME
PAYABLES (CONTINUED) FERFR(E)
(@) Receipts in advance (continued) (@ TEWBERR(E)
Movements in contract liabilities: BHAEBZEH:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —T_C
$’000 $°000
T T
Beginning of the year F1 630,246 506,159
Decrease in contract liabilities as 7 & A #E R 5T A
a result of recognising revenue FUAaHEE
during the year that was included Z&ZFI A
in the contract liabilities at the BHAaNEE
beginning of the period D (431,165) (391,339)
Increase in contract liabilities as W HR 78 7 AR 5%
a result of receiving receipts in BYENEE
advances 2Pl 174,349 495,094
Exchange difference Hign=ESR (33,905) 20,332
Distribution in specie (note 18) B0k
(Pff5E18) (166,793) -
End of the year FIE 172,732 630,246
As at 31 March 2023, the amount of receipts RZZEZ=F=A=+—8"
in advance expected to be recognised as EREERCET -
revenue after more than one year are $nil (2022: 50,853,0007T) A 5H # A — &F
$50,853,000). ERERBBA -
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEBECKEBMBREE
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts BIZE155R F121R 2 A 1THRE
for manufacturing products and properties TERRBRERERKEEM
development such that information about EXBHNHEESLD  HitH
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when REAEEHZAEEFER
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations TR A —FHATZH
that had an original expected duration of one HENBEZHEBRA EE
year or less need not to be disclosed. HAFRELRE -
248 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 FI B R 2 R B R 2 =
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23 BANK BORROWINGS

23 RITEE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E=-=
$/000 $/000
T T
Portion of bank borrowings —FREERIEEX
repayable within one year or are {8 & G AR I 7
subject to repayment on demand AR EBE 2 RIT
clauses, and classified as current & & &8 15
liabilities 422,372 738,434
Portion of bank borrowings —FRERASER
repayable after one year and FRBABZRT
classified as non-current liabilities & & & 17
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERZFR 230,000 167,750
After 2 years but within 5 years —FREREFA - 295,000
230,000 462,750
Total bank borrowings IRITIEEERE 652,372 1,201,184
Representing: Ra&:
Secured A E - 291,077
Unsecured e 652,372 910,107
Total bank borrowings RITEERSE 652,372 1,201,184

As included in the bank borrowings classified as
current liabilities, a loan agreement with a term of
3 years, amounting to $100,000,000, includes an
overriding repayment on demand clause, which gives
the lender the right to demand repayment at any
time at their sole discretion. Notwithstanding that the
Group does not expect the lender to exercise its rights
to demand repayment provided that the Group timely
repay such loan as scheduled, these liabilities are
classified as current because the Group under such an
agreement does not have a right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.

—MAEBM=-FrERBE(EEA
100,000,0007T) B & & E—1 2 &
EREEBRR - B TERARERNT]
BER BB EREN  sTADSE
ARnEBABECRITIERE BEXR
SEVEBHERALREEH K
HAXRKRKEEEEBEERZBERN
TEEBENERER  ZERHE
EOBARB BN EBRZTH
EmMNIEENRSEREES T
EALEELETEE -
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23

250

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In addition, the Group’s certain banking facilities
are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to
the Group’s statement of financial position ratios.
If the Group were to breach these covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become payable on
demand. Due to the spin-off of KRP Group, as at
31 March 2023, the financial covenant related to
net tangible asset balance in the bank borrowing
amounted to $406,000,000 had been breached,
of which $205,000,000 has original contractual
maturity of more than 12 months after 31 March
2023. Amongst these, for the liabilities amounting to
$140,000,000, the Group obtained a waiver by end
of reporting period from the lenders which agreed to
provide a period of grace ending at least 12 months
after the reporting period, within which the Group
can rectify the breach and during which the lenders
cannot demand immediate repayment. Therefore,
these liabilities are classified as non-current as at 31
March 2023. However, the liabilities of $65,000,000
that become payable on demand as a result of
non-fulfilment of covenants due to the spin off had
been reclassified from non-current liabilities to current
liabilities. As at 31 March 2022, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

As at 31 March 2023, banking facilities of $nil (2022:
$359,636,000) were secured by the pledged deposits
of $nil (2022: $84,539,000) and the share capital of
the two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien) Limited andZf 2= %= &
& b & 58 % B R A 7 such facilities were utilised
to the extent of $nil as at 31 March 2023 (2022:

$291,077,000).

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED = R B B2 1= IR B R A 7
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WMEPAREERAED#RE  HF
ERHEESREHEELNRERZ
BERE - HRAEETAUEERSE
BEEERANTERAEFER - A
- RZE-_=F=A=+—H"
Aﬁiéf?éf"*ﬁz%#ﬁib SR
65,000,0007C 2 B &R D FEH K
ERRABAMKBREREE B3k
TEEBEESEYYEATDEE -
RZE-_—_F=A=+—H #&
EREBEIRIBEMNILE -

RZFEFE_=F=H=+—8"
BITREBZEL(ZE - —F:
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEAE
At 31 March 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable R-ZE_=F=A=+—HAZHE
as follows: BEEEWT:
2023 2022
—EC-= —E-CF
Present value Present value

of the lease  Total lease  of the lease Total lease

payments payments payments payments

HEMHK HENXK HEMT  HEMNR

ZBE B ZRE B

$000 $'000 $000 $'000

Fr Tr T T

Within 1 year — R 6,611 6,956 7,942 8,800
After 1 year but within 2 years —ERERZFR 3,126 3,171 7,467 7,926
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ —F&BRAFRA - - 5,167 5,346
3,126 3,171 12,634 13,272

9,737 10,127 20,576 22,072

Less: total future interest expenses i : K RF| B F % 8% (390) (1,496)
Present value of lease liabilities MERGBZRE 9,737 20,576
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25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 RGAHBEMRRKRPHE
FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation (@ AHEIBE
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E- =
(Restated)
(B&E5))
$’000 $’000
Frx T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax N E & 4
for the year MIF R 2 2 14,944 26,078
Provisional Hong Kong Profits ENEHEE
Tax paid MAF B (20,004) (17,900)
(5,060) 8,178
Provision for PRC taxes R FTIS R 2
1 109,583 597,791
104,523 605,969
Current tax recoverable 7K B AT Uk [B] #% 18 5,060 1,153
Current tax payable 7N B & AN 75 1R (109,583) (607,122)
(104,523) (605,969)
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

RESUBRRRFBREAGE)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Deferred taxation

25

(b) I JE B H

Fair value
gain of Capitalisation
Accelerated  investment of loan
depreciation  properties interests Total
REM% EXAE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE MERE 2FE2WE - N4 aH
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr T T
At 1 April 2021 —8--F
mA-A 4117 2,338 12,191 18,646
(Credited)/charged to RERGIA)/
profit or loss X 8 (1,530) 492 (1,428) (2,466)
Exchange difference RBER - 107 - 107
At 31 March 2022 and —BZZH
1 April 2022 ZRA=+-8Ak
—E-CF
MA—H 2,587 2,937 10,763 16,287
Charged/(credited) to REEXHE/
profit or loss (FtA) 172 (1,143) 8,279 7,308
Exchange difference ABRER (119) - - (119)
Distribution in specie (note 18) & ¥ % k
(Ff5E18) (2,025) - (19,042) (21,067)
At 31 March 2023 g3
=A=+-H 615 1,794 - 2,409
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25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

RESUBRRRFHEAGE)

(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EZEFIE(Z)
Temporary Accrual
difference for Land
for property  Appreciation
Tax losses  development  Tax (“LAT”) Others Total
NERREZET tHERKZ
Deferred tax assets EEREEE HEER BHEE AR Hitr At
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
7 7 7 7 7
At 1 April 2021 “E--ENA-H (7,770) (5,643) (106,338) (1,345) (121,096)
Charged/(credited) to profit RB#& %%,/
or loss (3 A) 5,193 1,196 (76,162) (382) (70,155)
Exchange difference REER - - (5,764) - (5,764)
At 31 March 2022 and ~B-CE
1 April 2022 ZR=t-BR
—E-CE
B—H (2,577) (4,447) (188,264) (1,727 (197,015)
Charged/(credited) to profit RE#& %8,/
or loss (3 A) (5,509) (1,643) 63,295 (9,674) 46,469
Exchange difference RBER - (71) 4,610 9,086 13,625
Distribution in specie (note B %17 /&
18) (Pt z£18) 1,450 6,161 120,359 - 127,970
At 31 March 2023 “R-=FZ=h
=t-8 (6,636) - - (2,315) (8,951)
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25 RESHMBMRRRPBIRGE)

25 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Deferred taxation (continued)
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to set

(b)

ELERIE(E)
=B 0X TE RN AL R AR IR
BERREERABMEEN -

off and when the deferred income taxes relate to 3R R B 45 B 08 & R — B 7
the same tax jurisdiction. The following amounts, R AR EERIEE E
determined after appropriate offsetting, are Eﬁi BREMEBBEIHEEHE -
shown in the consolidated statement of financial REtANEEEEHE - T8
position: REEEMBERR KA
2023 2022
—E-=F -
$000 $'000
T T
Deferred tax assets BLEREEE
— Continuing operations — BB (8,951) (1,728)
— Discontinued operations — ERIERERR - (188,263)
Deferred tax liabilities BEIERIERE
— Continuing operations — BEREXEH 2,409 3,796
— Discontinued operations — DRIEEERS - 5,467
(6,542) (180,728)

At 31 March 2023, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u), the
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets
of approximately $18,725,000 for continuing
operations (2022: $19,021,000) primarily
representing the tax effect of cumulative tax
losses (subject to agreement by relevant tax
authorities) which can be carried forward
against future taxable income, of which, tax
losses of $113,486,000 for continuing operations
(2022: $115,278,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

26 REVENUE, OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS) 26 WA-HA (E8)FHE
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —_F-—
(Restated)
(B&E?))
$’000 $'000
Fr F T
Continuing operations BEREXK
Revenue from contracts with ERAMKEREER
customers within the scope of 155 8 E A B
HKFRS 15 EFZEHWA
Sales of merchandise S miH S
— Metal and plastic business — heBBEB 1,918,774 1,920,032
— Electronic manufacturing services — & F H %X T %%
business 1,162,923 1,154,981
3,081,697 3,075,013
Continuing operations BEREXY
Other net income/(loss): Hag A
(E18)F&E:
Fixed rental income EMEEHA 2,598 2,722
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, L&Y - MiFE MKE&E
plant and equipment 2 (BB /W (56) 1,158

Loss on disposal of other financial & = fth & & & & 2
assets &5 18 i (576) -
Loss on derecognition of other BURER At S RE E

financial asset (note 10(ii)) 2 1858 (F 5E10(i) (8,361) -
Government grants received ESzHBFEDE
(note (i) GEE0) 10,666 2,033
Others H A 1,703 1,775
5,974 7,688
Notes: Bt 52X
(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group () BEZE_—H5-A=+—H%E
received subsidies of $5,129,000 (2022: $2,033,000) from A AR & IR 4ER 5,129,000 T (—
the PRC government. The purposes of these subsidies are T —9:2033,0007T) B F B K
to encourage the use of high-technologies machineries, fF2mfh i B SEE
promote the development of human resources and A - RITAAEII KA
to provide financial support to enterprise during the 209 R EEREIBHEZ P EX
COVID-19 pandemic. & -
In 2023, the Group successfully applied and received R-Z_=F  KAKEKNFFH
for funding support of $2,600,000 (2022: nil) from the EABFRBBRKYEREES
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Tz R3L 58 R YEL2,600,000
Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The T(ZF-—F E)EENIR - &
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to B EMEREREHRMBEX
employers to retain their current employees or hire more & URBAREGRENCES -
employees when the business revives. Under the terms RIBEB) Z 3 NEBEWERE
of the grant, the group is required to employ sufficient mhHRRERE IELERR
number of employees with reference to its proposed HEEET -

employee headcounts in each subsidy month.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

27 BMEsECEHA

2023 2022
—E-Z=F — T
(Restated)
(B&E3)
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Continuing operations BEREX®
Cost of materials* )R K A * 2,307,667 2,148,846
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ #1% - BB &k & #E 2
property, plant and equipment & N # 100,748 96,187
Amortisation of intangible assets % 2 & & 2 # iH
(note 8) (Bt 5E8) 1,553 1,548
Employee benefit expenses B ERNMX
(including directors’ (BREZ=H=2)
remuneration) (note 28(a)) (Hff 3% 28(a)) 389,139 483,795
Rental expenses of short-term leases 52 Bifl £ & 6,506 5,553
Net exchange (gain)/loss P N (W z) B8
FRE (14,886) 683
Auditors’ remuneration % SR BN & 3,600 3,386
Recognition of loss allowance for 8 5 I 5 1 & I AR 5%
trade and bills receivables EEREE 2R
(note 12) (M 7E12) 393 2,002
Reversal of write-down of obsolete FR £ K # & 17 & #iUR
and slow-moving inventories PACIE:: (9,810) (396)
Other expenses H b7 62,399 39,768
2,847,309 2,781,372
Representing: K&k
Cost of revenue AN 2,744,532 2,636,922
Distribution and selling expenses 7 #5 & 5 & & 31,205 30,814
General and —MEITHEA
administrative expenses 71,572 113,636
2,847,309 2,781,372
* The cost of materials excluded depreciation and * VIR AT BIEE - HEREE

amortization of property, plant and equipment, employee
benefit expenses and rental expenses.

ZHEREE  BERAMAXME

EHlE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING
DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

(@ Employee benefit expenses during the year are as

28 BERAXXH —BEESEHE

@ FREERAHIT:

follows:
2023 2022
—E-= ==
(Restated)
(B&E3)
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Continuing operation FEREXK
Wages and salaries FMEITE 358,362 449,068
Contributions to defined AEHFTERNK
contribution retirement plans FHEl 2 29,951 30,673
Provision for long service payments & 8 iz 7% & %&£ 1 826 286
Share option expenses (note 20(d)) & % # 3% [t}
(B 7 20(d)) - 3,768
389,139 483,795
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Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 28 BRERAXZH —BRERESEHE
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#%&)
(b) Directors’ remuneration by EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant BRIZBEBCARMEDI)FE383E
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies RRAwGEE 2 8 81 (B
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies EERMZBEEEMROIIZ
Ordinance (Disclosure of Information about EEMEBERLT:

Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:

2023
—EBCCE

Employer's

Discretionary ~ contributions
&director’s to retirement  Share-based
Name of director BE1H Fees Salary Bonuses plans payment Total
MiERR  BfeTd  HURHXA
fie ge ZEA ZBEIfR BM(MD) aft
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i

Executive directors YnES

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai EB%E - 4,807 3,901 - - 8,708
Mr. Zhao Kai Btk - 1,289 3,608 24 - 4,921
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia RAHME - 949 2,080 18 - 3,047
Mr. Chan Raymond BRULE - 1,091 2,341 18 - 3,450

Non-executive directors FYTES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fER%E 220 - 20 - - 240
Mr. Ho Kai Man AR EE - 498 172 18 - 688

Independent non-executive ~ BHUFHTEE

directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing TEERE 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 150 - - - - 150
Dr. Lau Kin Wah BERt 150 - - - - 150
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

28

260

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING 28 EERAZYE —BEEE#MS
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (&)
(b) Directors’ remuneration (continued) by EEMME(E)
2022
-
Employer's
Discretionary  contributions
&director's  to retirement  Share-based
Name of director E54H Fees Salary Bonuses plans payment Total
MERN RKeHE  MRHXA
fe e L CETHR BM(EE) A4
§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000
T T T T T T
Executive directors YnES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai Gft bk - 4772 3,899 - - 8,671
Mr. Zhao Kai BIEE - 1,280 3,607 2 25 5,161
Ms. Chan Ming Mui, Silvia &%/ - 918 2,078 18 25 3,266
Mr. Chan Raymond RRX % & - 1,059 2,289 18 25 3,618
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fERLE 220 - 40 - - 260
Mr. Ho Kai Man e ks - 477 194 18 38 727
Independent non-executive ~ BHUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing HEHAE 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHLE 150 - - - - 150
Dr. Lau Kin Wah fEERL 150 - - - - 150

Note: These represent the estimated value of share
options granted to the directors under the
Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group’s
accounting policies for share-based payments as set
out in note 2(s). The details of these share options,
including the principal terms and number of options
granted, are disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES — INCLUDING

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5H RSN - LA THITR)

DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(9]

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include four
(2022: four) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2022:

28 BERAH —BEESEHE

()

c DBEERSHFMAL
AEEEERERSFMZ
ATBENZE(CZTZ—F:
mE)EE - AMlee &R L
X e RFEAHGB—R(Z
T F: —R)EeBAT

one) individuals during the year are as follows: Z N & T

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —E=- =

(Restated)
(BE&E)
$/000 $°000
T T
Basic salaries and allowances BERF @ KR 944 847
Discretionary bonus B 15 2% 2 fEAL 908 971
Contributions to retirement plans & {K 51 8] 2 £ 5% 18 18
Share-based payment VA B 19 32 A5t 4 B - 126
1,870 1,962

The emoluments fell within the following band:

ZEMEETNINEEEENA -

Number of individuals

ATHE
2023 2022
—_E-=5F —_EFE-—
$1,500,001 to 1,500,0017T &
$2,000,000 2,000,0007T 1 1
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

29 FINANCE COSTS, NET 29 BBRAE - FHE
2023 2022
—E-Z=F —F-—
(Restated)
(B&E3)
$’000 $'000
T F T
Continuing operations BEREXY
Finance costs B T8 A AR
— Interest expense from financial — ZEHK AT E 2
liabilities measured at eRBEMNEXZT
amortised cost 39,626 16,710
— Interest expenses on lease —HEAEZ
liabilities ME X 701 657
Less: interest expenses capitalised  J&l : /A FEEZ W EFI B
into property, plant and X HE R
equipment (note) (Bt &E) 4,672) (7,491)
35,655 9,876
Finance income B A
— Interest income from financial —— H#EK A= 2
assets measured at amortised TRIEENBWA
cost (1,183) (1,246)
— Otbher interest income from — B R FEFGAEHAM
financial assets measured at ZHEHIKA(ATEE)
FVOCI (recycling) AAEZERMEEHR
il A B A (321) (377)
(1,504) (1,623)
Finance costs, net WA - F R 34,151 8,253
Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of Mt : & B R AR AFE R £4.04% (ZF
4.04% (2022: 4.14%) per annum.. T 404%) B R o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount of taxation charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

REGFERERPHAEH

REERBRIIHZRBENT

2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=F=_—
(Restated)
(B&E3)
$’000 $’000
Fr T
Continuing operations BEREX®
Current taxation EB R
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNFH
— Current year — AEE 15,841 26,078
— Over provision in prior years — EFEBEER (197) 71)
PRC taxes Bl 1R
— Corporate Income Tax — EMENR 2,247 16,518
Deferred taxation iE 3E B 18] (8,418) (591)
9,473 41,934

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year for all Group companies
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to
Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the standard
tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%), except for one PRC
subsidiary of the Group was rewarded with Certificate
of High and New Technology Enterprise and entitled
for a tax reduction from 25% to 15%. The entitlement
is subject to review every three years.

FTEREEBR YL 2 EB AR TR
BANER 2 (AT FE SR s 112 16.5%
(T = —F:16.5%) 2T K512
BEENEHER -

REBRPBE XK AETHHD
EEPERELER K% (ZF
TTF 5% )M BT —RKAKE
BB B AR EE SR
BE WA LAERE = m%%
E15% ° ZFE BB ZIER -
=FEBRFE Ko
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

30

264

RESBEBRPIEB(E)

8 1 52 it B O P S A B
& 535 F) 2 985

2023 2022
—ECZ=H —T_C
(Restated)
(BEA)
$000 $'000
Fr T
Continuing operations BEREX®
Profit before taxation BR 7% Al 7 191,791 296,207
Profit before Hong Kong Profits Tax B & & F) 15 8 2 1 %
and Corporate Income Tax FfT 15 %% B g A 191,791 296,207
Notional tax calculated at RERRERFEZ
applicable income tax rate BRHIEA 28,128 50,973
Share of profits of associates JE (5 B & R B s A (2,501) (192)
Income not subject to taxation BARMZHWA (19,887) (27,702)
Expenses not deductible for AR 2 32
taxation purposes 3,815 18,397
Temporary difference not AERZERER
recognised 514 812
Overprovision for Hong Kong EFZEAMEAZ
taxation in prior years 8 5 (197) 71)
Utilisation of previously & A F AR TR B IR
unrecognised tax losses & 18 (102) (70)
Unused tax losses not recognised KRR 2 & A8
5 18 (297) (213)
Income tax expense P15 Bt < 9,473 41,934
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 31
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing

the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue after adjusting the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding options during the year.

BRER

B BCE AR A TR B AN A B s
FEAREGNBRAFAERITZ
BEBRNEFHEEE -

BRREEOSN DRBEANRER
FEAREGRHBRAFAERITZ
BB S L ARELEE
BREZRARITEBBRETE -

2023 2022
—E2-= S
(Restated)
(BEF)
Profit attributable to equity RARIERFFAAEI
shareholders of the Company & M (F7T)
arises from ($’000)
— Continuing operations —HEREER 182,318 254,273
— Discontinued operations — ERIEREXRT 203,855 294,829
386,173 549,102
Weighted average number of EEITE AR InE
ordinary shares in issue (in FHE(F %)
thousand shares) 2,021,318 2,016,576
Effect of outstanding share options = ARTTEfEMRIE 2 &
(in thousand shares) (FR%) 797 5,102
Weighted average number of EETERR(#E) 2
ordinary shares (diluted) in issue A4 F 5 & (F %)
(in thousand shares) 2,022,115 2,021,678
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & & £ 7 & | (B L)
— Continuing operations —FHBREER 9.0 12.6
— Discontinued operations —BERIEREERK 10.1 14.6
19.1 27.2
Diluted earnings per share DR ST il
(HK cents) (L)
— Continuing operations —FEREED 9.0 12.6
— Discontinued operations —BERIEREER 10.1 14.6
19.1 27.2
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

32 DIVIDENDS 32 BRERE
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the @ BRXFEERNARQTHER
Company attributable to the year BEAZKRE
2023 2022
—E-=HF T
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid 2 & &EREH
of HK 4.0 cents per ordinary HEETER
share (2022: HK4.5 cents per f%4.078L (==
ordinary share) T BER
B&4.57%10) 80,852 88,762

Special dividend declared and paid 2 &0 & 2K &5
of HK nil cent per ordinary share Bl % B & & i@
(2022: HK1.0 cent per ordinary BEEHW(ZE

share) T oFBER
1,078 11l) - 22,190
Final dividend proposed after the E@iﬁ%ﬁﬁf?ﬁﬁ
end of the reporting period of })fﬁiﬁﬂﬁ
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share AR 5/’§ 1IJJ
(2022: HK4.0 cents per ordinary _EZZ
share) FEBR4OE
i) 30,322 80,852
111,174 191,804
The final dividend proposed after the end of the PR B R 1& R 2 R EA AR
reporting period have not been recognised as a ERBEHRLTAERRE
liability at the end of the reporting period. f& -

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the by BRE-MBEFE IRFR
Company attributable to the previous financial HERKE 2ENEQFE
year, approved and paid during the year #HEBEAZRE

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZET-
$’000 $'000
Fr T
Final dividend in respect of the #E—MREE -
previous financial year, approved 2 # & K E R
and paid during the year, of FRIKEZ R
HK4.0 cents per ordinary share HRkEGEB
(2022: HK7.0 cents per ordinary  A&4.0/8 L (Z=F
share) —F:gER
B2 7.0 (L) 80,852 141,259

266 KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ZX B ZER AR 2 7



33

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33 AERIAAR
The Group had the following significant commitments REBHUTKRE RALGE MR
and contingent liabilities which were not provided for REGTREBZEEAERIA
in the consolidated financial statements: BfE:
(@) Capital commitments (@ BXREIE
The Group had the following authorised and R-ZE-_=F=A=+—HXK
contracted capital commitments at 31 March SEEUTERENZDNZE
2023: A
2023 2022
—E-= T CF
$000 $'000
T T
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BE
equipment N & 74,197 72,923
(b) Guarantees (b) ER

(i)

(if)

At 31 March 2023, the Company has
given guarantees totaling approximately
$1,492,765,000 (2022: $1,648,927,000) to
financial institutions in connection with the
banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.
Such banking facilities utilised as at 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately
$652,372,000 (2022: $1,201,184,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has
provided guarantees to banks to secure the
mortgage arrangements of certain property
buyers and the outstanding guarantees to
the banks amounted is $855,859,000 which
will be released upon the completion of the
transfer procedures with the property buyers
in respect of the legal title of the properties.
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652,372,000C(ZET ==
% :1,201,184,0007T) °
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

268

(CONTINUED)

(b)

(@)

Guarantees (continued)

(i) (continued)
The directors do not consider the Group
will sustain a loss under these guarantees as
the bank has the rights to sell the property
and recovers the outstanding loan balance
from the sale proceeds if the property
buyers have default payment. The Group
has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of these guarantees as its fair value
is considered to be insignificant.

33 EAERIAEEE)

(b) ER(E)

(if)

(&)
EERR/AEEBTE
RELERMRIEBX -
ABRITAEELEZ L
WE YAERFEEARE
ORI U LR Surk-= &
R EREE 2 B ER
e ARHEQTEL I
mE AL AKEIL R
Th 15 L ¥E 1R B RAE AR
FEHA -

3 FEREALIRE

Transactions with related parties (continuing @ HBEEAITZXZ(EFELY
operation) x=71)
2023 2022
—ECZ=H =
(Restated)
(BE&E)
$’000 $'000
F Fr
Sales of goods: HEEY:
Sales of finished goods to R RENGCIE - R
related companies LK 11 58
Others: Hity
Consultancy fee charged by XNERE TS
an associated company NG| 690 726
Rental charged by XN ® T E
a related company NG| 2,880 2,880
Purchase of machinery from MEE AFIEE
an associate 23 5,943 10,220
Training fee charged by an associate ¥ 15 3)I| & T Hif &
NGT 66 93
Repair and maintenance charged by Zf#ERIREE
an associate Sl A—a/NE] 7,376 5,306
Rental income from ] 4 388 2~ &) WO ER
a related company e WA 206 206
Management fee income from a ] 88 32 2 A) U ER
related company EREWA 640 640
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)
3 FEMEBEALXRZ(E)

34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Balances with related parties (b) EHBEALZHEER
2023 2022
—_=E_-= =S
$000 $'000
T T7T
Amount due to an associate e B = A RIBRFK
(note 10) (fr7E10) 3,895 1,532
Amounts due to related companies & 1< 8 i& A 7]
AR K 3,848 3,664
Amount due from Dongguan Jiale JEW TR % 2
(note (i)) AR SR (KT % (i) - 2,114
Amount due from other related JE UL E M i A )
companies R 2,628 37,838
Amounts due from related JE Uk 8 3 A )
companies AR X 2,628 39,952
The amounts due from/to an associate and JE UL FE 1 B 2 N B K B

related companies are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Note:

(M)

Represents the amount due from Dongguan Jiale, a
new entity established as a result of the Corporate
Division. The amount was paid by Jiaxuntong to
Dongguan Jiale prior to the Corporate Division to
support its ordinary business operations.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
amount due from Dongguan Jiale of approximately
RMB276,278,000 (equivalent to $331,533,000)
was settled by debt assumption as part of the
consideration in pursuant to the acquisition
agreement of Jiaxuntong, and the amount was
debited to the merger reserve as set out in note
21(o)(ii).
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

270

3 FEBEATXRZ(E)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Key management personnel remuneration o TEEEEBEMNS
Remuneration for key management personnel REBZTEEBRASHM
of the Group, including amounts paid to the BRERXNTARBERZ KA
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 28(b) R B 5E28(b) K BE - T A T &
and certain of the highest paid employees as = R 8 2 Fr BB R B 5
disclosed in note 28(c), is as follows: 28(c) W FE - YW :

2023 2022

—E=-= ===

$'000 $'000

F Fr

Short-term employee benefits REEERAN 25,704 28,436
Post-employment benefits B BBk 2 A 114 148
Share-based payment VA B 19 52 A<F 3 B - 970
25,818 29,554
Total remuneration is included in “employee HEeRREEMEERN ]

benefit expenses” (see note 28(a)). (R 5E28() °

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to d) BEREXZFERzLHHAL

connected transactions ZERM

Except for the rental charged by a related
company and the management fee income from
a related company as disclosed in note 34(a) that
constitute connected transactions, none of the
related party transaction mentioned above falls
under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ K B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35 AREEZHBMRRE
POSITION
2023 2022
—E-=5F =
Note $000 $'000
Bt 5E Fr Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RWERR 2
7w 723,600 710,653
Other financial assets HMereEE 6,841 13,443
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 730,441 724,096
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary & U [ff /& A &
AR X 100,000 103,915
Prepayments, deposits and BRAR - RE R
other receivables H th & W AR 3k 240 1,048
Current tax recoverable 2 B AT U [ # IR - 77
Cash and cash equivalents Be M
ReEED 3,480 4,297
103,720 109,337
Total assets EEHE 834,161 833,433
EQUITY P =
Capital and reserves ARAEERFEA
attributable to equity P4 IR A K&
shareholders of the &
Company
Share capital P& 7R 19 202,146 202,131
Other reserves H Ath & % 21 496,812 501,767
Retained earnings ol 21 47,094 90,043
Total equity EmAE 746,052 793,941
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)
35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

272

POSITION (CONTINUED)

DNAREEZ M BRI R (E)

2023 2022
—Eg=-= g
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 T T+
LIABILITIES 8&
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service REIRTS & %
payments 13 553
Current liabilities nEBAE
Accruals and other payables  JE&H & A & Eth
J& 1 BR 3K 28,066 38,939
Current tax payable 7 B E S A 18 30 -
Bank borrowings  ®fEE 60,000 -
88,096 38,939
Total liabilities EEHE 88,109 39,492
Total equity and liabilities BakBEAE 834,161 833,433
Net current assets REBEEFE 15,624 70,398
Total assets less EERERRE
current liabilities = 746,065 794,494

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 28 June 2023.

Ho Cheuk Fai
1] 12 8
Director

EFE

R-ZE-_=F A+ \HHESE

SHLE R IR AT -

Chan Ming Mui, Silvia
R & ok

Director

EBEF
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx BN - LABITTHIR)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 36 HERERZLEH AL
At 31 March 2023, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.) RZEBE_=F=A=Z+—H =%
Limited, which beneficially owns 40.45% of the RATMF (BV.1) Limited + B = #
Company’s equity interests, to be the immediate and BRRTRI40.45% Rt F & - AR
ultimate controlling party of the Company. Mr. Ho NAIZBENMREEG AL - /]
Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming IR A - B IR R E AL
are the beneficial owners of TMF (B.V.1.) Limited. TMF £ RTMF (BV.L) Limited 2 & % %
(B.V.1.) Limited is incorporated in the British Virgin B A TMF (B.V.l.) Limited R B
Islands and does not produce financial statements BRUBESNFRARNFHMG
available for public use. Wk o
POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 37 EEMEMARBE-_ZE_=F=
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT A=+ —-BLFEERZBHT -
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 ZARBREBURERZZE
MARCH 2023
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, BEEAMBHRRERER  FA
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or SEHMAGRBTZERBE_Z
amended standards, which are not yet effective for T=HF=A=t—BHIEFEEKRE
the year ended 31 March 2023 and which have not MZAEFT R LR - EEV KRS
been adopted in these financial statements. These HRAE175  [RigE R K
developments include the following which may be RAFEHRRATRR - T SEP
relevant to the Group. AR AREEAR -
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
LA B B 3k
Z1&FmnZ
EETEAIR A K
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 April 2023
ERUBMEEFENR  [Rig& 4] —ET_=FMA—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: 1 April 2023

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
EBSERNFEIRUSIIRN) [HEHRX X ZE BEFEATHNF —FT_=FNA—H
Tt E ]

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and 1 April 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:
Disclosure of accounting policies

BAGRENFIRBIRN) [HHFHL X ZINBAVHHREEYN —FT-_=FWA—H
BB MERFPN - [(FEANMAL - 257 BR K5
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B 75 ¥ R MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx ZA#BASN  LAEITTHIR)

37

274

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 37
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT

NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

MARCH 2023 (CONTINUED)

EEMEHARBE-F-=F=
A=+—BLEFEER BT - #H
FARZREBAURBR 2 E (&

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B Hi =

ekt 3i) -l
AR AN

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting 1 April 2023

estimates and errors: Definition of accounting estimates

BRGERESRERTAN)  [BaHE - Bit G ZHREZR g5 —FT_=FMHA—H

18 5t 2 7 % |

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets 1 April 2023

and liabilities arising from a single transaction

BARGERB12RERRN) (AN BE-—XSZH5HEERE —FT_=FMNA—H

/& 16 [ < A X 7 7R |

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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The results of the Group for the last five financial years
ended 31 March 2023 and the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 are as

follows:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Five-year Financial Summary

IFEMBERE

RESEE T CSEofiod AL
BEMREELEM KRB NE
Ceigr g npogo-

“A=t—BZEBEERABEWT:

% % "a

Year ended 31 March

HEZR=T-ALFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“ECZ® T ZEZ-F ZEZFF ZZ-NF
(Restated)
(B&7)
$/000 $'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
r T T T I
Revenue WA 3,081,607 3,075,013 3,472,798 2,902,208 2,651,169
Operating profit KRR 210,785 303,296 743,992 380,780 315,837
Finance income I3 ON 1,504 1,623 11,379 4,462 2,743
Finance costs BB A (35,655) (9,876) (7,975) (24,858) (19,187)
Share of profits of associates BEBENA N R 15,157 1,164 1,487 1,354 693
Profit before taxation BB AER 191,791 296,207 748,883 361,738 300,086
Income tax e (9,473) (41,934) (303,555) (111,472) (78,700)
Profit for the year from REKE
continuing operations BEXBFRET 182,318 254,273 445,328 250,266 221,386
Profit for the year from REELIE
discontinued operations ﬁ*@*%ﬁz&%ﬂ 203,855 294,829 - - -
Profit for the year FERA 386,173 549,102 445,328 250,266 221,386
Attributable to: iy
Equity shareholders of the Company ~ ARFEZEFHAA 386,173 549,102 445,328 250,266 221,386
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 £ 3§ 275



Five-year Financial Summary

EFHBERE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES mEEERAE
At 31 March
=B=t+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-ZE -E--fF —E-—F -“E-TF —T-NF

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Fr T T T T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,152,470 1,309,610 1,007,922 954,602 867,636
Current assets MEEE 1,398,309 3,756,456 3,422,966 2,739,848 1,596,282
Total assets BELE 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888 3,694,450 2,463,918
EQUITY B
Share capital R 202,146 202,131 201,244 199,384 199,183
Reserves #E 734,616 1,494,421 1495462 1,176,431 967,677
Totalequity — #&=#@E 936,762 1,696,552 1,696,706 1,375,815 1,166,860
LIABILITIES 2
Non-current liabilities ENBAE 236,317 490,888 632,330 838,550 564,815
Current liabilities mEERE 1,377,700 2,878,626 2,101,852 1,480,085 732,243
Total liabilities BEAE 1,614,017 3,369,514 2,734,182 2,318,635 1,297,058
Total equity and liabilities EmkaEgE 2,550,779 5,066,066 4,430,888 3,694,450 2,463,918
Note: The disposal of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March W& : BE-F-_=—F=-A=+—HIEFED

2023 constituted discontinued operations. In accordance with
HKFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sales and Discontinued
Operations, the Group has re-presented the comparative
information in 2022 in this regard. However, it is not
practicable to restate the financial information for the earlier
years for comparison purposes.
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